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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  
   

Some of the statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under “Business,” “Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and elsewhere constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of 
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding Actuate’s expectations, beliefs 
or strategies regarding the future. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual 
results, levels of activity, performance, or achievement to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such factors include, among other things, those listed under “Risk 
Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking 
statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance, or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any 
other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of such statements. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-
looking statements contained in this Report on Form 10-K after the date hereof or to conform such statements to actual results. Readers are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements and should carefully review the “Risk Factors” and “Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section herein and the risk factors described in other documents 
Actuate files from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including current reports on Form 8-K and quarterly reports on 
Form 10-Q filed by Actuate during 2009.  
   

PART I  
   

   
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

Actuate Corporation (“we” , “Actuate”  or the “Company” ) was incorporated in November 1993 in the State of California and 
reincorporated in the State of Delaware in July 1998. Actuate provides software and services to develop and deploy Rich Information 
Applications. These Rich Information Applications deliver rich, interactive content that improves customer satisfaction/loyalty and corporate 
performance. Applications built on Actuate’s open source-based platform provide all stakeholders inside and outside the firewall, including 
employees, customers, partners and citizens, with content that they can easily understand, access and manipulate to maximize revenue, cut costs, 
improve customer satisfaction, streamline operations, create competitive advantage and make better decisions. Actuate’s goal is to ensure that all 
end users can seamlessly incorporate decision-making information in their day-to-day activities, opening up completely new avenues for 
improving corporate performance.  
   

Actuate’s telephone number is 650-645-3000. Actuate maintains Web sites at www.actuate.com, www.birt-exchange.org and www.birt-
exchange.com . The information posted on our Web sites is not incorporated into this Annual Report.  
   
Actuate Executive Officers  
   

Actuate’s executive officers as of February 4, 2010 are as follows:  
   

   
1  

Name    Offices 

Nicolas C. Nierenberg     Chairman of the Board and Chief Architect  
Peter I. Cittadini     Director, President and Chief Executive Officer  
Daniel A. Gaudreau  

   

Senior Vice President, Operations and  
Chief Financial Officer  

Mark A. Coggins     Senior Vice President, Engineering  
N. Nobby Akiha     Senior Vice President, Marketing  
Thomas E. McKeever  

   

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and,  
Corporate Development and Secretary  

Bernard M. Skomra     Senior Vice President, Global Operations  
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Nicolas C. Nierenberg, 53, has been Chairman of the Board of Directors since he co-founded Actuate in November 1993 and became our 
Chief Architect in August 2000. Mr. Nierenberg was also Chief Executive Officer of Actuate from November 1993 until August 2000 and 
President from November 1993 until October 1998. Prior to founding Actuate, from April 1993 to November 1993, Mr. Nierenberg worked as a 
consultant for Accel Partners, a venture capital firm, evaluating investment opportunities in the enterprise software market. Mr. Nierenberg co-
founded Unify Corporation, which develops and markets relational database development tools. Mr. Nierenberg held a number of positions at 
Unify including, Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer, President, Vice President, Engineering and Chief Technical 
Officer. Mr. Nierenberg is currently a director for privately held companies AwarePoint Corporation, Apatana, Inc., and Photoleap, Inc.  
   

Peter I. Cittadini, 54, has been Chief Executive Officer of Actuate since August 2000 and has been the President of Actuate since October 
1998. Mr. Cittadini was also Actuate’s Chief Operating Officer from October 1998 until August 2000 and served as Actuate’s Executive Vice 
President from January 1995 to October 1998. From 1992 to 1995, Mr. Cittadini held a number of positions at Interleaf, Inc., an enterprise 
software publishing company, including Senior Vice President of Worldwide Operations responsible for worldwide sales, marketing, customer 
support and services. From 1985 to 1991, Mr. Cittadini held a number of positions at Oracle Corporation, including Vice President, Northeast 
Division.  
   

Daniel A. Gaudreau, 62, has been Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial Officer since January 1999 and served as Vice 
President, Finance and Administration and Chief Financial Officer from February 1997 to January 1999. From January 1994 to February 1997, 
Mr. Gaudreau served as Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Plantronics, Inc., a publicly traded telephone headset 
manufacturing company, where he was responsible for all financial and administrative operations. From January 1990 to January 1994, 
Mr. Gaudreau was Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer at Ready Systems, an operating systems software company. Prior to that, 
Mr. Gaudreau spent two years at Apple Computer as the Controller of Fremont Manufacturing Operations, prior to which he spent 18 years at 
General Electric where he held various financial management positions.  
   

Mark A. Coggins, 52, has been Senior Vice President, Engineering since October 2003. From May 2001 to April 2003, Mr. Coggins was 
Vice President, Engineering at Verisign, a publicly traded security software company. From January 1999 to April 2001, Mr. Coggins was Vice 
President, Products at ShortCycles, a CRM software company. Prior to that, Mr. Coggins held positions in engineering and marketing 
management at Netscape Communications, Interactive Development Environments and Hewlett Packard.  
   

N. Nobby Akiha, 52, has been Senior Vice President, Marketing since June 2006 and served as Vice President of Marketing from August 
2000. From August 1994 to July 2000, Mr. Akiha was Vice President, Marketing and Business Development at Inference Corporation. From 
October 1993 to July 1994, Mr. Akiha was a Senior Consultant at Regis McKenna, Inc. Prior to that, Mr. Akiha was Director of Marketing 
Communications at Interactive Development Environments and a Group Product Manager at Oracle Corporation.  
   

Thomas E. McKeever, 42, has been Senior Vice President, General Counsel, Corporate Development and Secretary since January 2009 and 
served as General Counsel, Vice President Corporate Development and Secretary since May 2006. Mr. McKeever was formerly with Sun 
Microsystems, Inc., was an associate in several law firms in the San Francisco Bay Area and served as a law clerk to the Honorable Lawrence T. 
Lydick of the United States District Court for the Central District of California (Orange County).  
   

Bernard Skomra, 48, has been Senior Vice President, Global Operations since January 2010 and served as Vice President and General 
Manager, Customer Service Group from December 2007 to December 2009. From April 2006 to November 2007, Mr. Skomra was the Senior 
Vice President of World Wide Field Operations at BigFix, Inc. Prior to BigFix, Inc., Mr. Skomra was the Chief Executive Officer, President and 
Founder of Apacheta Corporation from 2002 to 2006, and was the Vice President of North American Field Operations at Portal Software from 
April 1997 to February 2001. Prior to 1997, Mr. Skomra held sales and general management positions at Oracle, IBM and General Electric.  
   

2  
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Industry Background  
   

The emergence and acceptance of, as well as the dependence on, the Internet have fundamentally changed the way that consumers and 
businesses communicate, obtain information, purchase goods and transact business. Through the frequent and widespread usage of the Internet 
and more recently the emergence of Rich Internet Applications, users have developed a heightened set of expectations for accessing relevant, 
timely and dynamic information to increase their effectiveness at work.  
   

In parallel to higher end-user expectations for business applications, organizations have been striving to improve corporate performance. A 
common strategy for improving performance has been to better leverage the information captured by applications that have been implemented to 
manage business process such as sales, marketing, service, finance, manufacturing, distribution and human resources. Organizations have been 
seeking to use the captured data to make informed decisions regarding both day-to-day operations and high-level strategies. These efforts have 
been largely unsuccessful due to the hard-to-use nature of traditional Business Intelligence tools used to access and analyze this data. Because 
these tools demand that users invest time and effort in learning new interfaces and acquiring new skills, user adoption has been low, and as a 
consequence, use of decision-making information throughout the organization has been limited.  
   

In order to achieve 100% user adoption of decision-making information, and reap the resulting benefits in corporate performance, 
organizations are turning to developing and deploying Rich Information Applications. These applications eliminate the traditional obstacles to 
user adoption by providing decision-making information through intuitive, Web portal-like interfaces within a context of business processes that 
satisfy new user expectations for information accessibility and relevance. Rich Information Applications can also extend the usage of 
information outside the firewall to customers and partners.  
   

Rich Information Applications built using Actuate have the added advantage of being based on BIRT, an Eclipse open source project 
founded by and co-led by Actuate in 2004. BIRT has been downloaded more than 6.5 million times and has a global developer following in the 
hundreds of thousands. Familiarity with BIRT within Actuate’s target market is an added advantage to ensure that developer resources are 
plentiful in deploying Rich Information Applications and that BIRT is the chosen as a customizable, community driven foundation to keep up 
with the evolving user experience demanded by such applications.  
   
The Actuate Solution  
   

Actuate offers a portfolio of products to develop and deploy Rich Information Applications that deliver rich interactive content. The 
Actuate product line assures that 100% of users inside and outside the firewall can gain value from all enterprise information assets. A variety of 
intuitive, personalized and easy to use Rich Information Applications present data integrated from all relevant sources. Flexible deployment 
options can support all projects, no matter how small or large.  
   

Business Intelligence and Reporting:     Actuate provides a complete suite of Business Intelligence and Reporting products that provide 
interactive web reports, brochure-quality reporting, business analytics, and spreadsheet reporting. These capabilities are delivered within an 
easy-to-use integrated Rich Information Application experience to maximize user adoption.  
   

Our Actuate Business Intelligence and Reporting product line provides a platform upon which Global 9000 organizations (companies with 
annual revenues greater than $1 billion) and packaged application software vendors develop and deploy mission-critical Rich Information 
Applications that deliver rich interactive content. Such applications retrieve business information from corporate databases and deliver it as 
interactive Web pages, Excel spreadsheets, and analytic cubes to customers, partners and employees around the globe. Our products and services 
are used by our customers to develop and deploy Rich Information Applications across a range of business functions including financial 
management, sales management, account management, and customer self-service. Actuate is a comprehensive platform that can be seamlessly 
integrated into any enterprise IT infrastructure and consists of a highly scalable and reliable server and a robust development environment for  
   

3  
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building Rich Information Applications of any scale. Actuate’s powerful development and deployment architecture allows developers to create 
content from virtually any data source and present it in virtually any format required by users.  
   

Performance Management:     The Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard products engage the entire organization in improving 
performance from Metrics Management, which provides management visibility into key measures of performance, to Root Cause Analysis, 
which enables user to make informed decisions to take action to address the problem at its root cause.  
   

Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard (formerly Actuate Performancesoft Views) has been designed specifically to address real-life 
Performance Management situations. With a simple-to-use web interface, users across the enterprise can access relevant Performance 
Management information to help them make the right decisions. Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard greatly simplifies the dissemination and 
analysis of Performance Management information by offering users interactive, intuitive reports that drill directly from any measure in their 
scorecard to the operational detail that explains that measure’s status. In 2008, Actuate extended the BIRT Performance Scorecard application as 
a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) offering called OnPerformance.  
   

The combination of Actuate’s Performance Management applications and its Rich Information Application-ready platform provides 
capabilities for distributing accountability throughout the enterprise. Our customers are now able to quickly build and deploy rich, intuitive and 
easy to use Performance Management applications. These applications offer managers at all levels the ability to drill-through from executive 
level information to real-time operational details, resulting in heightened management effectiveness and breakthrough corporate performance 
throughout the enterprise.  
   

Actuate BIRT and BIRT Spreadsheet:     Actuate BIRT is based on the Eclipse Open Source Business Intelligence Reporting and Tools 
(“BIRT”) project, founded and co-led by Actuate. Actuate BIRT provides indemnification, supports Actuate 10 and can leverage all the Actuate 
deployment options—embedded in applications or deployed in workgroups or enterprise-wide. Actuate BIRT Spreadsheet products are Excel-
based and deliver Excel-like reporting, formatting and calculation functionality within Java applications. Actuate BIRT Spreadsheet products can 
also leverage all the Actuate deployment options—embedded in applications or deployed in workgroups or enterprise-wide.  
   
Strategy  
   

Our goal is to be the leader in delivering Rich Information Applications by increasing the richness, interactivity and effectiveness of 
enterprise information, for everyone, everywhere. Actuate delivers the next generation Rich Information Application-ready platform for both 
customer and employee-facing applications. The Actuate platform boasts unmatched scalability, high-performance, reliability and security. Its 
proven Rich Information Application capabilities and highly collaborative development architecture are backed by the world’s largest open 
source business application developer community, grounded in BIRT, the Eclipse Foundation’s only top level Business Intelligence and 
reporting project. Key elements of our strategy include:  
   

Expand Market Leadership Position through Strategic Relationships.     We believe that we have established a leading position in the 
market for Rich Information Applications. To accelerate the adoption of the Actuate portfolio of products, we have established strategic 
relationships with leading software application vendors, systems integrators, consulting firms, specialized Performance Management consultants 
and development partners. We intend to further develop our existing strategic relationships and enter into new partnerships to expand our market 
presence and leadership.  
   

Extend Technology Leadership.     Since inception, we have focused our research and development efforts on developing core 
technologies that address the requirements of developing and deploying Rich Information Applications in the areas of Business Intelligence and 
Performance Management. Our products integrate a  
   

4  
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number of advanced technologies, including a patented method of providing page level security in a report, LDAP integration, advanced viewing 
technology incorporating Java, PDF, DHTML, Unicode, XML, AJAX, Flash and Web services, a patented method of storing report objects, a 
multi-tier architecture, Web access and delivery technology, EII data access technology, patent-pending spreadsheet technology and intuitive 
Performance Management interfaces such as Briefing Books. In addition, we have in the past rapidly incorporated new technology into our 
product offerings. We believe that we provide a leading Rich Information Application-ready platform technology and we intend to extend this 
leadership position by continuing to devote significant resources to research and development efforts, and by acquiring and integrating 
complementary technologies when and if appropriate.  
   

Broaden Distribution Channels.     To date, our products have been sold worldwide by our direct sales force and through our software 
application vendors, original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), resellers, and systems integrators. In addition, we intend to continue to leverage 
and grow our existing network of OEMs, systems integrators, and resellers and expand our indirect distribution channel worldwide.  
   

Focus on Key Application Areas.     Our technology is uniquely suited to meet customer requirements for Rich Information Applications 
for specific business functions such as financial management, customer self-service, sales management, account management, workforce 
management and Performance Management. We intend to continue to focus on these areas within our sales and marketing functions as well as 
provide more complete customer solutions through targeted partnering and technology development.  
   

Leverage Professional Services Capabilities.     We have established successful relationships with our customers by serving as an advisor 
in developing and deploying Rich Information Applications. We are extending our direct Professional Services capabilities to provide an 
expanded set of services to address areas such as application development strategy, project management, security integration and application 
design. In addition, we offer similar high-quality Professional Services capabilities through third-party alliances and are currently focused on the 
development of relationships with global and national systems integrators. By offering our clients a full range of Professional Services on a 
global basis, we believe that we can broaden market awareness about the advantages of our platform and create opportunities to sell new or 
additional products to clients.  
   

International Presence.     Outside North America, we have established subsidiaries in a number of countries and have reseller 
relationships throughout Europe, Middle East and Asia/Pacific region. We have localized versions of our products in French, German, Spanish, 
and Japanese and we also support Chinese, Korean, and right-to-left reporting. We intend to grow our international operations by expanding our 
indirect distribution channels worldwide and by continuing the localization of our products in selected markets. International sales accounted for 
23%, 28%, and 27% of our total revenues in 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively.  
   

Leverage Open Source.     We are building a growing community of developers that have adopted the open source Eclipse BIRT project. 
We offer a number of value added commercial products and services that build on the open source BIRT project offering to increase the 
interactivity, security, scalability and reliability of Rich Information Applications and we intend to offer additional commercial products and 
services in the future.  
   
Products and Technology  
   

Actuate 10 is a unified software platform for developing and deploying Rich Information Applications that deliver rich interactive content. 
These applications can provide decision-making information with the simplicity, consistency, and relevance necessary for adoption by 100% of 
users, both inside and outside the firewall.  
   

The Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard suite of products is a set of Rich Information Applications that helps high-performing 
organizations drive strategy at all levels, improve decision making, and ensure better operational performance and execution.  
   

5  
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The Actuate product line assures that 100% of users, customers, partners and employees can get the information they need to drive prompt, 
effective action. Whether our customers wish to make better decisions, implement stronger customer relationships or manage to performance 
goals, Actuate provides a variety of intuitive, personalized and easy-to-use formats that present data integrated from all relevant sources. Our 
flexible deployment options and world class scalability support various types of projects, no matter how small or large.  
   

Actuate 10 extends Eclipse BIRT to deliver rich, highly interactive enterprise and customer-facing information applications. Organizations 
that want to present structured data as Rich Information Applications using BIRT as a foundation can now use the Actuate 10 value added 
product line to:  
   

   

  
•   Build any information rich interactive content using BIRT: including Flash-based content, dashboards and dynamic statements for any 

interface.  

   
  •   Deploy BIRT to satisfy any scope: leveraging Actuate’s industry leading performance, scale, reliability and security capabilities.  

   
The release of Actuate 10 built on the Company’s strategy to ensure the low cost, efficient commercial deployment of Rich Information 

Applications by:  
   

  •   Develop BIRT content efficiently: using a developer-centric design environment and open APIs to satisfy any content requirement.  

   

  
•   Lowering costs associated with application development, maintenance and deployment by tapping into the skill sets and shared 

resources of a large and growing community of Eclipse developers.  

   

  
•   Increasing developer productivity, by promoting interoperability and standards-based development to allow BIRT to fit seamlessly and 

effortlessly within any environment.  

   
In the case of direct sales to end user customers, our products have been typically priced on a per CPU basis or a per named user basis 

pricing. Our development products are typically priced on a per named user basis. Indirect sales are usually either fixed price, unlimited usage 
arrangements, or arrangements where royalties are paid based on sell through to end-users.  
   

   
6  

  
•   Meeting continuously evolving user requirements by encouraging participation across the user base from developers to everyday 

consumers to refine their own information presentation through a variety of interactive and engaging interfaces.  

Actuate Products    Product Description 

Actuate BIRT iServer Enterprise  
   

Scalable information server for generating, managing, and securely delivering reporting and 
analytic content that is adopted by 100% of an organization’s users. 

Actuate BIRT iServer Express  

   

High-end report server in a single-server, single-project configuration that provides BIRT and 
BIRT Spreadsheet reports generation and delivery to multiple users—securely and on a 
schedule—and paves the path for an easy and secure upgrade to the iServer Enterprise. 

Actuate BIRT for iServer and iServer Express 

   

Enables professional application developers and report developers to build dynamic, 
interactive enterprise reports ready for deployment to end users and create composite report 
design templates for Actuate BIRT Studio. 

Actuate BIRT Interactive Viewer for iServer 
and iServer Express  

   

AJAX-powered interactivity that enables every type of user to think beyond the current 
structure of the report and personalize it into his or her own perspective. Users have the 
flexibility to modify report views, reducing the number of reports that need to be created. 

Actuate Query for iServer     Web-based query tool for end-users of all levels of computing sophistication. 
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Actuate Products    Product Description 

Actuate Analytics for iServer  
   

Server option that provides Web-based Online Analytical Processing (OLAP) capabilities to 
power users, business analysts, and management. 

Actuate BIRT Information Integration for 
iServer and iServer Express     

Server option licenses Information Objects deployed on the server to combine data from two 
or more disparate data sources. 

Actuate e.Report for iServer  
   

Server option for generating enterprise reports for employees, customers, and business 
partners in browser-based Web formats. 

Actuate BIRT Spreadsheet for iSrever and 
iServer Express     

Server option for generating, managing, and distributing critical business information over the 
Internet in easy-to-use and intuitive desktop spreadsheets. 

Actuate BIRT SmartSheet Security for 
iServer and iServer Express  

   

BIRT SmartSheets cache both data and design in the iServer. When requested, SmartSheets 
constructs a personalized workbook for each user by dynamically assembling the workbook as 
requested, which allows SmartSheets to combine both cached and real-time data, at that 
moment. 

Actuate e.Analysis for iServer  
   

Server option that delivers to users browser-based, interactive analysis of report data without 
requiring any configuration or warehousing of application data. 

Actuate BIRT and e.Reports Page Level 
Security for iServer and iServer Express     

This server option allows users to view reports using page-level security. 

Actuate Analytics Cube Designer  

   

Enables IT to control access to the data and define the structure of each cube delivered by the 
Actuate iServer. Additionally, enables IT to blend Analytics seamlessly into existing 
Enterprise Reporting applications and provide a branded, personalized end-user experience 
that requires almost no training. 

Actuate e.Report Designer Professional  
   

Provides a comprehensive, object-oriented environment for professional developers to create 
tightly integrated, highly flexible enterprise reports for any Web-enabled application. 

Actuate e.Report Designer  
   

Wizard-driven development tool that enables Web developers to rapidly publish database 
information to the Web in the form of embedded, actionable reports. 

Actuate BIRT Spreadsheet Designer  
   

Development environment for creating flexible and customizable Excel-based spreadsheet 
reports. 

Actuate BIRT Information Designer  

   

Development environment that enables professional developers to create controlled views of 
enterprise data for end-user querying. Additionally, enables the creation of Information 
Objects that pull and integrate real-time data from any number of heterogeneous data sources. 

Actuate BIRT Designer  

   

A plug-in for the Open Source Eclipse IDE that offers an HTML page-oriented design 
metaphor (similar HTML editors) to build reports that are intuitive to create and integrate 
easily into web applications. 

Actuate BIRT Designer Professional  

   

A Rich Client Platform (RCP) version of Actuate BIRT Designer that offers a simplified 
interface without a need for the additional perspectives available in the standard Eclipse 
platform. 

Actuate BIRT Studio for iServer Express  

   

A web-based ad-hoc report authoring tool for workgroup deployments. BIRT Studio for 
iServer Express is ideal for mid-sized Business Intelligence projects who seek the benefits of 
collaborative reporting in a single server environment. 
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The Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard suite of products helps high-performing organizations drive strategy at all levels, improve 

decision making, and ensure better operational performance and execution. In 2008, Actuate extended the BIRT Performance Scorecard 
application as a Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) offering called OnPerformance.  
   

The following table sets forth the products that comprise the Actuate Performancesoft Suite.  
   

   
Eclipse Business Intelligence and Reporting Tools Project  
   

Actuate Products    Product Description 

Actuate BIRT Studio for iServer  

   

An enterprise ad-hoc web reporting environment. BIRT Studio for iServer harnesses the 
power of the Actuate iServer for access to Information Object metadata, report storage and 
scheduling, and scalability. BIRT Studio for iServer is an integral member of the collaborative 
reporting architecture, allowing power users to participate in report definition and evolution 
alongside IT, using the Actuate BIRT Designers, and end-users with Interactive Viewing. 

Actuate BIRT Spreadsheet Engine  
   

Provides an API-driven component that Java developers use to embed Excel reporting 
functionality into projects deployed from J2EE application and Web servers. 

Actuate BIRT Engine  

   

100% pure Java tool for extracting, formatting, and delivering data from a variety of data 
sources including Java objects inside applications, databases, Enterprise JavaBeans, and text 
files. 

Formula One Active X component  
   

Provides an API-driven, Excel-compatible spreadsheet component for building Windows 
applications in visual development environments such as Visual Basic and Visual C++. 

Actuate Products    Product Description 

Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard  
   

A Performance Management application made up of three modules: Briefing Books, 
Performance Views and Performance Strategy Maps. 

Actuate OnPerformance  

   

Actuate OnPerformance is cost effective Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) solution that securely 
provides relevant Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) to managers who can positively impact 
performance. The easy-to-use, web-based solution provides a flexible system to address 
specific methodologies such as Balanced Scorecard, Malcolm Baldrige, as well as operational 
Performance Management initiatives. At the same time, OnPerformance helps to control the 
costs typically associated with traditional Corporate Performance Management deployments. 

In August 2004, Actuate joined the Eclipse Foundation, a community committed to the implementation of a universal platform for tools 
integration, as strategic developer and board member. Actuate proposed the BIRT project to the Eclipse open-source community for review at 
the same time. The Eclipse Foundation approved the project in September 2004. Actuate is leading the development of BIRT, which culminated 
in the industry’s first open Business Intelligence and Reporting platform in June 2005. The second version of BIRT was released in June 2006 
followed by the third version in June 2007, the fourth version of BIRT in June of 2008 and the fifth version of BIRT in June 2009. The next 
major version of BIRT from the Eclipse Foundation is planned for June of 2010.  
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Customers  
   

Our customers operate in a wide variety of industries, including financial services, government, health care, manufacturing, 
pharmaceuticals, telecommunications, high technology, utilities, automotive, education, entertainment, travel, retail and others. For additional 
financial information regarding our business segments see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations,” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto that are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.  
   
Sales  
   

We sell our software and services worldwide through two primary channels: (i) directly to corporate and government customers through 
our direct sales force and (ii) through indirect channel partners such as original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), systems integrators, and 
resellers.  
   

Direct Sales Organization.     Our direct sales force focuses most of its sales efforts on Global 9000 companies and public sector 
organizations. The direct sales process involves the generation of sales leads through Web-based marketing, direct mail, seminars and 
telemarketing. As part of the direct sales effort, our field sales force typically conducts demonstrations and presentations of our products to 
developers and managers at customer sites. Our telesales force conducts demonstrations via the Web and sells our products to new and existing 
customers over the phone. Actuate also has a group focused on qualifying prospective customers over the phone. We maintain sales offices in a 
number of locations throughout North America, Europe and Asia/Pacific.  
   

OEM Sales Organization.     A separate sales force addresses the OEM market. Our OEMs integrate our products for distribution with their 
applications either directly or in hosted environments. The OEM’s end-user customer is licensed to use our products solely in conjunction with 
the OEM’s application.  
   

Systems Integrators.     We have a business development group that focuses on establishing and maintaining relationships with systems 
integrators. Systems integrators typically re-market our products to their customer base as part of a software application being built for a 
customer. Systems integrators are offered discounts on our products and sell a full use license of the product. Our systems integrators do not 
provide post-sales support.  
   

Resellers.     Resellers are typically given the non-exclusive right to market our software in a specific territory and are offered discounts on 
our products. Resellers typically provide customers with some post-sales support and services.  
   
Marketing  
   

Our marketing organization is focused on generating leads, building market awareness and promoting acceptance of our Company and our 
products, as well as on developing strategic marketing, technology and other relationships. We have a comprehensive marketing strategy with 
several key components: image, awareness and credibility building, direct marketing to both prospective and existing customers, a strong Web 
presence, comprehensive sales support materials as well as broad-scale marketing programs in conjunction with key partners. Our corporate 
marketing strategy includes online advertising, search engine optimization, public relations activities, trade shows and user group meetings. We 
also engage in programs to work closely with industry analysts and other influential third parties. Our direct marketing activities include 
extensive Web-based marketing campaigns, participation in selected trade shows and conferences and targeted ongoing email efforts to existing 
and prospective customers. We also offer seminars, both in-person and over the Web, to educate prospective customers about our Rich 
Information Applications built with our industry leading platform. Finally, we have invested in building a partner and channel marketing 
function to conduct cooperative marketing programs with our partners.  
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Professional Services  
   

Our Professional Services organization provides high value consulting services to customers developing and deploying Rich Information 
Applications with our products. These services include application development strategy, project management, security integration and 
application design. We also actively recruit and train third party consulting firms to provide consulting services for our products. Due to the 
critical nature of Rich Information Applications built with our industry leading platform, we believe that our Professional Services group and 
relationships with our consulting partners play a key role in facilitating initial license sales and enabling customers to successfully develop and 
deploy Actuate-based applications. In addition, we offer, directly and through our network of certified training partners, classes and training 
programs for our products.  
   
Customer Service  
   

We believe that providing superior customer service is critical to successfully selling and marketing our products. Our maintenance and 
support contracts are typically for 12 months, and may be renewed annually. Maintenance fees are typically set at either a percentage of the total 
license fees paid by a customer or a percentage of the list price of the underlying products. Maintenance and support contracts entitle the 
customer to receive software patches, updates and enhancements, when and if available. Customers purchasing maintenance are able to access 
Actuate’s local support centers located in the United States, Canada, Singapore, Switzerland and the United Kingdom via email and telephone 
during normal business hours. We supplement our telephone support with Web-based support services, including access to cases, resolutions, 
online Web forums and a software patch download area. We also offer an extended maintenance plan that gives our customers access to 24x7 
support and additional support services. To improve access to our explanatory materials, we provide online documentation with all of our 
products.  
   
Research and Development  
   

Our research and development organization is divided into groups, typically consisting of product managers, development engineers, 
quality assurance engineers, technical writers and developer communications personnel. Our development process begins with requirement 
specification, followed by functional and technical design, and concludes with implementation. Requirements are based on the needs of 
customers and prospects, as well as competitive, technological and industry factors.  
   

We have development centers located in San Mateo, California, Overland Park, Kansas, Shanghai, China and Toronto, Canada. Research 
and development expenses were $20.3 million, $22.0 million, and $21.8 million in fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. We intend to 
continue to invest in research and development and related activities to maintain and enhance our product lines. We believe that our future 
success will depend on our ability to create products that directly address our customers’ needs, are of high quality, and leverage the latest 
technological innovations. These products must also support current and future releases of popular operating systems platforms, development 
languages, databases, Internet standards, and enterprise software applications. We intend to maintain and improve our current product line and to 
timely develop or acquire new products. Our ability to achieve future revenue growth will depend in large part on the market acceptance of our 
current and future products.  
   
Competition  
   

Our market is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving standards and new product releases by our 
competitors that are marketed to compete directly with our products. Our competition comes in four principal forms:  
   

   

  
•   Competition from current or future Business Intelligence software vendors such as IBM (acquired Cognos), Information Builders, 

MicroStrategy and SAP (Acquired Business Objects) which offer Business Intelligence, Reporting and Performance Management 
products;  
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•   Competition from the IT departments of current or potential customers that may develop scalable Business Intelligence, Performance 

Management and Rich Internet Application products internally, which may be cheaper and more customized than the Company’s 
products.  

   
Most of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do. 

These competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or devote 
greater resources to the development, promotion and sales of their products than we may. Also, most current and potential competitors have 
greater name recognition and the ability to leverage a significant installed customer base. These companies have released and can continue to 
release competing Rich Information Applications or significantly increase the functionality of their existing reporting software products. We 
expect additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the Rich Internet Applications market and new products and 
technologies are introduced.  
   
Intellectual Property Rights  
   

  
•   Competition from BIRT. The Company expects that BIRT, which is free, may in the short term cannibalize some smaller sales of its 

Business Intelligence and Rich Information Application products.  

We rely primarily on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions 
to protect our proprietary technology. For example, we license our software pursuant to shrink/click-wrap or signed license agreements that 
impose certain restrictions on licensees’ ability to utilize the software. In addition, we take precautions to avoid disclosure of our intellectual 
property. These precautions include requiring those persons with access to our proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements 
with us and by restricting access to our source code. We seek to protect our software, documentation, and other written materials under trade 
secret patent, copyright and trademark laws, which afford only limited protection. We also have a small number of issued and pending U.S. 
patents expiring at varying times ranging from 2015 to 2024. The expiration of any such patents would not have a material effect on our 
business.  
   
Employees  
   

As of December 31, 2009, we had 497 full-time employees, including 148 in sales and marketing, 148 in research and development, 101 in 
services and support, and 100 in general and administrative functions. None of our employees are represented by a collective bargaining 
agreement, nor have we experienced a work stoppage. We believe our employee relations are good. We also believe that our future success will 
depend in large part upon our continuing ability to attract and retain highly skilled managerial, sales, marketing, customer support and research 
and development personnel and, in particular, executive officers.  
   
Website Access to Actuate’s Reports  
   

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or 
furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge through our 
Web site at www.actuate.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. Information contained in our Web site is not part of this report.  
   
Financial Information about Segments and Geographic Areas  
   

We have one reporting segment (see note 1 to our consolidated financial statements). For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 
2007, refer to our consolidated financial statements for our revenues, profit and total assets and financial information about the geographic areas 
in which we are engaged in business.  
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS 

Investors should carefully consider the following risk factors and warnings before making an investment decision. The risks described 
below are not the only ones facing Actuate. Additional risks that we do not yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial may also impair 
our business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, operating results or financial condition could be materially 
harmed. In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment. Investors should also 
refer to the other information set forth in this Report on Form 10-K, including the financial statements and the notes thereto.  
   
THE COMPANY’S OPERATING RESULTS MAY BE VOLATILE AND  DIFFICULT TO PREDICT. IF IT FAILS TO MEET ITS 
ESTIMATES OF FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS OR IT FAILS T O MEET THE EXPECTATIONS OF PUBLIC MARKET 
ANALYSTS AND INVESTORS, THE MARKET PRICE OF ITS STO CK MAY DECREASE SIGNIFICANTLY.  
   

The susceptibility of the Company’s operating results to significant fluctuations makes any prediction, including the Company’s estimates 
of future operating results, difficult. In addition, the Company believes that period-to-period comparisons of its operating results are not 
necessarily meaningful and investors should not rely on them as indications of the Company’s future performance. The Company’s operating 
results have in the past varied, and may in the future vary significantly due to factors such as the following:  
   

   
  •   Demand for its products;  

   
  •   The size and timing of significant orders for its products;  

   
  •   A slowdown or a decrease in spending on information technology by its current and/or prospective customers;  

   
  •   Competition from products that are directly competitive with its products;  

   
  •   Lost revenue from introduction or market acceptance of open source products that are directly competitive with its products;  

   
  •   The management, performance and expansion of its international operations;  

   
  •   Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;  

   

  
•   Customers’  desire to consolidate their purchases of Rich Internet Applications, Performance Management and Business Intelligence 

software to one or a very small number of vendors from which a customer has already purchased software;  

   
  •   General domestic and international economic and political conditions, including war, terrorism, and the threat of war or terrorism;  

   
  •   Sales cycles and sales performance of its indirect channel partners;  

   
  •   Changes in the way it and its competitors price their respective products and services, including maintenance and transfer fees;  

   
  •   Continued successful relationships and the establishment of new relationships with OEMs;  

   
  •   Changes in its level of operating expenses and its ability to control costs;  

   
  •   The outcome or publicity surrounding any pending or threatened lawsuits;  

   
  •   Ability to make new products and product enhancements commercially available in a timely manner;  

   

  
•   Ability to effectively launch new or enhanced products, including the timely education of the Company’s sales, marketing and 

consulting personnel with respect to such new or enhanced products;  
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  •   Budgeting cycles of its customers;  

   
  •   Failure to successfully manage its acquisitions;  

   
  •   Defects in its products and other product quality problems;  

   
  •   Failure to successfully meet hiring needs including for qualified professional services employees and unexpected personnel changes;  

   
  •   Changes in the market segments and types of customers at which it focuses its sales and marketing efforts;  

   

  
•   Changes in perpetual licensing models to term- or subscription-based models with respect to which license revenue is not fully 

recognizable at the time of initial sale;  

   
  •   Changes in service models with respect to which consulting services are performed on a fixed-fee, rather than variable fee, basis; and  

   
Because the Company’s software products are typically shipped shortly after orders are received, total revenues in any quarter are 

substantially dependent on orders booked and shipped throughout that quarter. Furthermore, several factors may require the Company, in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, to defer recognition of license fee revenue for a significant period 
of time after entering into a license agreement, including:  
   

  •   Potential impairments of Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”), goodwill, intangibles and other investments.  

   

  
•   Whether the license agreement includes both software products that are then currently available and software products or other 

enhancements that are still under development;  

   
  •   Whether the license agreement relates entirely or partly to software products that are currently not available;  

   

  
•   Whether the license agreement requires the performance of services that may preclude revenue recognition until successful completion 

of such services;  

   
  •   Whether the license agreement includes acceptance criteria that may preclude revenue recognition prior to customer acceptance;  

   

  
•   Whether the license agreement includes undelivered elements (including limited terms or durations) that may preclude revenue 

recognition prior to customer acceptance; and  

   
In addition, the Company may in the future experience fluctuations in its gross and operating margins due to changes in the mix of its 

domestic and international revenues, changes in the mix of its direct sales and indirect sales and changes in the mix of license revenues and 
service revenues, as well as changes in the mix among the indirect channels through which its products are offered.  
   

A significant portion of the Company’s total revenues in any given quarter is derived from existing customers. The Company’s ability to 
achieve future revenue growth, if any, will be substantially dependent upon its ability to increase revenues from license fees and services from 
existing customers, to expand its customer base and to increase the average size of its orders. To the extent that such increases do not occur in a 
timely manner, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.  
   

The Company’s expense levels and any plans for expansion are based in significant part on its expectations of future revenues and are 
relatively fixed in the short-term. If revenues fall below expectations and the Company is unable to respond quickly by reducing its spending, the 
Company’s business, operating results, and financial condition could be harmed.  
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The Company often implements changes to its license pricing structure for all of its products including increased prices and modified 
licensing parameters. If these changes are not accepted by the Company’s current customers or future customers, its business, operating results, 
and financial condition could be harmed.  
   

Based upon all of the factors described above, the Company has a limited ability to forecast the amount and mix of future revenues and 
expenses and it is likely that at some time, the Company’s operating results will fall below its estimates or the expectations of public market 
analysts and investors. In the event that operating results are below its estimates or other expectations, the price of the Company’s common stock 
is likely to decline.  
   
THE COMPANY HAS MADE, AND MAY IN THE FUTURE MAKE, A CQUISITIONS, WHICH INVOLVE NUMEROUS RISKS.  
   

The Company’s business is highly competitive, and as such, its growth is dependent upon market growth and its ability to enhance its 
existing products, introduce new products on a timely basis and expand its distribution channels and professional services organization. One of 
the ways the Company has addressed and will continue to address these issues is through acquisitions of other companies. On February 1, 2010, 
the Company completed a tender offer for Xenos Group Inc. (“Xenos”).  
   

Generally, acquisitions (including that of Xenos) involve numerous risks, including the following:  
   

   
  •   The benefits of the acquisition not materializing as planned or not materializing within the time periods or to the extent anticipated;  

   

  
•   The Company’s ability to manage acquired entities’  people and processes that are headquartered in separate geographical locations 

from the Company’s headquarters;  

   
  •   The possibility that the Company will pay more than the value it derives from the acquisition;  

   
  •   Difficulties in integration of the operations, technologies, and products of the acquired companies;  

   
  •   The assumption of certain known and unknown liabilities of the acquired companies;  

   

  
•   Difficulties in retaining key relationships with customers, partners and suppliers of the acquired company—specifically in the case of 

Xenos the loss of recurring revenue from multiple subsidiaries of one large multi-national organization or the ability to sell and 
support certain third party software.  

   
  •   The risk of diverting management’s attention from normal daily operations of the business;  

   
  •   The Company’s ability to issue new releases of the acquired company’s products on existing or other platforms;  

   

  
•   Negative impact to the Company’s financial condition and results of operations and the potential write down of impaired goodwill and 

intangible assets resulting from combining the acquired company’s financial condition and results of operations with its financial 
statements;  

   
  •   Risks of entering markets in which the Company has no or limited direct prior experience; and  

   
Mergers and acquisitions of high-technology companies are inherently risky, and the Company cannot be certain that any acquisition will 

be successful and will not materially harm the Company’s business, operating results or financial condition.  
   
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY CLAIMS AGAINST THE COMPANY CA N BE COSTLY AND COULD RESULT IN THE LOSS OF 
SIGNIFICANT RIGHTS.  
   

  •   The potential loss of key employees of the acquired company.  

Third parties may claim that the Company’s current or future products infringe their intellectual property rights. The Company has been 
subject to infringement claims in the past and it expects that companies in the Business Intelligence, Rich Internet Applications or Performance 
Management software market will increasingly  
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be subject to infringement claims as the number of products and/or competitors in its industry segment grows and the functionality of products in 
different industry segments overlaps. Any such claims, with or without merit, could be time-consuming to defend, result in significant litigation 
and other expenses, divert management’s attention and resources, cause product shipment delays or require the Company to enter into royalty or 
licensing agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreements, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. A 
successful claim of product infringement against the Company and its failure or inability to license the infringed or similar technology could 
materially harm the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.  
   
THE COMPANY MAY NOT BE ABLE TO PROTECT ITS SOURCE C ODE FROM COPYING.  
   

Source code, the detailed program commands for our operating systems and other software programs, is critical to our business. Although 
we take significant measures to protect the secrecy of large portions of our source code, unauthorized disclosure or reverse engineering of a 
significant portion of our source code could make it easier for third parties to compete with our products by copying functionality, which could 
adversely affect our revenue and operating margins.  
   
IF THE COMPANY FAILS TO GROW REVENUE FROM INTERNATI ONAL OPERATIONS AND EXPAND ITS 
INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS ITS BUSINESS WOULD BE SERI OUSLY HARMED.  
   

The Company’s total revenues derived from sales outside North America were 23%, 28% and 27% for fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively. Its ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend in large part on its success in increasing revenues from international 
sales. The Company intends to continue to invest significant resources to expand its sales and support operations outside North America and to 
potentially enter additional international markets. In order to expand international sales, the Company must establish additional foreign 
operations, expand its international channel management and support organizations, hire additional personnel, recruit additional international 
resellers and increase the productivity of existing international resellers. The Company intends to continue to shift its focus from direct sales to 
indirect sales in certain of its international markets in 2010. If it is not successful in expanding international operations in a timely and cost-
effective manner, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition could be materially harmed.  
   
IF THE COMPANY DOES NOT SUCCESSFULLY EXPAND ITS DIS TRIBUTION CHANNELS AND DEVELOP AND MAINTAIN 
RELATIONSHIPS WITH OEMs, ITS BUSINESS WOULD BE SERI OUSLY HARMED.  
   

To date, the Company has sold its products principally through its direct sales force, as well as through indirect sales channels, such as its 
OEMs, resellers and systems integrators. The Company’s revenues from license fees resulting from sales through indirect channel partners were 
approximately 26%, 32%, and 28% of total revenues from license fees for fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The Company’s ability 
to achieve significant revenue growth in the future will depend in large part on the success of its sales force in further establishing and 
maintaining relationships with indirect channel partners. In particular, a significant element of the Company’s strategy is to embed its technology 
in products offered by OEMs for resale or as a hosted application to such OEMs’ customers and end-users. Xenos Group’s business in the 
United Kingdom relies on the sale and support of third party software as a significant component of its business. The Company also intends to 
establish and expand its relationships with resellers and systems integrators so that such resellers and systems integrators will increasingly 
recommend its products to their clients. The Company’s future success will depend on the ability of its indirect channel partners to sell and 
support its products. If the sales and implementation cycles of its indirect channel partners are lengthy or variable or its OEMs experience 
difficulties embedding its technology into their products or it fails to train the sales and customer support personnel of such indirect channel 
partners in a timely or effective fashion, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would be materially harmed.  
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Although the Company is currently investing, and plans to continue to invest, significant resources to expand and develop relationships 
with OEMs and resellers, it has at times experienced and continues to experience difficulty in establishing and maintaining these relationships. If 
the Company is unable to successfully expand this distribution channel and secure license agreements with additional OEMs and resellers on 
commercially reasonable terms, including significant up-front payments of minimum license fees, and extend existing license agreements with 
existing OEMs on commercially reasonable terms, the Company’s operating results would be adversely affected. Any inability by the Company 
to maintain existing or establish new relationships with indirect channel partners, including systems integrators and resellers, or, if such efforts 
are successful, a failure of the Company’s revenues to increase correspondingly with expenses incurred in pursuing such relationships, would 
materially harm the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.  
   
THE COMPANY MAY NOT BE ABLE TO COMPETE SUCCESSFULLY  AGAINST ITS CURRENT AND FUTURE 
COMPETITORS.  
   

The Company’s market is intensely competitive and characterized by rapidly changing technology, evolving standards and product releases 
by the Company’s competitors that are marketed to compete directly with the Company’s products. The Company’s competition comes in five 
principal forms:  
   

   

  
•   Competition from current or future Business Intelligence software vendors such as Information Builders and MicroStrategy, each of 

which offers reporting products;  

   

  
•   Competition from other large software vendors such as IBM, Microsoft, Oracle and SAP, to the extent they sell as separate products or 

include Rich Internet Applications and Performance Management functionality with their applications or databases;  

   

  
•   Competition from other software vendors and software development tool vendors including providers of open-source software 

products that may develop scalable Business Intelligence, Performance Management and Rich Internet Applications products;  

   

  
•   Competition from the IT departments of current or potential customers that may develop scalable Business Intelligence, Performance 

Management and Rich Internet Applications products internally, which may be cheaper and more customized than the Company’s 
products; and  

   
Most of the Company’s current and potential competitors have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than 

it does. These competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or 
devote greater resources to the development, promotion and sales of their products than the Company. Also, most current and potential 
competitors have greater name recognition and the ability to leverage a significant installed customer base. These companies have released and 
can continue to release competing Business Intelligence, Performance Management and Rich Internet Applications software products or 
significantly increase the functionality of their existing software products, either of which could result in a loss of market share for the Company. 
The Company expects additional competition as other established and emerging companies enter the Business Intelligence, Performance 
Management and Rich Internet Applications software market and new products and technologies are introduced. Increased competition could 
result in price reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins, longer sales cycles and loss of market share, any of which would harm 
the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.  
   

Current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships among themselves or with third 
parties, thereby increasing their ability to address the needs of the Company’s customers. Also, the Company’s current or future channel partners 
may have established in the past, or may in the future, establish cooperative relationships with the Company’s current or potential competitors, 
thereby  
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limiting the Company’s ability to sell its products through particular distribution channels. It is possible that new competitors or alliances among 
current and new competitors may emerge and rapidly gain significant market share. Such competition could reduce the Company’s revenues 
from license fees and services from new or existing customers on terms favorable to us. If the Company is unable to compete successfully 
against current and future competitors, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would be materially harmed.  
   
IF THE MARKET FOR BUSINESS INTELLIGENCE, RICH INTER NET APPLICATIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE DOES NOT GROW AS THE COMPANY EX PECTS, ITS BUSINESS WOULD BE SERIOUSLY 
HARMED.  
   

The Company cannot be certain that the market for Business Intelligence and Rich Internet Applications and Performance Management 
software products will continue to grow or that, even if the market does grow, businesses will purchase the Company’s products. If the market 
for Business Intelligence and Rich Internet Applications and Performance Management software products declines, fails to grow or grows more 
slowly than the Company expects, its business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed. To date, all of the Company’s 
revenues have been derived from licenses for its Business Intelligence and Rich Internet Applications and software and Performance 
Management related products and services, and it expects this to continue for the foreseeable future. The Company has spent, and intends to 
continue to spend, considerable resources educating potential customers and indirect channel partners about Business Intelligence and Rich 
Internet Applications and Performance Management software and its products. However, if such expenditures do not enable its products to 
achieve any significant degree of market acceptance, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would be materially 
harmed.  
   
BECAUSE THE SALES CYCLES OF THE COMPANY’S PRODUCTS ARE LENGTHY AND VARIABLE, ITS QUARTERLY 
RESULTS MAY FLUCTUATE.  
   

The purchase of the Company’s products by its end-user customers for deployment within the customer’s organization typically involves a 
significant commitment of capital and other resources, and is therefore subject to delays that are beyond the Company’s control. These delays 
can arise from a customer’s internal procedures to approve large capital expenditures, budgetary constraints, the testing and acceptance of new 
technologies that affect key operations and general economic and political events. The sales cycle for initial orders and larger follow-on orders 
for the Company’s products can be lengthy and variable. Additionally, sales cycles for sales of the Company’s products to OEMs tend to be 
longer, ranging from 6 to 24 months or more, and may involve convincing the OEMs’ entire organization that the Company’s products are the 
appropriate software for their applications. This time period does not include the sales and implementation cycles of such OEMs’ own products, 
which can be longer than the Company’s sales and implementation cycles. Certain of the Company’s customers have in the past, or may in the 
future, experience difficulty completing the initial implementation of the Company’s products. Any difficulties or delays in the initial 
implementation by the Company’s end-user customers or indirect channel partners could cause such customers or partners to reject the 
Company’s software or lead to the delay or non-receipt of future orders for the large-scale deployment of its products, in which case the 
Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would be materially harmed.  
   
ADVANCES IN HARDWARE AND SOFTWARE TECHNOLOGY MAY CA USE OUR SOFTWARE REVENUE TO DECLINE.  
   

In the past, the Company has licensed software for a certain number of “processors”  or “CPUs”  to many of its customers. Advances in 
hardware technology, including, but not limited to, greater CPU clock speeds, multiple-core processors and virtualization, have afforded 
software performance gains to some customers, causing them to defer additional software purchases from the Company. The occurrence of any 
of these events, and other future advances, could seriously harm the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition. Use of the 
Company’s software on more advanced hardware than the hardware on which the software  
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was originally installed, without payment of a transfer fee, is prohibited by the terms of applicable license agreements or Company policies. The 
Company intends to require compliance with such terms. As a result of its enforcement efforts, customers may defer or cease purchasing 
additional software or maintenance and support. The occurrence of any of these events could materially harm the Company’s business, operating 
results and financial condition.  
   
THE RENEWAL OF MAINTENANCE REVENUE ON OUR OLDER SOF TWARE SALES MAY DECLINE  
   

The Company has historically experienced a high maintenance retention rate across its various product lines. As certain of the Company’s 
products age, these retention rates may not be sustained unless the Company is successful in providing its customers with more advanced 
functionality and the levels of support that they require.  
   
IF THE COMPANY IS UNABLE TO FAVORABLY ASSESS THE EF FECTIVENESS OF ITS INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN FUTURE PERIODS OR IF THE COM PANY’S INDEPENDENT AUDITORS ARE UNABLE TO 
PROVIDE AN UNQUALIFIED ATTESTATION REPORT ON SUCH A SSESSMENT, THE COMPANY’S STOCK PRICE COULD 
BE ADVERSELY AFFECTED.  
   

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (“Section 404” ), the Company’s management is required to report 
on, and its independent auditors are required to attest to, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting on an 
ongoing basis. The Company’s assessment, testing and evaluation of the design and operating effectiveness of its internal control over financial 
reporting are ongoing. The Company cannot predict the outcome of its testing in future periods. If in future periods the Company concludes that 
its internal control over financial reporting is not effective, it may be required to change its internal control over financial reporting to remediate 
deficiencies, and investors may lose confidence in the reliability of its financial statements, causing the Company’s stock price to decline 
significantly.  
   
SECTION 404 AND REGULATORY CHANGES HAVE CAUSED THE COMPANY TO INCUR INCREASED COSTS AND 
OPERATING EXPENSES, INCLUDING ADDITIONAL COST AND E XPENSES ASSOCIATED WITH HIRING QUALIFIED 
PERSONNEL TO COMPLY WITH SUCH REGULATORY REQUIREMEN T.  
   

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and regulatory changes by the SEC and Nasdaq have caused the Company to incur significant increased 
costs. In particular, the rules governing the standards that must be met for management to assess its internal controls over financial reporting 
under Section 404 are complex, and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. This ongoing process of reviewing, 
documenting and testing the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting has resulted in, and will likely continue to result in ongoing 
cost to the Company. Furthermore, achieving and maintaining compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley and other new rules and regulations has and will 
continue to require the Company to hire additional personnel and to use additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services.  
   

In addition, any acquisitions made by the Company will also put a significant strain on its management, information systems and resources. 
Any expansion of the Company’s international operations will lead to increased financial and administrative demands associated with managing 
its international operations and managing an increasing number of relationships with foreign partners and customers and expanded treasury 
functions to manage foreign currency risks, all of which will require the Company to incur additional cost to implement necessary changes to 
maintain effective internal controls over financial reporting.  
   

18  



Table of Contents  

IF THE COMPANY DOES NOT RESPOND TO RAPID TECHNOLOGI CAL CHANGES, ITS PRODUCTS COULD BECOME 
OBSOLETE.  
   

The market for the Company’s products is characterized by rapid technological changes, frequent new product introductions and 
enhancements, changing customer demands, and evolving industry standards. Any of these factors can render existing products obsolete and 
unmarketable. The Company believes that its future success will depend in large part on its ability to support current and future releases of 
popular operating systems and computer programming languages, databases and software applications, to timely develop new products that 
achieve market acceptance and to meet an expanding range of customer requirements. If the announcement or introduction of new products by 
the Company or its competitors or any change in industry standards causes customers to defer or cancel purchases of existing products, the 
Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.  
   

As a result of the complexities inherent in Business Intelligence, Rich Internet Applications and Performance Management software, major 
new products and product enhancements can require long development and testing periods. In addition, customers may delay their purchasing 
decisions in anticipation of the general availability of new or enhanced versions of the Company’s products. As a result, significant delays in the 
general availability of such new releases or significant problems in the installation or implementation of such new releases could harm the 
Company’s business, operating results and financial condition. If the Company fails to successfully develop, on a timely and cost effective basis, 
product enhancements or new products that respond to technological change, evolving industry standards or customer requirements or such new 
products and product enhancements fail to achieve market acceptance, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition would 
be harmed.  
   
IF THE COMPANY DOES NOT RELEASE NEW PRODUCTS AND EN HANCEMENTS TO EXISTING PRODUCTS IN A TIMELY 
MANNER OR IF SUCH NEW PRODUCTS AND ENHANCEMENTS, IN CLUDING THE COMPANY’S OPEN SOURCE PROJECT, 
FAIL TO ACHIEVE MARKET ACCEPTANCE, THE COMPANY’S BU SINESS COULD BE SERIOUSLY HARMED.  
   

The Company believes that its future success will depend in large part on the success of new products and enhancements to its products 
that it makes generally available. Prior to the release of any new products or enhancements, the products must undergo a long development and 
testing period. To date, the development and testing of new products and enhancements have taken longer than expected. In the event the 
development and testing of new products and enhancements continue to take longer than expected, the release of new products and 
enhancements will be delayed. If the Company fails to release new products and enhancements in a timely manner, its business, operating results 
and financial condition would be harmed. In addition, if such new products and enhancements do not achieve market acceptance, the Company’s 
business, operating results and financial condition would be harmed.  
   

The Company has developed a BIRT open source product through its involvement in the Eclipse Foundation. The Company hopes that 
BIRT and a commercialized version of BIRT will be widely adopted by Java developers and will result in such developers recommending to 
their employees and customers that they license the Company’s commercially available products. If BIRT does not achieve market acceptance 
and result in promoting sales of commercially available products, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition may be 
harmed.  
   
THE SUCCESS OF THE COMPANY’S OPEN-SOURCE BIRT INITI ATIVE IS DEPENDENT ON BUILDING A DEVELOPER 
COMMUNITY AROUND BIRT.  
   

The success of the Company’s BIRT initiative is dependent on the open source contributions of third-party programmers and corporations, 
and if they cease to make these contributions to the Eclipse open source project, the BIRT project, or the general open source movement, the 
Company’s BIRT product strategy could be adversely affected. If key members, or a significant percentage, of this group of developers or 
corporations  
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decides to cease development of Eclipse, BIRT or other open source applications, the Company would have to either rely on another party (or 
parties) to develop these technologies, develop them itself or adapt its open source product strategy accordingly. This could increase the 
Company’s development expenses, delay its product releases and upgrades or adversely impact customer acceptance of open source offerings.  
   
THE COMPANY’S INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT RISKS.  
   

A substantial portion of the Company’s revenues is derived from international sales. International operations and sales are subject to a 
number of risks, any of which could harm the Company’s business, operating results and financial conditions. These risks include the following:  
   

   
  •   Economic and political instability, including war and terrorism or the threat of war and terrorism;  

   
  •   Difficulty of managing an organization spread across many countries;  

   
  •   Multiple and conflicting tax laws and regulations;  

   
  •   Costs of localizing products for foreign countries;  

   

  
•   Difficulty in hiring employees and difficulties and high costs associated with terminating employees and restructuring operations in 

foreign countries;  

   
  •   Trade laws and business practices favoring local competition;  

   
  •   Dependence on local vendors;  

   
  •   Increasing dependence on resellers in certain geographies;  

   
  •   Compliance with multiple, conflicting and changing government laws and regulations;  

   

  
•   Weaker intellectual property protection in foreign countries and potential loss of proprietary information due to piracy or 

misappropriation;  

   
  •   Longer sales cycles;  

   
  •   Import and export restrictions and tariffs;  

   
  •   Difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations;  

   
  •   The significant presence of some of our competitors in certain international markets;  

   
  •   Greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collection; and  

   
The Company believes that, over time, an increasing portion of its revenues and costs will be denominated in foreign currencies. To the 

extent such denomination in foreign currencies does occur, gains and losses on the conversion to U.S. dollars of accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and other monetary assets and liabilities arising from international operations may contribute to fluctuations in the Company’s results of 
operations. Although the Company may in the future decide to undertake foreign exchange hedging transactions to cover a portion of its foreign 
currency transaction exposure, it currently does not attempt to cover any foreign currency exposure. If it is not effective in any future foreign 
exchange hedging transactions in which it engages, the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition could be materially 
harmed.  
   
THE COMPANY’S EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CERTAIN KEY PE RSONNEL ARE CRITICAL TO ITS BUSINESS AND IT 
MAY NOT BE ABLE TO RECRUIT AND RETAIN THE PERSONNEL  IT NEEDS.  
   

  •   Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.  

The Company’s future success depends upon the continued service of its executive officers and other key engineering, sales, marketing and 
customer support personnel. None of its officers or key employees is bound by an employment agreement for any specific term. If the Company 
loses the service of one or more of its key employees, or if one or more of its executive officers or key employees decide to join a competitor or 
otherwise compete directly or indirectly with it, it could have a significant adverse effect on the Company’s business.  
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In addition, because experienced personnel in the Company’s industry are in high demand and competition for their talents is intense, the 
Company has relied on its ability to grant stock options as one mechanism for recruiting and retaining this highly skilled talent. Accounting 
standards require the expensing of stock options, which impairs the Company’s ability to provide these incentives without incurring significant 
compensation costs. There can be no assurance that the Company will continue to successfully attract and retain key personnel in the future.  
   
CHANGES IN OR INTERPRETATIONS OF, ACCOUNTING STANDA RDS COULD RESULT IN UNFAVORABLE ACCOUNTING 
CHARGES.  
   

The Company prepares its Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. These principles are subject to interpretation by the SEC and various bodies formed to interpret and create appropriate 
accounting standards. The Company’s accounting policies that recently been or may be affected by changes in the accounting rules are as 
follows:  
   

   
  •   Software revenue recognition;  

   
  •   Accounting for income taxes;  

   
  •   Accounting for business combinations and related goodwill;  

   
  •   Accounting for stock issued to employees; and  

   
A change in accounting standards applicable to us can have a significant effect on the Company’s reported results and may even 

retroactively affect previously reported transactions.  
   
THE COMPANY MAY BE UNABLE TO SUSTAIN OR INCREASE IT S PROFITABILITY.  
   

  •   Assessing fair value of financial and non-financial assets.  

While the Company was profitable in its last five fiscal years, it incurred net losses during fiscal year 2003 and 2002. Its ability to sustain 
or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis will be affected by changes in its business. It expects its operating expenses to increase as 
its business grows, and it anticipates that it will make investments in its business. Therefore, the Company’s results of operations will be harmed 
if its revenues do not increase at a rate equal to or greater than increases in its expenses or are insufficient for it to sustain profitability.  
   
IF THE COMPANY OVERESTIMATES REVENUES, IT MAY BE UN ABLE TO REDUCE ITS EXPENSES TO AVOID OR 
MINIMIZE A NEGATIVE IMPACT ON ITS RESULTS OF OPERAT IONS.  
   

The Company’s revenues are difficult to forecast and are likely to fluctuate significantly from period to period. The Company bases its 
operating expense budgets on expected revenue trends. The Company’s estimates of sales trends may not correlate with actual revenues in a 
particular quarter or over a longer period of time. Variations in the rate and timing of conversion of the Company’s sales prospects into actual 
licensing revenues could cause it to plan or budget inaccurately and those variations could adversely affect the Company’s financial results. In 
particular, delays, reductions in amount or cancellation of customers’ purchases would adversely affect the overall level and timing of the 
Company’s revenues and its business, results of operations and financial condition could be harmed. In addition, many of its expenses, such as 
office and equipment leases and certain personnel costs, are relatively fixed. It may be unable to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any 
unexpected revenue shortfall. Accordingly, any shortfall in revenue may cause a material variation in operating results in any period.  
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IF THE COMPANY’S PRODUCTS CONTAIN MATERIAL DEFECTS,  ITS REVENUES MAY DECLINE.  
   

Software products as complex as those offered by the Company often contain errors or defects, particularly when first introduced, when 
new versions or enhancements are released and when configured to individual customer computing systems. The Company currently has known 
errors and defects in its products. Despite testing conducted by the Company, if additional defects and errors are found in current versions, new 
versions or enhancements of its products after commencement of commercial shipment, or if such errors or defects cannot be cured or repaired 
timely, it could result in the loss of revenues or a delay in market acceptance or an increase in the rate of return of the Company’s products. The 
occurrence of any of these events could materially harm the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.  
   
THE COMPANY MAY BE SUBJECT TO PRODUCT LIABILITY CLA IMS.  
   

Although license agreements with its customers typically contain provisions designed to limit the Company’s exposure to potential product 
liability claims, it is possible that such limitation of liability provisions may not be effective as a result of existing or future laws or unfavorable 
judicial decisions. The sale and support of the Company’s products may entail the risk of such claims, which are likely to be substantial in light 
of the use of its products in business-critical applications. A product liability claim brought against the Company could materially harm its 
business, operating results and financial condition.  
   
THE PROTECTION OF OUR PROPRIETARY RIGHTS MAY BE INA DEQUATE.  
   

The Company has a small number of issued and pending U.S. patents expiring at varying times ranging from 2015 to 2020. The Company 
relies primarily on a combination of copyright and trademark laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect 
its proprietary technology. For example, the Company licenses its software pursuant to click-wrap or signed license agreements that impose 
certain restrictions on licensees’ ability to utilize the software. In addition, the Company seeks to avoid disclosure of its intellectual property, 
including by requiring those persons with access to its proprietary information to execute confidentiality agreements with the Company and by 
restricting access to its source code. The Company takes precautions to protect our software, certain documentation, and other written materials 
under trade secret and copyright laws, which afford only limited protection.  
   

Despite the Company’s efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of its products or to obtain 
and use information that the Company regards as proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of the Company’s products is difficult, and while it is 
unable to determine the extent to which piracy of its software products exists, software piracy can be expected to be a persistent problem. In 
addition, the laws of many countries do not protect the Company’s proprietary rights to as great an extent as do the laws of the United States. If 
the Company’s means of protecting its proprietary rights is not adequate or its competitors independently develop similar technology, the 
Company’s business could be materially harmed.  
   
THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK PRICE MAY BE VOLATILE, W HICH COULD RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL LOSSES FOR 
STOCKHOLDERS.  
   

The market price of shares of the Company’s common stock has been and is likely to continue to be highly volatile and may be 
significantly affected by factors such as the following:  
   

   
  •   Actual or anticipated fluctuations in its operating results;  

   
  •   Changes in the economic and political conditions in the United States and abroad;  

   
  •   Terrorist attacks, war or the threat of terrorist attacks and war;  
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  •   Developments in ongoing or threatened litigation;  

   
  •   Announcements of technological innovations;  

   
  •   Failure to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;  

   
  •   New products, including open source products, or new contracts announced by it or its competitors;  

   
  •   Developments with respect to copyrights or proprietary rights;  

   
  •   Price and volume fluctuations in the stock market;  

   
  •   Changes in corporate purchasing of Business Intelligence, Rich Internet Applications and Performance Management software;  

   
  •   Adoption of new accounting standards affecting the software industry; and  

   
In addition, following periods of volatility in the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has 

often been brought against such companies. If the Company is involved in such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of 
management’s attention and resources and could materially harm the Company’s business, operating results and financial condition.  
   
CHANGES IN CORPORATE INCOME TAX LAWS, INCOME TAX RA TES OR NEGATIVE INCOME TAX RULINGS COULD 
ADVERSELY IMPACT THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL RESULTS.  
   

  •   Changes in financial estimates by securities analysts.  

The Company is taxable principally in the United States and certain jurisdictions in Europe and Asia/Pacific. All of these jurisdictions have 
in the past and may in the future make changes to their corporate income tax laws and/or corporate income tax rates, which could increase or 
decrease the Company’s future income tax provision. While the Company believes that all material income tax liabilities are reflected properly 
in its Consolidated Balance Sheet, it has no assurance that it will prevail in all cases in the event the taxing authorities disagree with its 
interpretations of the tax law. Future levels of research and development spending will impact the Company’s entitlement to related tax credits, 
which generally lower its effective income tax rate. Future effective income tax rates could be adversely affected if tax laws are enacted that are 
targeted to eliminate the benefits of the Company’s tax structure and if its earnings are lower than anticipated in jurisdictions where the 
Company has statutory tax rates lower than tax rates in the United States or other higher tax jurisdictions.  
   
CERTAIN OF THE COMPANY’ S CHARTER PROVISIONS AND DELAWARE LAW MAY PREVENT O R DETER A CHANGE IN 
CONTROL OF ACTUATE.  
   

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, as amended and restated (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), and Bylaws, as amended and 
restated (“Bylaws”), contain certain provisions that may have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of the 
Company or unsolicited acquisition proposals that a stockholder might consider favorable, including provisions authorizing the issuance of 
“blank check” preferred stock, eliminating the ability of stockholder to act by written consent and requiring stockholders to provide advance 
notice for proposals and nomination of directors at stockholder meetings. In addition, certain provisions of Delaware law and the Company’s 
stock option plans may also have the effect of discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control or unsolicited acquisition proposals. The 
Company has also entered into change of control agreements with its executive officers, which agreements require payment to an executive upon 
termination of employment within 12 months after acquisition. The anti-takeover effect of these provisions may also have an adverse effect on 
the public trading price of the Company’s common stock.  
   

23  



Table of Contents  

DEPENDENCE ON THE FINANCIAL SERVICES INDUSTRY COULD  SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT THE COMPANY’S 
REVENUES.  
   

A significant portion of the Company’s revenues are derived from customers in the financial services industry and the Company expects it 
will continue to derive a significant portion of its revenues from these customers for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, unfavorable economic 
conditions adversely impacting the financial services industry has had a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition 
and results of operations. For example, the financial services industry has experienced and may continue to experience cyclical fluctuations in 
profitability, which may affect timing of, or actual purchases of, the Company’s products which would have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   
IF THE RECENT CREDIT MARKET CONDITIONS CONTINUE OR DETORIATE FURTHER, IT COULD HAVE A MATERIAL 
ADVERSE IMPACT ON OUR INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO.  
   

Recent U.S. sub-prime mortgage defaults have had a significant impact across various sectors of the financial markets, causing global 
credit and liquidity issues. The short-term funding markets experienced credit issues throughout fiscal year 2008. This led to liquidity disruption 
in asset-backed commercial paper and failed auctions in the auction rate market. If the global credit market continues to deteriorate, our 
investment portfolio may be impacted and we could determine that some of our investments are other than temporarily impaired. This could 
have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.  
   

Our investment portfolio includes Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”). They are usually found in the form of municipal bonds, a pool of 
student loans or collateralized debt obligations whose interest rates are subject to reset through an auction process. The ARS held by us are 
primarily backed by highly rated municipal issuers.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $16.5 million in ARS at par value. Since February 2008, substantially all 
auctions for ARS have “failed” as a result of the negative overall capital market conditions, meaning that there is not enough demand to sell the 
securities at auction. While the Company continues to earn interest on its ARS investments at the maximum contractual rate, these investments 
are not currently trading and therefore do not currently have a readily determinable market value.  
   

In November 2008, the Company elected to participate in a rights offering by UBS, the Company’s investment broker, which provides 
Actuate with rights (the “Put Option”) to sell UBS $16.5 million of its ARS portfolio at par value, at any time during a two-year sale period 
beginning June 30, 2010. By electing to participate in the rights offering, the Company granted UBS the right, exercisable at any time prior to 
June 30, 2010 or during the two-year sale period, to purchase or cause the sale of our ARS (the “Call Right”). UBS has stated that it will only 
exercise the Call Right for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions that will provide their clients with par value for their 
ARS. UBS has agreed to pay their clients the par value of their ARS within one day of settlement of any Call Right transaction. Notwithstanding 
the Call Right, the Company is permitted to sell ARS to parties other than UBS, in which case the Put Option attached to the ARS that are sold 
would be extinguished. At December 31, 2009 the Company has valued the Put Option at the present value of the difference between the fair 
market value and the par value of the ARS.  
   
At December 31, 2009, the Company has classified the ARS and the related Put Option as current investments on its Consolidated Balance 
Sheet. This classification was based on the intent and ability of the Company to sell the ARS back to UBS as soon as the Put Option allows, 
which is currently expected to be June 30, 2010. In prior quarters, the ARS were classified as long-term investments because of the Company’s 
inability to determine when its investments in the ARS would settle, and the fact that the exercisability date of the Put Option exceeded 365 
days.  
   

The Company has no reason to believe that any of the underlying issuers of its ARS are presently at risk of default. Through December 31, 
2009, the Company has continued to receive interest payments on the ARS in  
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accordance with their terms. Currently, interest is being earned at the maximum contractual rate, which may not exceed the one year trailing 
average rate on the three month Treasury Bill plus 120 basis points. The Company believes that it will ultimately be able to liquidate its ARS 
related investments without significant loss primarily due to the collateral securing the ARS and the legal settlement it has entered into with 
UBS. However, it could take until final maturity of the ARS (up to 38 years) to realize the investments’ par value.  
   

If we need to access the funds associated with ARS but are unable to do so, our operations and financial position could be materially 
harmed.  
   
WE HAVE SUBSTANTIAL INDEBTEDNESS AND DEBT SERVICE R EQUIREMENTS.  
   

On November 2, 2008, Actuate entered into a four year revolving line of credit agreement with Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC (“WFF”) as the 
arranger, administrative agent and lender (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement was effective as of November 3, 2008. The Company 
used $30.0 million of the proceeds from the Credit Agreement in the tender offer it completed in December 2008 and for working capital, 
issuance of commercial and standby letters of credit, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes. At December 31, 2009, our 
outstanding debt under the Credit Agreement was $30 million. Subsequently, on February 1, 2010 we borrowed an additional $10.0 million 
under the Credit Agreement to fund the acquisition of Xenos Group. The acquisition was valued at approximately Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 
37.7 million and was funded using a combination of cash reserves and borrowings available under the Credit Agreement.  
   

The Credit Agreement allows for cash borrowings and letters of credit under a secured revolving credit facility of up to a maximum of 
$50.0 million, but in any event not to exceed 80% of the Company’s Trailing Recurring Revenue (as defined in the Credit Agreement). Interest 
will accrue based on a floating rate based on, at the Company’s election, (i) LIBOR or (ii) the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus an 
applicable margin or (b) Wells Fargo’s prime rate, in each case, plus an applicable margin based on the outstanding balance of the amount drawn 
down under the Credit Agreement. If the Company’s borrowings and letter of credit usage plus any bank product reserves established by Wells 
Fargo exceeds 80% of its Trailing Recurring Revenue (as defined in the Credit Agreement), or if the sum of available funds under the Credit 
Agreement plus Qualified Cash (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is less than $10.0 million, the Company will be required to meet certain 
EBITDA targets and be subject to a limit on annual capital expenditures, subject to a cure mechanism described in the Credit Agreement. The 
Company is required to make interest payments and pay an unused commitment fee on a monthly basis. The Credit Agreement includes 
limitations on the Company’s ability to incur debt, grant liens, make acquisitions, make certain restricted payments such as dividend payments, 
and dispose of assets. The events of default under the Credit Agreement include payment defaults, cross defaults with certain other indebtedness, 
breaches of covenants and bankruptcy events. In the case of a continuing event of default, the lenders under the Credit Agreement may, among 
other remedies, eliminate their commitments to make credit available, declare due all unpaid principal amounts outstanding, and require cash 
collateral for any letter of credit obligations and foreclose on all collateral.  
   

Because of our indebtedness, a significant portion of our cash flow from operations is and will be required for debt service. Our levels of 
debt could have negative consequences for us. You should note that:  
   

   
  •   a substantial portion of our cash flow is, and will be, dedicated to debt service and is not, and will not be, available for other purposes;  

   

  
•   our ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes 

may be impaired in the future;  

   

  
•   certain of our borrowings are, and will be, at variable rates of interest, which may expose us to the risk of increases in interest rates; 

and  
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We believe that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet our current debt service requirements for interest and any required 
prepayments under the Credit Agreement. However, if such cash flow is not sufficient, we may be required to issue additional debt or equity 
securities, refinance our obligations, or take other actions in order to make such scheduled payments. We cannot be sure that we would be able to 
effect any such transactions on favorable terms, if at all. Failure to do so may cause an event of default under the Credit Agreement, which will 
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial conditions.  
   
OUR DEBT COVENANTS RESTRICT OUR FINANCIAL AND OPERA TIONAL FLEXIBILITY.  
   

As discussed above, the Credit Agreement contains a number of financial covenants, which, among other things, require us to maintain 
specified financial ratios and impose certain limitations on us with respect to lines of business, mergers, investments and acquisitions, additional 
indebtedness, distributions, guarantees, liens and encumbrances. Our ability to meet the financial ratios can be affected by operating performance 
or other events beyond our control, and we cannot assure you that we will meet those ratios and failure to do so may cause an event of default 
under the Credit Agreement. Our indebtedness under the Credit Agreement is secured by a lien on substantially all of our assets and of our 
subsidiaries, by a pledge of our operating and license subsidiaries’ stock and by a guarantee of our subsidiaries. If the amounts outstanding under 
the Credit Agreement were accelerated due to an event of default, the lenders could proceed against such available collateral by forcing the sales 
of these assets.  
   

   
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

None.  
   

   
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

Actuate’s properties consist of leased facilities for sales and marketing, research and development, services and support and administrative 
personnel. Actuate’s headquarters facilities consist of approximately 83,000 square feet of office space in the Bridgepointe Campus in San 
Mateo, California. The lease on these headquarter facilities will expire in July 2012. Actuate also leases an additional 50,400 square feet in one 
facility in South San Francisco, California. The lease on this additional facility will expire in April 2011 and this facility is entirely being 
subleased. Actuate also leases office facilities in various locations in the United States and abroad. All facilities are leased under operating 
leases.  
   

As a result of the Company’s California facilities being located near major earthquake fault lines, in the event of an earthquake its 
business, financial condition and operating results could be seriously harmed. In addition, California has in the past experienced energy power 
shortages. If future power shortages result in numerous or prolonged brownouts or blackouts, the Company’s business, financial condition and 
operating results could be seriously harmed.  
   

   
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We are engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome of 
such litigation, we believe we have adequate legal defenses and we believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these actions will not have a 
material effect on our financial position or results of operations.  
   

   
26  

ITEM 4. RESERVED 



Table of Contents  

PART II  
   

   

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT ’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Our common stock is traded on The Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “ACTU” and has been traded on Nasdaq since Actuate’s 
initial public offering in 1998. The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices of our common stock during each full 
quarterly period within the last two fiscal years:  
   

   
According to the records of our transfer agent, as of February 22, 2010, Actuate had 97 stockholders of record (which number does not 

include the number of stockholders whose shares are held by a brokerage house or clearing agency, but does include, as one record holder each 
such brokerage house or clearing agency).  
   

We have never paid a cash dividend on our common stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable 
future.  
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     High    Low 

First Quarter of Fiscal 2008     $ 7.81    $ 3.93 
Second Quarter of Fiscal 2008     $ 5.00    $ 3.88 
Third Quarter of Fiscal 2008     $ 4.56    $ 3.39 
Fourth Quarter of Fiscal 2008     $ 3.50    $ 2.20 
First Quarter of Fiscal 2009     $ 3.91    $ 2.83 
Second Quarter of Fiscal 2009     $ 5.33    $ 3.12 
Third Quarter of Fiscal 2009     $ 6.11    $ 4.34 
Fourth Quarter of Fiscal 2009     $ 5.87    $ 3.93 
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Performance Graph  
   

The following performance graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material”  or to be “ filed”  with the SEC or subject to Regulation 
14A or 14C or the liabilities of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”), and shall not be deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into any of our filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act.  
   

The following graphs compare:  
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I.   The cumulative total stockholder return on the common stock of the Company from December 31, 2004 (the last trading day before 
the beginning of the Company’s fifth preceding fiscal year) to December 31, 2009 (the last trading day of the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2009) with the cumulative total return of (i) the Total Return Index for The Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. Companies) 
(the “Nasdaq Index”), (ii) the Dow Jones U.S. Software Composite Index (the “Dow Jones U.S. Software Index”) and (iii) the RDG 
Software Composite Index ( the “RDG Software Index”). This graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2004 in the 
common stock of the Company, the Nasdaq Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Software Index. 
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The comparisons in the graphs above are based on historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future performance of 
our common stock.  
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II.   The cumulative total stockholder return on the common stock of the Company from December 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009 with 
the cumulative total return of (i) the Total Return Index for the “Nasdaq Index”, (ii) the Dow Jones U.S. Software Composite Index 
(the “Dow Jones U.S. Software Index”) and (iii) the RDG Software Composite Index (the “RDG Software Index”). This graph 
assumes the investment of $100 on January 1, 2009 in the common stock of the Company, the Nasdaq Index and the Dow Jones U.S. 
Software Index. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, and with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto that are included elsewhere in 
this Form 10-K. The Consolidated Statements of Income data for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets data at December 31, 2009 and 2008 are derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this 
Form 10-K. The Consolidated Statements of Income data for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the Consolidated Balance Sheets 
data as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are derived from audited Consolidated Financial Statements that are not included in this Form 10-
K. Historical results are not necessarily indicative of results to be anticipated in the future.  
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   Year ended December 31,   
   2009     2008     2007     2006     2005   

     (in thousands, except per share data)   

Consolidated Statement of Income Data:             

Revenues:             

License fees     $ 36,146      $ 39,989      $ 53,216      $ 46,919      $ 36,939    
Maintenance       76,466        76,695        71,336        63,145        52,671    
Professional services and training       6,721        14,306        16,074        18,505        16,791    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total revenues       119,333        130,990        140,626        128,569        106,401    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Costs and expenses:             

Cost of license fees       934        1,396        1,997        2,095        2,294    
Cost of services       17,843        23,330        24,927        27,914        23,723    
Sales and marketing       41,747        51,830        55,312        49,009        37,070    
Research and development       20,267        22,035        21,826        21,055        16,533    
General and administrative       20,315        18,470        17,784        16,026        13,115    
Amortization of purchased intangibles       680        948        948        948        487    
Purchased in-process research and development       —          —          —          900        —      
Restructuring charges       348        1,506        1,686        16        665    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Total costs and expenses       102,134        119,515        124,480        117,963        93,887    
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
      

  

Income from operations       17,199        11,475        16,146        10,606        12,514    
Interest income and other income, net       294        901        3,311        2,217        1,447    
Interest expense       (1,404 )      (116 )      (156 )      —          (11 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Income before provision for income taxes       16,089        12,260        19,301        12,823        13,950    
Provision for (benefit) from income taxes       3,910        (1,318 )      (863 )      (974 )      2,359    

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Net income     $ 12,179      $ 13,578      $ 20,164      $ 13,797      $ 11,591    
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Basic net income per share (1)     $ 0.27      $ 0.23      $ 0.33      $ 0.23      $ 0.19    
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Shares used in basic net income per share  
calculation (1)       45,131        60,025        60,838        60,375        61,057    

       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Diluted net income per share (1)     $ 0.25      $ 0.21      $ 0.29      $ 0.21      $ 0.18    
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Shares used in diluted net income per share calculation (1)       49,396        65,049        68,722        66,814        63,269    
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   December 31, 
   2009    2008    2007    2006    2005 

     (in thousands) 
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                 

Cash, cash equivalents and investments     $ 75,531    $ 58,441    $ 68,415    $ 60,079    $ 54,397 
Working capital       54,114      20,701      54,045      37,298      38,889 
Total assets       169,764      150,512      169,908      147,589      111,581 
Long-term liabilities, less current portion       33,485      38,278      10,712      10,532      10,996 
Stockholders’  equity and non-controlling interest       76,019      56,248      100,973      77,810      55,368 
  
(1)   See Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of the method used to determine the number of shares 

used in computing net income per share. 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Overview  
   

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction 
with the other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Business,” “Selected Financial Data,” and “Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data”, as well as the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.” This MD&A contains a number of forward-looking 
statements, all of which are based on our current expectations, beliefs and strategies and could be affected by the uncertainties and risk factors 
described throughout this filing and particularly in the “Risk Factors” section.  
   

Our actual results may differ materially from those indicated in such forward-looking statements. See “Risk Factors” and “Special Note 
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this Report on Form 10-K and the risks discussed in other reports we have furnished or filed from 
time to time with the SEC.  
   
Our Business  
   

General  
   

Actuate Corporation (“we” , “Actuate”  or the “Company” ) was incorporated in November 1993 in the State of California and 
reincorporated in the State of Delaware in July 1998. Actuate provides software and services to develop and deploy Rich Information 
Applications that deliver rich interactive content that improve customer loyalty and corporate performance. Applications built on Actuate’s open 
source-based platform provide all stakeholders inside and outside the firewall, including employees, customers, partners and citizens with 
information that they can easily access and understand to maximize revenue, cut costs, improve customer satisfaction, streamline operations, 
create competitive advantage and make better decisions. Our goal is to ensure that all users can use decision-making information in their day-to-
day activities, opening up completely new avenues for improving corporate performance.  
   

   
Despite the recent global recession, we have achieved consistent profitability and positive cash flows in the recent years, including fiscal 

year 2009. We achieved these results not only through our solid execution, leading technology and strong customer relationships, but also 
because of our commitment to operating efficiencies which have resulted in significant reductions to our operating expenses, as we aligned our 
business to weather a turbulent and unpredictable macro-economic environment. As a result of these reductions in operating expenses, we have 
seen improvements to our operating margins in fiscal year 2009.  
   

Nevertheless, our business model and longer-term financial results are not immune to a sustained economic downturn. The financial 
turmoil and economic uncertainty over the last two years has caused some of our customers to postpone investments and purchase decisions, 
decrease their spending or delay payments to us. During fiscal year 2009 we saw increasing pressures on our customers’ Information Technology 
budgets, and therefore our customers sought more flexibility in the timing of purchases. Facing uncertainty and cost pressures in their own 
businesses, some of our customers are waiting to purchase our products and are increasingly seeking purchasing terms and conditions that are 
less favorable to us. This trend partially contributed to lower license revenues for fiscal year 2008 and fiscal year 2009. We have also seen a 
similar impact on our consulting business in the recent years. If the financial turmoil and economic uncertainty continue and cause further 
customer  
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     December 31,   
     2009     2008     2007     2006     2005   
     (in thousands)   

Financial summary             

Total revenues     $ 119,333      $ 130,990      $ 140,626      $ 128,569      $ 106,401    
Total operating expenses       102,134        119,515        124,480        117,963        93,887    
Income from operations       17,199        11,475        16,146        10,606        12,514    
Operating margins       14 %      9 %      11 %      8 %      12 %  
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bankruptcies or consolidation among our customers, our year-over-year revenue and operating income results could be adversely affected.  
   

We continue to monitor market conditions and may make adjustments to our business in order to reduce the adverse impact that the 
prolonged economic downturn could have on our business. We expect to continue to explore both organic and inorganic growth opportunities. In 
particular, we may acquire companies or technology that can contribute to the strategic, operational and financial performance of our business. 
We believe that the combination of our solid financials, leading technology and strong customer relationships will help us successfully execute 
our strategies.  
   

Business Model  
   

We began shipping our first product in January 1996. We sell software products through two primary means: (i) directly to end-user 
customers through our direct sales force and (ii) through indirect channel partners such as OEMs, resellers and system integrators. OEMs 
generally integrate our products with their applications and either provide hosting services or resell them with their products. Our other indirect 
channel partners resell our products to end-user customers. Our revenues are derived from license fees for software products and fees for 
services relating to such products, including software maintenance and support, consulting and training.  
   

Fiscal Year 2009  
   

The overall decrease in total revenues was mainly driven by lower professional services and license sales which decreased by 53% and 
10% over the same period last year, respectively, as we continue facing a challenging macro-economic environment, especially in the 
international markets. These negative conditions have forced customers to either delay purchases or find solutions to increase optimal 
efficiencies using infrastructure server environments. During fiscal year 2009 the 53% or approximately $7.6 million decrease in professional 
services revenues was mainly due to a weak macro-economic environment which is causing some customers to either delay projects or cancel 
engagements. We believe some customers are opting to use in-house resources to complete previously outsourced projects. Another factor 
contributing to the decrease in the professional services revenues is the increase in the adoption of BIRT-based projects by our customers which 
do not require professional service to the same extent as the Company’s traditional designer products. Our maintenance revenues remained 
steady at $76.5 million in fiscal year 2009, compared to $76.7 million in fiscal year 2008. Nevertheless, our performance under this category was 
adversely affected by an increase in the number of licensees of certain of our legacy products that declined to renew their maintenance contracts. 
Consequently, in fiscal year 2009 we restructured our maintenance renewal group to allow for a stronger focus on maintenance renewal follow-
up.  
   

During the second half of fiscal year 2008 and in response to the weak macro economic conditions, we implemented a restructuring plan 
which resulted in the elimination of 46 positions held by Actuate employees primarily in North America, the consolidation of facilities, and the 
write-off of fixed assets located at facilities that had been vacated. We implemented a second restructuring in the second half of fiscal year 2009 
which resulted in the elimination of 12 positions held by Actuate employees primarily in North America and Europe. These cost cutting 
measures have primarily been the force behind the 15% or $17.4 million reduction in operating expenses in fiscal year 2009 compared to fiscal 
year 2008. Consequently, our operating margins have improved from 9% in fiscal year 2008 to 14% in fiscal year 2009. The increase in the fully 
diluted earnings per share in fiscal year 2009 over the same period last year was primarily attributed to these reductions in our operating 
expenses as discussed above and the 24% decrease in our diluted share count. This decrease in share count was mainly due to the tender offer 
completed in December of 2008 resulting in the repurchase of approximately 17.1 million shares.  
   

As a result of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, our total revenues for fiscal year 2009 compared to last year was negatively 
impacted by approximately $1.3 million while our operating expenses decreased by approximately $1.5 million.  
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A significant portion of our revenues have historically been derived from customers in the financial services industry. The Company 
expects that it will continue to derive a significant portion of its revenues from these financial services customers for the foreseeable future. 
Unfavorable economic conditions have adversely impacted the financial services industry throughout fiscal year 2008 and fiscal year 2009. If 
this trend continues, it will likely have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  
   

On February 1, 2010 we completed the acquisition of Xenos, Inc. (“Xenos”) a publicly traded company headquartered in Ontario, Canada, 
and a market-leading provider of high-performance software solutions. The company’s solutions, based on the scalable Xenos Enterprise 
Server™ and its components, process, extract, transform, repurpose and personalize high volumes of data and documents for storage, real-time 
access, ePresentment, printing and delivery in numerous formats across multiple channels. We intend to enhance our current product offering by 
adding Xenos’s products and technology to our existing product line.  
   

The acquisition of Xenos was accomplished via a tender offer, at a purchase price of approximately Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 3.50 per 
share or CAD 37.7 million. The transaction was entirely settled by cash, was unanimously approved by Actuate and Xenos Boards of Directors 
on December 8, 2009, and reflects an enterprise value of Xenos of approximately CAD 28.4 million, net of Xenos cash balance. The transaction 
resulted in Actuate acquiring 95.2% of Xenos outstanding shares on February 1, 2010. The shares acquired by us are sufficient to permit us to 
acquire all remaining shares not tendered which we expect to complete in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. The acquisition was valued at 
approximately CAD 37.7 million and was funded using a combination of cash reserves and borrowings available under our existing credit 
facility with Wells Fargo Foothill (“WFF”) totaling $10.0 million. We also incurred approximately $500,000 in direct costs related to the 
acquisition as of December 31, 2009 and expect to incur additional direct costs related to the acquisition. These costs could include costs 
associated with restructuring of our operations.  
   

Our total headcount at the end of fiscal year 2009 was 497 compared to 533 employees at the end of last year. At February 1, 2010, Xenos 
had approximately 88 employees.  
   

Fiscal Year 2010  
   

A significant portion of our revenues have historically been derived from customers in the financial services industry. The Company 
expects that it will continue to derive a significant portion of its revenues from these financial services customers for the foreseeable future. 
Unfavorable economic conditions starting in late fiscal year 2007 have adversely impacted the financial services industry throughout fiscal year 
2009. If this trend continues into 2010, it will likely have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of 
operations.  
   

During fiscal year 2010, we expect three additional trends to continue that would have a significant impact on the results of our operations. 
We currently believe that corporate IT budgets will grow only modestly if at all in the fiscal year 2010 particularly among financial services 
companies in the United States. Second, corporations are reluctant to buy software from new vendors and we continue to witness corporations 
consolidating their Business Intelligence, Rich Internet Application and Performance Management software purchases with fewer suppliers. 
Finally, we expect to experience vigorous competition in the Rich Internet Applications market. Several of our competitors have released 
products that are marketed to be directly competitive with our Rich Information Applications offerings. The existence of these competitive 
products may require additional sales and marketing efforts to differentiate our products, which could result in extended sales cycles. We believe 
that competition in the Rich Internet Applications market will be vigorous in the near future.  
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For fiscal year 2010, we will continue to pursue the strategic initiatives to improve revenue growth that we began introducing in fiscal year 
2004 as well as an initiative related to Performance Management, which we introduced in fiscal year 2007. These initiatives are as follows:  
   

   

  
•   Selling to IT Management—We are re-focusing our sales efforts on selling our products to IT managers who we believe generally 

recognize the technical advantages of our products. We hope this initiative will result in increased license revenue in the short term.  

   

  
•   Solution Selling to Line-of-Business Management—We are creating Performance Management applications and software solutions to 

market to line-of-business managers. These offerings are in the areas of performance management and customer self service reporting. 
We hope these initiatives will result in increased license revenue over the medium-to-long term.  

   

  
•   Investing in BIRT—We are continuing to make a significant investment in creating a new open source business intelligence and 

reporting tool, known as BIRT. We hope that BIRT will eventually become widely adopted by Java developers and will create demand 
for our other commercially available products. The BIRT project is a long-term initiative.  

   

  

•   Selling to Global 9000 Corporations in the Financial Services Sector—We are continuing to focus on selling our products to Global 
9000 financial services companies in an effort to increase our substantive market share in this sector. We anticipate a negative impact 
of the ongoing credit crunch on the Financial Services sector in 2010. However, we believe that once the short term issues in Financial 
Services are resolved, the industry will once again lead in the adoption of Rich Information Applications both inside and outside the 
firewall.  

   
In addition to the above, in fiscal year 2010 we will initiate strategies involving the recent acquisition of Xenos Group. As part of Actuate’s 

product portfolio, the Xenos product family will continue to be fully supported and drive value for customers as it does in many applications 
today. The planned integration will enable new and existing customers to leverage both Xenos and Actuate technologies to efficiently address 
new challenges and deliver higher value.  
   

We plan to leverage Actuate’s BIRT technology and Rich Information Application platform to provide rich, interactive delivery and 
analysis of information sourced from documents and print streams accessed by Xenos products. The combined technologies will enable agile 
response to business demands without reworking existing infrastructure. The integration of Xenos product capabilities into Actuate’s enterprise–
class, highly scalable BIRT iServer product line will provide a new deployment option. This integration will enhance the existing Xenos 
Enterprise Server product that provides a unified, easy to manage platform for applications looking to integrate existing documents and print 
streams with the next generation information delivery and Business Intelligence capabilities provided by Actuate’s flagship BIRT iServer and 
BIRT technology.  
   

We have a limited ability to forecast future revenues and expenses, thus the prediction of future operating results is difficult. In addition, 
historical growth rates in our revenues and earnings should not be considered indicative of future revenue or earnings growth rates or operating 
results. There can be no assurance that any of our business strategies will be successful or that we will be able to achieve and maintain 
profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. It is possible that in some future quarter our operating results will be below the expectations of public 
market analysts and investors, and in such event the price of our common stock could decline.  
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•   Delivering a Highly Differentiated Performance Management Offering—We have combined Actuate BIRT Performance Scorecard 

applications and Actuate’s Rich Information Application-ready platform to provide capabilities for distributing accountability 
throughout the enterprise.  
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Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates  
   

General.     The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial 
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America. The 
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates, assumptions and judgments that can have a significant impact on the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our 
financial statements. We base our estimates, assumptions and judgments on historical experience and various other factors that we believe to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. On a regular basis 
we evaluate our estimates, assumptions and judgments and make changes accordingly. We believe that the estimates, assumptions and judgments 
involved in revenue recognition, allowances for doubtful accounts, stock-based compensation, accounting for income taxes, restructuring and 
integration costs, and the impairment of goodwill, have the greatest potential impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements, so we consider 
these to be our critical accounting policies.  
   

We discuss below the critical accounting estimates associated with these policies. Historically, our estimates, assumptions and judgments 
relative to our critical accounting policies have not differed materially from actual results. For further information on our significant accounting 
policies, see the discussion in Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
   

Revenue Recognition.     Actuate generates revenues from the sales of software licenses and related services. The Company receives 
software license revenues from licensing its products directly to end-users and indirectly through resellers, system integrators and original 
equipment manufacturers (OEMs). The Company receives service revenues from maintenance contracts, consulting services and training that 
Actuate performs for customers.  
   

Actuate recognizes revenues in accordance with authoritative guidance issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(“AICPA”) on revenue recognition. For sales to end-user customers, Actuate recognizes license revenues when a license agreement has been 
signed by both parties or a definitive agreement has been received from the customer, the product has been physically shipped or electronically 
made available, there are no unusual uncertainties surrounding the product acceptance, the fees are fixed or determinable, collectability is 
probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered elements of the arrangement. Vendor-
specific objective evidence of fair value of sales to end users is based on the price charged when an element is sold separately. Actuate has not 
established vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value for its licenses. Therefore, the Company recognizes revenues from arrangements 
with multiple elements involving software licenses under the residual method which means the full fair value is allocated to the undelivered 
elements while the remaining value of the arrangement is allocated to the delivered elements. If the license agreement contains payment terms 
that would indicate that the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenues are recognized as the payments become due and payable, assuming that all 
other revenue recognition criteria are met.  
   

Actuate enters into reseller and distributor arrangements that typically give such distributors and resellers the right to distribute its products 
to end-users headquartered in specified territories. Actuate recognizes license revenues from arrangements with U.S. resellers and distributors 
when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the reseller or distributor, the product has been shipped, the fees are fixed or 
determinable, and collectability is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered 
elements of the arrangement. Actuate recognizes license revenues from arrangements with international resellers and distributors upon receipt of 
evidence of sell-through and when all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. If it is not practical to obtain evidence of sell-through, 
the Company defers revenues until the end-user has been identified and cash has been received. In some instances there is a timing difference 
between when a reseller completes its sale to the end-user and the period in which Actuate receives the documentation required for revenue 
recognition.  
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Actuate also enters into OEM arrangements that provide for license fees based on the bundling or embedding of its products with the 
OEM’s products. These arrangements generally provide for fixed, irrevocable royalty payments. Actuate recognizes license fee revenues from 
U.S. and international OEM arrangements when a license agreement has been executed by both parties, the product has been shipped, there are 
no unusual uncertainties surrounding the product acceptance, the fees are fixed or determinable, collectability is probable and vendor-specific 
objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered elements of the arrangement.  
   

The Company typically establishes vendor specific objective evidence of fair value under a “bell-shaped curve” approach. However, for 
certain types of license transactions, including OEM and site licenses, the Company uses a “stated maintenance renewal” approach.  
   

Credit-worthiness and collectability for end-users are assessed based on payment history and current credit profile. When a customer is not 
deemed credit-worthy, revenues are deferred and recognized upon cash receipt.  
   

Actuate recognizes maintenance revenues, which consist of fees for ongoing support and unspecified product updates, ratably over the 
term of the contract, typically one year. Consulting revenues are primarily related to standard implementation and configuration. Training 
revenues are generated from classes offered at the Company’s headquarters and customer locations. Revenues from consulting and training 
services are typically recognized as the services are performed. When a contract includes both license and service elements, the license fee is 
typically recognized on delivery of the software, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met, provided services do not include 
significant customization or modification of the product and are not otherwise essential to the functionality of the software.  
   

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.     Our accounts receivable is subject to collection risks. Our gross accounts receivable is reserved 
against this risk through an allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance is for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers 
to make required payments. It is a significant estimate and is regularly evaluated by us for adequacy by taking into consideration a combination 
of factors. We look at factors such as past experience, credit quality of the customer, age of the receivable balance, and current economic 
conditions. These factors are reviewed to determine whether a specific reserve for bad debt should be recorded to reduce the related receivable to 
the amount believed to be collectible. We also cease recognizing future revenues on any outstanding domestic maintenance renewal invoices 
which are older than 90 days past due.  
   

We also record unspecified reserves for bad debt for all other customers based on a variety of factors, including length of time the 
receivables are past due and historical experience. A reserve percentage is applied to various aged categories of receivables based on historical 
experience to determine how much of an unspecified reserve is needed. The use of different estimates or assumptions could produce different 
allowance balances. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 
additional allowances might be required.  
   

Stock-based Compensation.     We recognize stock-based compensation expense over the service period for awards that are expected to 
vest based on the fair value measurement for all share-based payment awards made to our employees and directors, including employee stock 
options and employee stock purchases. We calculate the fair value of each stock option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model. The determination of fair value is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly 
complex and subjective variables. The use of a Black-Scholes-Merton model requires extensive actual employee exercise behavior data and a 
number of complex assumptions including expected life, expected volatility, risk-free interest rate and expected forfeiture rate. As a result, the 
future stock-based compensation expense may differ from our historical amounts. Our estimate of volatility is based upon the historical volatility 
experienced in our stock price. To the extent volatility of our stock price increases in the future, our estimates of the fair value of options granted 
in the future could increase, thereby increasing stock-based compensation  
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expense in future periods. In addition, we apply an expected forfeiture rate when amortizing stock-based compensation expense. Our estimate of 
the forfeiture rate is based primarily upon historical experience. To the extent we revise this estimate in the future our stock-based compensation 
expense could be materially impacted in the quarter of revision, as well as in following quarters. Our estimate of the expected term of options 
granted is derived from historical share option exercise experience. In the future, we may change our estimate of the expected term, which would 
impact the fair value of our options granted in the future.  
   

Income Taxes.     We provide for the effect of income taxes in our Consolidated Financial Statements using the asset and liability method 
which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in 
the financial statements. Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss 
and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in 
tax rates is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date. We also apply a two-step approach to determining the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions.  
   

Income tax expense or benefit is recognized for the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year, and for deferred tax assets 
and liabilities for the tax consequences of events that have been recognized in an entity’s financial statements or tax returns. We must make 
significant assumptions, judgments and estimates to determine our current provision (benefit) for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and 
liabilities and any valuation allowance to be recorded against our deferred tax assets. Our judgments, assumptions and estimates relating to the 
current provision (benefit) for income taxes include the geographic mix and amount of income (loss), our interpretation of current tax laws, and 
possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by foreign and domestic tax authorities. Our judgments also include anticipating the tax 
positions we will record in the financial statements before actually preparing and filing the tax returns. Our estimates and assumptions may differ 
from the actual results as reflected in our income tax returns and we record the required adjustments when they are identified or resolved. 
Changes in our business, tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws, and developments in current and future tax audits, could significantly impact 
the amounts provided for income taxes in our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.  
   

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to tax benefit carry-forwards and to 
differences between the financial statement amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. We regularly review our deferred tax 
assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not 
be realized. To make this assessment, we take into account predictions of the amount and category of taxable income from various sources and 
all available positive and negative evidence about these possible sources of taxable income. The weight given to the potential effect of negative 
and positive evidence is commensurate with the extent to which the strength of the evidence can be objectively verified. Based on the analysis of 
positive and negative factors noted above, we have no valuation allowance against deferred tax assets generated in the Company’s U.S. 
jurisdiction. We maintain a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets in foreign jurisdictions with a history of losses and a partial 
valuation allowance in foreign jurisdictions where operating results beyond a certain time frame are less reliable. If, in the future, we determine 
that these deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized, a release of all or part, of the related valuation allowance could result in an 
income tax benefit in the period such determination is made.  
   

We only recognize an income tax expense or benefit with respect to uncertain tax positions in our financial statements that we judge is 
more likely than not to be sustained solely on its technical merits in a tax audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation 
processes. To make this judgment, we must interpret complex and sometimes ambiguous tax laws, regulations and administrative practices. If an 
income tax position meets the more likely than not recognition threshold, then we must measure the amount of the tax benefit to be  
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recognized by determining the largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than a 50% likelihood of being realized upon effective settlement 
with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all of the relevant facts. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as 
this requires us to determine the probability of various possible settlement outcomes. To determine if a tax position is effectively settled, we 
must also estimate the likelihood that a taxing authority would review a tax position after a tax examination has otherwise been completed. We 
must also determine when it is reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the 
12 months after each fiscal year-end. These judgments are difficult because a taxing authority may change its behavior as a result of our 
disclosures in our financial statements. We must reevaluate our income tax positions on a quarterly basis to consider factors such as changes in 
facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled issues under audit, and new audit activity. Such a change in recognition or 
measurement would result in recognition of a tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision.  
   

Accrual for Restructuring Charges.     We incurred certain restructuring charges that were a combination of reductions in workforce, exits 
of idle facilities and disposals of fixed assets. These restructuring charges were based on actual and estimated costs incurred including estimates 
of sublease income on portions of our idle facilities that we periodically update based on market conditions and in accordance with our 
restructuring plans. These estimates of sublease income were not significant in fiscal years 2008 and 2009.  
   

Valuation of Goodwill .     We evaluate goodwill, at a minimum, on an annual basis and whenever events and changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Impairment of goodwill is tested at the reporting unit level by comparing the reporting 
unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill, to the fair value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair 
value, goodwill is considered impaired and a second step is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. Any such impairment 
charge could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our reported financial results. We completed our annual impairment test 
in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009 and determined that there was no impairment.  
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Results of Operations  
   

The following table sets forth certain Consolidated Statement of Income data as a percentage of total revenues for the periods indicated:  
   

   
Revenues  

   

   
Our revenues are derived from license fees and services, which include software maintenance and support, consulting, and training. We 

attribute a significant portion of the decline in our revenues to our professional services business, which decreased during fiscal year 2009 
compared to the prior year. This decrease was mainly due to a weak macro-economic environment which is causing some customers to either 
delay their projects or cancel their engagements. We believe some customers are opting to use in-house resources to complete previously 
outsourced projects. Another factor contributing to the decrease in the professional services revenues is the increase in the adoption of BIRT-
based projects by our customers which do not require professional service to the same extent as the Company’s traditional designer products. 
Our BIRT related business increased in fiscal year 2009 and is expected to grow in fiscal year 2010. Our license revenues have decreased in 
fiscal year 2009 primarily due to the unfavorable macro-economic conditions that continue to adversely impact the financial services industry; a 
key component of Actuate’s customer portfolio. Despite this challenging macro economic environment, our maintenance and support revenues 
have remained stable during fiscal year 2009.  
   

Revenues outside of North America decreased by 25% from $36.9 million in fiscal year 2008 to $27.5 million in fiscal year 2009. These 
international revenues represented 23% of our total revenues versus 28% in the  
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Year Ended  
December 31,   

   2009     2008     2007   
Revenues:         

License fees     30 %    31 %    38 %  
Maintenance     64      58      51    
Professional services and training     6      11      11    

     
  

    
  

    
  

Total revenues     100      100      100    
     

  
    

  
    

  

Costs and expenses:         

Cost of license fees     1      1      1    
Cost of services     15      18      18    
Sales and marketing     35      39      39    
Research and development     17      17      16    
General and administrative     17      14      13    
Amortization of other intangibles     1      1      1    
Restructuring charges     0      1      1    

     
  

    
  

    
  

Total costs and expenses     86      91      89    
     

  
    

  
    

  

Income from operations     14      9      11    
Interest income and other income, net     —        1      2    
Interest expense     (1 )    —        —      

     
  

    
  

    
  

Income before provision for taxes     13      10      13    
Provision for (benefit) from income taxes     3      (1 )    (1 )  

     
  

    
  

    
  

Net income     10 %    11 %    14 %  
     

  

    

  

    

  

Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$119,333    $130,990    $140,626    $(11,657)    (9)%    $(9,636)    (7)% 
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same period last year. This decrease in international revenues as a percentage of total revenues in fiscal year 2009 compared to the same period 
last year was primarily due to challenging macro-economic environments in Europe and Asia. Approximately $1.3 million of the decrease in 
international revenues was due to the unfavorable impact of exchange rate fluctuations on revenue transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies.  
   

For fiscal year 2009 we managed to close approximately 260 transactions in excess of $100,000 compared to 280 in fiscal year 2008. In 
addition, we recognized license revenue of $1.0 million or more on 7 transactions during fiscal year 2009 compared to 4 transactions in fiscal 
year 2008. The number of orders greater than $1.0 million has historically ranged from none to three per quarter. We do not expect to rely on any 
one customer for our future business.  
   

The decrease in total revenue for fiscal year 2008 compared to fiscal year 2007 was primarily due to lower demand for our products as a 
result of unfavorable economic conditions that began in late fiscal year 2007 and continue to adversely impact the financial services industry, a 
key component of our customer portfolio. As a result, license sales experienced a decline of approximately 25% over fiscal year 2007.  
   

In fiscal year 2008 as compared to fiscal year 2007, we experienced declines in license sales across most of our sales regions, including 
22% (or approximately $7.9 million) in North America and 31% (or approximately $5.2 million) outside North America. Professional services 
revenues decreased 11% and were primarily the result of the continued increase in the adoption of BIRT-based projects by our customers which 
do not result in professional service revenues to the same extent as the Company’s traditional designer products. Our BIRT-related business 
increased over the same period in fiscal year 2007.  
   

These decreases in license and consulting revenues were partially offset by an 8% or $5.4 million increase in maintenance and support 
revenues in fiscal year 2008 over the same period in fiscal year 2007. Of this increase in maintenance and support revenues, the majority was 
attributable to normal growth in support for our installed base.  
   

For fiscal year 2008 we managed to close 280 transactions in excess of $100,000 compared to 290 in fiscal year 2007. In addition, we 
recognized license revenue of $1.0 million or more on 4 transactions during fiscal year 2008 compared to 8 transactions in fiscal year 2007.  
   

No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our total revenues for any of the periods presented.  
   

License Revenue  
   

   
The 10% decrease in license revenues for fiscal year 2009 over the same period in the prior year was primarily due to weak macro 

economic conditions that continue to adversely impact the financial services industry, a key component of Actuate’s customer portfolio. We 
experienced most of this weakness in our international regions where software license revenues declined by 28% or approximately $3.2 million 
during fiscal year 2009 when compared to fiscal year 2008. During fiscal year 2009, we closed approximately 260 transactions in excess of 
$100,000 and seven transactions where we recognized license revenue in excess of $1.0 million. This compared to 280 transactions in excess of 
$100,000 and four transactions where we recognized license revenue in excess of $1.0 million in fiscal year 2008.  
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Year Ended December 31,     2008 to 2009     2008 to 2009  
2009     2008     2007     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  

(dollars in thousands) 

$36,146    $39,989    $53,216    $(3,843)    (10)%    $(13,227)    (25)% 
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The 25% decrease in license revenues for fiscal year 2008 over the same period in the prior year was also primarily due to weak macro 
economic conditions that began in late fiscal year 2007 and continue to adversely impact the financial services industry, a key component of 
Actuate’s customer portfolio. We experienced the sharpest decrease in license revenues over the previous fiscal year in Europe where software 
sales declined by 36% or approximately $5.4 million when compared to the same period last year. We also experienced a decrease in North 
America license sales of 22% or approximately $7.9 million from fiscal year 2007 to 2008.  
   

License Revenue by Region  
   

   
North America accounted for approximately 77% of the total license revenue while Europe and Asia Pacific regions combined accounted 

for 23% of the total license revenues for fiscal year 2009. For the same period last year, North America accounted for approximately 71% of the 
total license revenue while the Europe and Asia Pacific regions combined accounted for 29% of the total license revenues. Total license revenues 
were negatively impacted by approximately $340,000 due primarily to the strength of the U.S. dollar against the British Pound and the Euro. As 
a percentage of total revenues, license fee revenues decreased from 31% in the fiscal year 2008 to 30% in fiscal year 2009.  
   

North America accounted for approximately 71% of the total license revenue while Europe and Asia Pacific regions combined accounted 
for 29% of the total license revenues for fiscal year 2008. For the same period in fiscal year 2007, North America accounted for approximately 
69% of the total license revenue while the Europe and Asia Pacific regions combined accounted for 31% of the total license revenues. Total 
license revenues were positively impacted by approximately $110,000 due primarily to the strength of the Asian currencies against the U.S. 
dollar. As a percentage of total revenues, license fee revenues decreased from 38% in the fiscal year 2007 to 31% in fiscal year 2008.  
   

Services Revenue  
   

   
Services revenue is comprised of maintenance and support, professional services, and training. The 9% decrease in services revenues for 

the year was driven primarily by a 53% decrease in our professional services and consulting revenues. Our professional services revenues 
continue to decline mostly due to a weak macro-economic environment, which is causing some customers to either delay their projects or cancel 
their  
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(dollars in thousands)    Year Ended December 31,     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008   
     2009     2008     2007     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change   

North America     $ 27,932      $ 28,531      $ 36,503      $ (599 )    (2 )%    $ (7,972 )    (22 )%  
Europe       7,095        9,732        15,122        (2,637 )    (27 )%      (5,390 )    (36 )%  
APAC       1,119        1,726        1,591        (607 )    (35 )%      135      8 %  

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

    
  

      
  

    
  

Total license 
revenue     $ 36,146      $ 39,989      $ 53,216      $ (3,843 )    (10 )%    $ (13,227 )    (25 )%  

       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

    

  

      

  

    

  

Percentage of total 
revenue:       30 %      31 %      38 %          

(dollars in thousands)    Year Ended December 31,     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008   
     2009     2008     2007     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change   

Maintenance     $ 76,466      $ 76,695      $ 71,336      $ (229 )    —   %    $ 5,359      8 %  
Professional services 

& training       6,721        14,306        16,074        (7,585 )    (53 )%      (1,768 )    (11 )%  
       

  
      

  
      

  
      

  
    

  
      

  
    

  

Total services revenue     $ 83,187      $ 91,001      $ 87,410      $ (7,814 )    (9 )%    $ 3,591      4 %  
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

    

  

      

  

    

  

Percentage of total 
revenue:       70 %      69 %      62 %          
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engagements. We believe some customers are opting to use in-house resources to complete previously outsourced projects. Another factor 
contributing to the decrease in the professional services revenues is the increase in the adoption of BIRT-based projects by our customers, which 
do not require professional service to the same extent as the Company’s traditional designer products. Despite weakness in license sales, our 
maintenance renewal revenues remained stable in fiscal year 2009 as we secured several large compliance deals that included a back 
maintenance component. Also, in fiscal year 2009 we restructured our maintenance renewal group to allow for a stronger focus on maintenance 
renewal follow-up. Nevertheless, our revenue growth under this category was adversely affected in fiscal year 2009 by increases in declines for 
certain of our legacy products.  
   

The 4% increase in services revenues in fiscal year 2008 over fiscal year 2007 was driven by the growth in our maintenance and support 
revenues, which continued to increase in fiscal year 2008. The fourth quarter of 2007 included an unusually large $2.5 million maintenance 
catch-up transaction. Excluding this one time transaction for back maintenance, fiscal year 2008 maintenance revenue increased by 12% over 
fiscal year 2007. The increase in the installed base was evidenced by the fact that in fiscal year 2008 we were supporting a large percentage of 
the $53.2 million in licenses sold in fiscal year 2007, while our maintenance declination rate had remained consistent in fiscal year 2008 as we 
continued to experience steady renewal rates from our existing customers.  
   

Services Revenue by Region  
   

   
By region, North America accounted for approximately 77% of the total services revenue in fiscal year 2009 while Europe and Asia 

Pacific regions accounted for 20% and 3% of the total services revenues, respectively. By region, Europe accounted for the sharpest decrease in 
services revenues for 2009. These decreases were due primarily to weakness in the macro-economic environment. For the same period last year, 
North America accounted for approximately 72% of the total services revenue while the Europe and Asia Pacific regions accounted for 25% and 
3% of the total services revenues, respectively. Services margins improved from 74% in fiscal year 2008, to 79% in fiscal year 2009. This 
improvement was mostly the result of the shift in product mix, which reflected a higher percentage of maintenance and support revenue in the 
fiscal year 2009 than in fiscal year 2008. Maintenance and support typically carries a higher margin than professional services. Also, the lower 
professional services revenues resulted in cost reductions in our professional services group that were implemented during the second half of 
fiscal year 2008 and throughout fiscal year 2009.  
   

The decrease in professional services revenues in fiscal year 2008 compared to fiscal year 2007 was primarily the result of the increase in 
the adoption of BIRT-based projects by our customers which do not require professional service to the same extent as the Company’s traditional 
designer products.  
   

By region, Europe accounted for the highest increase in services revenues for 2008. These increases were due primarily to the growth in 
our installed base of customers under maintenance plans in that region.  
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(dollars in thousands)    Year Ended December 31,     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008   
     2009     2008     2007     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change   

North America     $ 63,910      $ 65,578      $ 66,106      $ (1,668 )    (3 )%    $ (528 )    (1 )%  
Europe       16,638        22,747        18,717        (6,109 )    (27 )%      4,030      22 %  
APAC       2,639        2,676        2,587        (37 )    (1 )%      89      3 %  

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

    
  

      
  

    
  

Total services revenue     $ 83,187      $ 91,001      $ 87,410      $ (7,814 )    (9 )%    $ 3,591      4 %  
       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

    

  

      

  

    

  

Percentage of total 
revenue:       70 %      69 %      62 %          
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Costs and Expenses  
   

Cost of License Fees  
   

   
Cost of license fees consists primarily of salaries, production costs including printing and packaging, amortization of purchased 

technologies, third party royalty fees and localization costs. The decrease in cost of license fees in absolute dollars for fiscal year 2009 compared 
to the corresponding period in the prior year was due primarily to the full amortization of purchased technologies in fiscal year 2008 associated 
with our December 2005 purchase of third party source code.  
   

The decreases in cost of license fees in absolute dollars for fiscal year 2008, compared to the prior year, was due primarily to full 
amortization of purchased technologies totaling approximately $340,000 in fiscal year 2008 relating to our acquisition of Nimble Technologies, 
which was acquired in fiscal year 2003.  
   

We expect our cost of license fees as a percentage of revenues from license fees to gradually increase in future periods primarily as a result 
of the straight line amortization of purchased technology associated with the acquisition of Xenos in February of 2010. Excluding the acquisition 
of Xenos, we expect our cost of license fees, as a percentage of revenues from license fees, to remain between 2% and 4% of revenues from 
license fees for fiscal year 2010.  
   

Cost of Services  
   

   
Cost of services consists primarily of personnel and related costs, stock-based compensation, facilities costs incurred in providing software 

maintenance and support, training and consulting services, as well as third-party costs incurred in providing training and consulting services.  
   

The decrease in cost of services for fiscal year 2009, compared to the prior year, was primarily due to the decrease in consulting revenues 
as demand for Actuate’s professional services engagements continued to decrease during fiscal year 2009. In response to this decrease in 
services engagement opportunities, we reduced our cost structure during the second half of fiscal year 2008 and continued these reductions 
throughout fiscal year 2009. Consequently, we reduced our professional consulting headcount by approximately 33% or 16 employees from 49 
at the end of fiscal year 2008 to 33 employees at end of fiscal year 2009. As a result of these reductions, employee compensation and travel costs 
decreased by approximately $1.6 million during fiscal year 2009. Third party consulting fees also decreased by approximately $1.8 million in 
fiscal year 2009 compared to the same period last year. This was a direct result of an intentional reduction in the use of external contractors to 
staff engagements. Finally, during fiscal year 2009 internal costs allocated to the services group decreased by approximately $1.8 million, 
primarily due to a 53% decrease in consulting revenues and reduced headcount in the services group.  
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Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$934    $1,396    $1,997    $(462)    (33)%    $(601)    (30)% 
                                

(Percent of license revenue)                     

3%    3%    4%             

Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$17,843    $23,330    $24,927    $(5,487)    (24)%    $(1,597)    (6)% 
                                

(Percent of services revenue)                     

21%    26%    28%             
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The decrease in cost of services in fiscal year 2008 as compared to fiscal year 2007 was primarily driven by a 23% decrease in our 
consulting headcount which consequently resulted in reductions in employee salaries, associated benefits and employee travel costs totaling 
approximately $1.5 million. This decrease was primarily driven by the decrease in professional services revenues caused by the adoption of 
BIRT-based projects by our customers and the movement of previously outsourced projects in-house. BIRT-based projects do not generate 
professional service revenues to the same extent as the Company’s traditional designer products. We also realized reductions in facilities related 
charges of approximately $300,000 due partially to the closure of our service facility in Iselin, New Jersey in the second half of fiscal year 2007. 
These reductions were offset by an approximately $200,000 increase in third party consulting fees as demand for Actuate’s professional services 
engagements during the first half of fiscal year 2008 exceeded the supply of in-house consultants.  
   

We currently expect cost of services to increase in fiscal year 2010 in line with the anticipated increase in service revenues associated with 
our acquisition of Xenos in February 2010. Excluding the acquisition of Xenos, we expect our cost of services expenses as a percentage of total 
services revenues to be in the range of 20% to 25% of total services revenues for fiscal year 2010.  
   

Sales and Marketing  
   

   
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and bonuses earned by sales and marketing personnel, stock-

based compensation, promotional expenses, travel, entertainment and facility costs.  
   

For fiscal year 2009, the decrease in sales and marketing expenses compared to the corresponding period in the prior year was primarily 
due to reductions in employee related expenses. Salaries, sales commissions, and stock-based compensation and employee travel combined to 
account for approximately $7.7 million of the decrease in fiscal year 2009 expenses. These reductions were mostly due to the drop in license 
revenues, which translated into lower sales commissions. Our sales and marketing headcount also decreased by 8%, or 12 employees, from 160 
at the end of fiscal year 2008 to 148 at the end of fiscal year 2009. Our lower headcount also resulted in a reduction in recruiting fees of 
approximately $400,000. We also continued our ongoing efforts to streamline our processes and lower expenses. Because of this, our annual 
Corporate kickoff and sales training expenses were significantly lower in the current fiscal year as compared to fiscal year 2008. Marketing 
programs decreased by approximately $770,000 in fiscal year 2009 as compared to the same period last year as we combined the Actuate 
International User Conference (AIUC) with our annual sales kick-off events into one. Finally, we reversed approximately $200,000 in legal fees 
as a result of a case settlement related to the fiscal year 2008 employee termination in one our European sales divisions.  
   

For fiscal year 2008, the decrease in sales and marketing expenses compared to the corresponding period in the prior year was primarily 
due to decreases in salaries, sales commissions and employee travel of approximately $5.0 million due to lower software sales and reductions in 
headcount. Total sales and marketing headcount decreased from 197 at December 31, 2007 to 160 at December 31, 2008. These decreases were 
partially offset by an increase of approximately $1.1 million in marketing expenses driven by webinars, direct marketing, and tradeshows. In 
fiscal year 2008, we also recorded approximately $420,000 in accrued legal fees related to a one-time employee termination charge as a result of 
the termination of a sales employee in our European division.  
   

45  

Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$41,747    $51,830    $55,312    $(10,083)    (19)%    $(3,482)    (6)% 
                                

(Percent of total revenue)                     

35%    39%    39%             
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We currently expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2010 primarily due to our recent 
acquisition of Xenos in February 2010. Excluding the acquisition of Xenos, we expect our sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total 
revenues to be in the range of 34% to 39% of total revenues for fiscal year 2010.  
   

Research and Development  
   

   
Research and development costs are expensed as incurred and consist primarily of personnel and related costs associated with the 

development of new products, the enhancement of existing products, quality assurance and testing.  
   

The decrease in research and development expenses in fiscal year 2009 was primarily attributed to employee compensation and related 
costs. Total worldwide research and development headcount decreased by 7 employees from 155 at the end of fiscal year 2008 to 148 at the end 
of fiscal year 2009. Also, during fiscal year 2008, we shifted a portion of our research and development headcount away from North America 
where employee costs are higher and into China, where employee costs are significantly lower. The benefit of this shift was fully realized in 
fiscal year 2009.  
   

The increase in research and development expenses in fiscal year 2008, compared to the corresponding period in the prior year, was 
attributed to employee compensation and related costs driven mainly by annual salary adjustments and stock compensation expense. Our 
headcount remained comparable at 155 at the end of fiscal year 2008 compared to 159 at the end of fiscal year 2007. This increase in employee 
compensation expense was partially offset by decreases in facilities related charges due partially to the consolidation of our Vienna, Virginia 
facilities into one location and lower fees paid to external contractors.  
   

We believe that continued investments in technology and product development are essential for us to remain competitive in the markets we 
serve, and we expect research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2010 due to our recent acquisition of 
Xenos in February of 2010. Excluding the acquisition of Xenos, we expect our research and development expenses as a percentage of total 
revenues to be in the range of 16% to 19% for fiscal year 2010.  
   

General and Administrative  
   

   
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, stock-based compensation and related costs in finance, human 

resources, legal and tax functions, as well as audit and legal fees and bad debt expense. The increase in general and administrative expenses in 
fiscal year 2009 compared to fiscal year 2008  
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Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$20,267    $22,035    $21,826    $(1,768)    (8)%    $209    1% 
                                

(Percent of total revenue)                     

17%    17%    16%             

Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$20,315    $18,470    $17,784    $1,845    10%    $686    4% 
                                

(Percent of total revenue)                     

17%    14%    13%             
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are primarily due to increased legal fees of approximately $3.0 million due mostly to contract compliance matters pursued during the year. We 
also incurred approximately $500,000 of legal fees associated with the acquisition of Xenos which were mostly incurred during the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2009. These increases were partially offset by a reduction of approximately $980,000 in employee compensation, benefits 
and recruiting fees due to reduced headcount which decreased from 107 at fiscal year 2008 to 100 at the end of fiscal year 2009. We also 
benefited from a business tax refund of approximately $400,000 in China during the year.  
   

The increase in general and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2008 compared to fiscal year 2007 was mainly due to increased salaries 
and stock-based compensation expense of approximately $1.1 million due primarily to annual salary adjustments and a 5% increase in headcount 
over the same period last year. We also experienced increases in legal and corporate advisory fees totaling approximately $480,000 in fiscal year 
2008 related to advice regarding strategic alternatives. These increases were partially offset by approximately $500,000 in lower general 
accounting, tax and professional consulting services driven by lower SOX compliance costs. In addition, in fiscal year 2008, we experienced 
approximately $300,000 lower costs for strategic consulting services in support of our BIRT initiative.  
   

We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars in fiscal year 2010 due to our recent acquisition of 
Xenos in February of 2010 and contract compliance matters. Excluding the acquisition of Xenos, we expect our general and administrative 
expenses as a percentage of total revenues to be in the range of 14% to 18% for fiscal year 2010.  
   

Amortization of Purchased Intangibles  
   

   
In accordance with the authoritative guidance issued by FASB related to goodwill and other intangible assets, we perform a goodwill 

impairment test at least annually, which we complete on October 1 of each year. These annual impairment tests have not resulted in an 
impairment of recorded goodwill in fiscal year 2009, 2008 or 2007.  
   

The amortization expense is lower in fiscal year 2009 as some intangibles related to our prior acquisitions were fully amortized at the end 
fiscal year 2008.  
   

For each year ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 we recorded $948,000 for the amortization of other purchased intangibles. These costs 
represent the amortization of the intangibles associated with the acquisition of performancesoft on a straight-line basis.  
   

We expect the estimated amortization expense related to other purchased intangible assets to increase in future periods due to the 
acquisition of Xenos in the February of 2010.  
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Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$680    $948    $948    $(268)    (28)%    —      —   
                                

(Percent of total revenue)                     

1%    1%    1%             
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Restructuring charges  
   

   
Historically, restructuring charges have included costs associated with reductions in workforce, exits of idle facilities and disposals of fixed 

assets. These restructuring charges were based on actual and estimated costs incurred including estimates of sublease income on portions of our 
idle facilities that we periodically update based on market conditions and in accordance with our restructuring plans.  
   

During the first half of fiscal year 2009 we incurred $83,000 in legal fees related to a previous restructuring which involved the 
terminations of former employees in one of our European subsidiaries. We also incurred approximately $28,000 in additional charges related to 
prior facility closures in North America. These charges were based on actual and estimated costs incurred including estimates of sublease income 
on portions of our idle facilities that we periodically update based on market conditions and in accordance with our restructuring plans.  
   

During the second half of fiscal year 2009 we implemented restructuring actions that resulted in aggregate charges of $408,000 and 
elimination of 12 positions worldwide, across all levels within the sales organization. During the second half of fiscal year 2009 we also 
recorded a $171,000 reduction to our idle facilities reserves due to a change in the estimated sublease income for the Vienna, Virginia facility 
and true-ups of operating expenses associated with our idle South San Francisco facility.  
   

During the first half of fiscal year 2008, we recorded facility related restructuring charges totaling $271,000. These charges primarily 
related to lease exit costs associated with our South San Francisco facility; the closure of one of the three floors in our Toronto, Canada facility 
and the consolidation of our Vienna, Virginia facilities into one location. We also incurred approximately $132,000 in legal fees related to a 
previous restructuring which involved the terminations of former employees in one of our European subsidiaries.  
   

In order to size the operations to meet the expected business and economic environment, we also implemented a restructuring plan during 
the second half of fiscal year 2008 to eliminate 46 positions held by Actuate employees primarily in North America. This restructuring impacted 
all functional areas. The reduction in force was completed in fiscal year 2008. The restructuring plan also resulted in the recognition of costs 
related to the consolidation of facilities, the cancellation of certain contracts and the write-off of fixed assets located at facilities that have been 
vacated.  
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Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 
$348    $1,506    $1,686    $(1,158)    (77)%    $(180)    (11)% 

                                

(Percent of total revenue)                     

—  %    1%    1%             
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The following table summarizes the restructuring accrual activity for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 (in 
thousands):  
   

   
Adjustments reflect the impact of foreign currency translation.  

   
Interest Income and Other Income, Net  

   

   
Interest and other income, net, is comprised primarily of interest income earned by us on our cash and short-term investments, foreign 

currency exchange gains and losses, interest expense incurred on our debt facility, as well as other various charges or income which are not 
derived from our normal operations.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2009, the decrease in interest income was due to an overall decrease in interest rates and lower average 
cash balances. The rate of return on our investment portfolio dropped significantly in 2009. Although cash and investments balance was higher at 
the end fiscal year 2009 it was lower on average during the span of the year. This is because we used $30.0 million of cash to pay for the tender 
offer at the end fiscal year 2008 and spent another $10.0 million on share buybacks during the year. During fiscal year 2009, we experienced 
foreign exchange losses due primarily to continued devaluation of the British Pound, the  
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Severance 

 
& Benefits     

Facility  
Related     Total   

Balance at December 31, 2006     $ 450      $ 10,208      $ 10,658    
Restructuring charges       —          1,686        1,686    
Cash payments       —          (4,967 )      (4,967 )  
Loss on disposal of assets       —          (244 )      (244 )  
Adjustments       14        (9 )      5    
Rents collected on the sublease       —          1,669        1,669    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2007       464        8,343        8,807    
Restructuring charges       1,101        405        1,506    
Cash payments       (1,027 )      (4,666 )      (5,693 )  
Adjustments       23        (66 )      (43 )  
Rents collected on the sublease       —          1,721        1,721    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2008       561        5,737        6,298    
Restructuring charges       491        (143 )      348    
Cash payments       (623 )      (4,225 )      (4,848 )  
Adjustments       (14 )      3        (11 )  
Rents collected on the sublease       —          1,631        1,631    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2009       415        3,003        3,418    
Less: Current portion       (415 )      (2,381 )      (2,796 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Long-term balance at December 31, 2009     $ —        $ 622      $ 622    
       

  

      

  

      

  

(dollars in thousands)    Year Ended December 31,     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008   
     2009     2008     2007     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change   

Interest income     $ 942      $ 2,232      $ 3,404      $ (1,290 )    (58 )%    $ (1,172 )    (34 )%  
Foreign exchange (loss)      (849 )      (1,662 )      (289 )      813      49 %      (1,373 )    (475 )%  
Other income, net     $ 201        331        196        (130 )    (39 )%      135      69 %  

       
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

    
  

      
  

    
  

Total interest income and 
other income, net     $ 294      $ 901      $ 3,311      $ (607 )    (67 )%    $ (2,410 )    (73 )%  

       

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

    

  

      

  

    

  

Interest expense     $ (1,404 )    $ (116 )    $ (156 )    $ (1,288 )    1,110 %    $ 40      (26 )%  
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Euro and the U.S. Dollar currency balances held by our Swiss subsidiary against the Swiss Franc. The revaluation of these currency amounts 
held in Switzerland to Swiss Francs is a required procedure in consolidating and reporting the financial results of our European operations. We 
also recorded interest expense totaling approximately $1.1 million in fiscal year 2009 on the utilized portion of our credit facility with WFF, 
which was signed in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008. During fiscal year 2009, we also recorded unused line fees and amortization of debt 
issuance costs of approximately $279,000.  
   

For the year ended December 31, 2008, the decrease in interest income was due primarily to a lower weighted average interest rate on our 
investments resulting in a decrease in interest income. We incurred foreign exchange losses that were primarily the result of sharp devaluations 
of the British Pound, the Euro and the U.S. Dollar currencies held by our Swiss subsidiary against the Swiss Franc mainly during the first half of 
fiscal year 2008. The revaluation of these currency amounts held in Switzerland to Swiss Francs is a required procedure in consolidating and 
reporting the financial results of our European operations.  
   

We expect interest and other income to decrease in fiscal year 2010 due to the fact that a significant cash outlay was required to close our 
acquisition of Xenos in February 2010. We also expect to incur higher interest charges under the credit facility with WFF as an additional $10.0 
million was drawn down in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010 to fund the acquisition of Xenos.  
   

Provision for (Benefit) from Income Taxes  
   

   
The provision in income taxes represents primarily Federal, State and foreign taxes as adjusted for the impact of operating losses utilized, 

income tax credits benefited and the reversal or establishment of reserves. The provision for income taxes of $3.9 million, the benefit for income 
taxes of $1.3 million and the benefit for income taxes of $863,000 is based on pretax income of $16.1 million, $12.5 million and $19.3 million in 
fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The increase in the tax provision in fiscal year 2009 compared to fiscal year 2008 was primarily 
due to the significant increase in U.S. profit before tax. The increase in the benefit for income taxes in fiscal year 2008 compared to fiscal year 
2007 was primarily due to the tax benefit expected on the U.S. income tax returns for write off of the investment in and specific loans related to 
the tax liquidation of a foreign subsidiary. Additionally, there was a decrease in the provision for income taxes due to a $1.3 million and $6.8 
million benefit from the decrease in the valuation allowance in fiscal year 2008 and fiscal year 2007, respectively. The decrease in the valuation 
allowance in fiscal year 2008 was the result of changes to our foreign deferred tax assets due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, 
foreign tax rates and the expected utilization of specific deferred tax assets. Without the write off from the liquidation of the foreign subsidiary 
or the benefit from the decrease in the valuation allowance, there would have been an increase in the provision for income taxes in fiscal year 
2008. The decrease in the valuation allowance in fiscal year 2007 was the result of management’s determination that it was “more likely than 
not” that the deferred assets would be realized after weighing the applicable positive and negative evidence.  
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Year Ended December 31,     $ Change     % Change     $ Change     % Change  
2009     2008     2007     2008 to 2009     2007 to 2008  

(dollars in thousands) 

$3,910    $(1,318)    $(863)    $5,228    397%    $(455)    (53)% 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  
   

Our sources of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments are funds generated from our business operations and funds that may be 
drawn down under our credit facility. The following sections discuss changes in our balance sheet and cash flows, and other commitments on our 
liquidity and capital resources during fiscal year 2009. This data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.  
   

   
Summary of our cash flows:  

   

   
Fiscal year 2009  

   

(dollars in thousands)    
Fiscal  
2009    

% Change  
2008 to 2009     

Fiscal  
2008    

% Change  
2007 to 2008     

Fiscal  
2007 

Cash, cash equivalents and investments     $ 75,531    29 %    $ 58,441    (15 )%    $ 68,415 
Working capital       54,114    161 %      20,701    (62 )%      54,045 
Stockholders’  equity and non-controlling interest       76,019    35 %      56,248    (44 )%      100,973 

(dollars in thousands)    
Fiscal  
2009     

Fiscal  
2008     

Fiscal  
2007   

Net cash provided by operating activities     $ 17,833      $ 29,841      $ 22,854    
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities       10,242        11,021        (26,558 )  
Net cash used in financing activities       (379 )      (36,045 )      (6,435 )  
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents       705        (1,513 )      494    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     $ 28,401      $ 3,304      $ (9,645 )  
       

  

      

  

      

  

Cash flows from operating activities:     Net cash provided by operating activities of $17.8 million for fiscal year 2009, was primarily 
comprised of net income plus the net effect of non-cash expenses. The primary working capital sources of cash were net income coupled with 
increases in deferred revenue, and changes in operating assets driven by timing differences in prepaid expenses and other current assets and 
liabilities. The increase in deferred revenues was primarily due to several transactions that were recorded and billed at the end of fiscal year 2009 
as well as several multi-year maintenance renewal billings for which we were able to obtain customer commitment and invoice in advance. 
Despite an economic downturn, our maintenance revenues have remained steady and have comprised over 60% of our total revenues in fiscal 
year 2009. Based on these factors, we believe that future proceeds from the maintenance renewals will be the primary source of our operating 
cash flows.  
   

We expect cash provided by operating activities to fluctuate in future periods as a result of a number of factors, including the timing of our 
billings and collections, our operating results, the timing and amount of tax and other liability payments and cash used to fund any future 
acquisitions.  
   

Accounts Receivable, net  
   

   
In order to fund our on-going operations, we rely heavily on timely collections of our accounts receivable. Our accounts receivable and 

Days Sales Outstanding (DSO) are primarily driven by our billing and collections activities. Based on the latest fiscal quarter, our DSO was 
98 days at December 31, 2009 and 78 days for the same period last year. The increase in DSO along with an increase in accounts receivable 
balance primarily relates to several transactions recorded and billed at the end of fiscal year 2009 as well as a stronger focus on maintenance 
renewal follow up by our maintenance renewal group that resulted in acceleration of billings at the  
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December 31, 2009     
December 31, 

2008    $ Change    % Change 

$ 33,176    $ 28,017    5,159    18% 
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end of fiscal year 2009. We also continue to closely monitor the credit quality and payment history of our existing and new customers to better 
identify and minimize, in advance, the risk of our customers’ potential inability to make required payments.  
   

The primary uses of cash from operations consist of salaries, commissions and bonuses paid to our employees. We pay our employees on a 
semi-monthly basis and we generally pay our vendors within one month from receiving an invoice for services rendered. We are also 
contractually committed to pay rent and facility related charges in support of our worldwide operations. As of December 31, 2009, we remained 
contractually committed to $11.2 million in net operating lease obligations related to our worldwide facilities. The majority of these 
commitments are due within the next five years.  
   

Cash flows from investing activities:     The changes in cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to the timing of purchases, 
maturities and sales of our investments in marketable securities. We also use cash to invest in capital and other assets to support our growth. Net 
cash provided by investing activities was $10.2 million in fiscal year 2009 compared to cash provided of $11.0 million for the same period last 
year. The decrease in cash used primarily relates to the timing of purchases and maturities of marketable securities. Our capital expenditures for 
the past two years have primarily consisted of leasehold improvements related to our headquarter facility in San Mateo, California and software 
costs associated with our internal customer portal project. We currently do not foresee material cash outlays associated with capital projects in 
the coming fiscal year and expect to see lowered cash payments associated with these activities.  
   

Cash flows from financing activities:     The changes in cash flows from financing activities primarily relate to stock repurchases and 
proceeds from stock option exercise activity. Net cash used in financing activities was $379,000 in fiscal year 2009 compared to $36.0 million 
used during the same period last year. This change was primarily due to lower stock buy backs, as we repurchased approximately 1.8 million 
shares for approximately $10.0 million in fiscal year 2009 while in fiscal year 2008 we repurchased approximately 19.8 million shares at cost of 
approximately $72.7 million. The costs associated with these share buy backs in fiscal year 2008 were partially offset by the proceeds from the 
credit facility that was used to fund the share buy backs. These cash outflows during fiscal year 2009 were partially offset by increased proceeds 
from the exercise of employee stock options and corresponding tax benefits associated with such exercises.  
   

Despite a challenging economic environment, we remain focused on increasing our cashflows from operations and improving our 
operating margins and profitability. The current economic uncertainties have reduced our visibility in forecasting our future license revenues, 
from which we largely depend on achieving these goals. As visibility associated with these future license revenues remain limited, we may, from 
time to time, rely on cost cutting and swift resizing measures to achieve our objective of growth in operating cashflows, operating margins and 
profitability.  
   

In early November of 2008, we entered into a revolving Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Foothill and secured a revolving line of credit 
in the principal amount of up to $50.0 million. During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2008, we used $30.0 million of our cash along with $30.0 
million of funds available through this credit facility to complete a $60.0 million common stock buy back. As of December 31, 2009, we owed 
$30.0 million on the credit facility. An additional $10.0 million was also used in February 2010 from this credit facility to fund the acquisition of 
Xenos Group, Inc. which was completed on February 1, 2010.  
   

There are no minimum pay-down requirements under the terms of this credit facility so long as the Company remains in compliance with 
the terms of the Credit Agreement. Readers should refer to Note 7 of these consolidated financial statements for additional information related to 
the Company’s revolving line of credit.  
   

Similarly, the Credit Agreement includes limitations on the Company’s ability to incur debt, grant liens, make acquisitions, make certain 
restricted payments such as dividend payments, and dispose of assets. The events of default under the Credit Agreement include payment 
defaults, cross defaults with certain other  
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indebtedness, breaches of covenants and bankruptcy events. In the case of a continuing event of default, the lenders under the Credit Agreement 
may, among other remedies, eliminate their commitments to make credit available, declare due all unpaid principal amounts outstanding, and 
require cash collateral for any letter of credit obligations and foreclose on all collateral which will have a material adverse effect on our business, 
operating results and financial conditions.  
   

In November 2008, the Company elected to participate in a rights offering by UBS, the Company’s investment broker, which provides 
Actuate with rights (the “Put Option”) to sell UBS its ARS portfolio at the $16.5 million par value, at any time during a two-year sale period 
beginning June 30, 2010. By electing to participate in the rights offering, the Company granted UBS the right, exercisable at any time prior to 
June 30, 2010 or during the two-year sale period, to purchase or cause the sale of our ARS (the “Call Right”). UBS has stated that it will only 
exercise the Call Right for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions that will provide their clients with par value for their 
ARS. UBS has agreed to pay their clients the par value of their ARS within one day of settlement of any Call Right transaction. Notwithstanding 
the Call Right, the Company is permitted to sell ARS to parties other than UBS, in which case the Put Option attached to the ARS that are sold 
would be extinguished. At December 31, 2009, the Company has valued the Put Option at the approximate present value of the difference 
between the fair market value and the par value of the ARS.  
   

At December 31, 2009, the Company has classified the ARS and the related Put Option as current investments on its Consolidated Balance 
Sheet. This classification was based on the intent and ability of the Company to sell the ARS back to UBS as soon as the Put Option allows, 
which is currently expected to be June 30, 2010.  
   

We hold our cash, cash equivalents and investments primarily in the United States, Switzerland, and Singapore. As of December 31, 2009, 
we held an aggregate of approximately $55.7 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments in the United States and an aggregate 
of $19.8 million in foreign accounts. Funds in foreign accounts are primarily generated from revenue outside North America and are used to 
fund oversea operations.  
   

We expect cash provided by operating activities to fluctuate in future periods as a result of a number of factors, including timing of our 
billings and collections, our operating results, the timing and amount of tax and other liability payments and cash used in any future acquisitions. 
   
Acquisition of Xenos  
   

On February 1, 2010 we completed the acquisition of Xenos, a Canadian based software provider specializing in data and document 
solutions, for approximately CAD 3.50 per share in cash. The transaction, which was unanimously approved by the Actuate and Xenos Boards of 
Directors, placed Xenos at an enterprise value of approximately CAD 28.4 million. The transaction which was achieved through a tender offer, 
closed on February 1, 2010, with Actuate acquiring 95.2% of Xenos outstanding shares. The shares acquired by Actuate are sufficient to permit 
Actuate to acquire all remaining shares not tendered which we expect to complete in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. The acquisition was 
funded using a combination of cash and borrowings under our existing credit facility totaling approximately CAD 37.7 million. We incurred 
approximately $500,000 in direct costs related to the acquisition as of December 31, 2009 and expect to incur additional direct costs related to 
the acquisition including costs associated with restructuring our operations.  
   

Fiscal year 2008  
   

Cash flows from operating activities:     Cash provided by operations is dependent primarily upon collection of monies from our license 
and maintenance agreements which consist of software fees and for ongoing support and unspecified product updates. Our maintenance revenues 
have remained robust over the past five years and have increased from 43% of total revenues or $45.4 million in fiscal year 2004 to 59% of total 
revenues or $76.7  
   

53  



Table of Contents  

million in fiscal year 2008. Historically, the maintenance renewal rates have been strong. Based on these factors, we believe that future proceeds 
from the maintenance renewals will be the primary source of our operating cash flows.  
   

In order to fund our on-going operations, we rely heavily on timely collections of our revenue stream. We therefore continue to place 
emphasis on our collection efforts as indicated by reductions in the days sales outstanding (“DSO”) in trade receivables which decreased from 91 
days at the end of fiscal year 2007 to 78 days at the end of fiscal year 2008. We also continue to closely monitor the credit quality and payment 
history of our existing and new customers to better identify and minimize, in advance, the risk of our customers’ potential inability to make 
required payments.  
   

The primary uses of cash from operations consist of salaries, commissions and bonuses paid to our employees. We pay our employees on a 
semi-monthly basis and we generally pay our vendors within one month from receiving an invoice for services rendered. We are also 
contractually committed to pay rent and facility related charges in support of our worldwide operations. As of December 31, 2008, we remained 
contractually committed to $11.2 million in net operating lease obligations related to our worldwide facilities. The majority of these 
commitments are due within the next five years.  
   

Cash flows from investing activities:     The changes in cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to the timing of purchases, 
maturities and sales of our investments in marketable securities. We also use cash to invest in capital and other assets to support our growth. Net 
cash provided by investing activities was $11.0 million in the fiscal year 2008 compared to cash used of $26.6 million during fiscal year 2007. 
The increase in cash provided from investing activities primarily relates to the timing of purchases and maturities of marketable securities. Our 
capital expenditures for the past two years have primarily consisted of leasehold improvements related to our headquarter facility in San Mateo, 
California and software costs associated with our internal customer portal project. We currently do not foresee material cash outlays associated 
with capital projects in the coming fiscal year and expect to see lowered cash payments associated with these activities.  
   

Cash flows from financing activities:     Cash used in financing activities was $36.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 
compared to $6.4 million used during the same period in fiscal year 2007. This increase in cash used was primarily the result of the repurchase of 
approximately 19.8 million shares at cost of approximately $72.7 million. The cost of the share repurchase in fiscal year 2008 was partially paid 
from proceeds from the WFF credit facility that was used to fund the share buybacks. These cash outflows during fiscal year 2008 were also 
partially offset by increased proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and corresponding tax benefits associated with the exercise of 
employee stock options.  
   

We hold our cash, cash equivalents and investments primarily in the United States, Switzerland, and Singapore. As of December 31, 2008, 
we held an aggregate of approximately $44.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and investments in the United States and an aggregate of 
$14.4 million in foreign accounts. Funds in foreign accounts are primarily generated from revenue outside North America and are used to fund 
oversea operations.  
   

We expect cash provided by operating activities to fluctuate in future periods as a result of a number of factors, including timing of our 
billings and collections, our operating results, the timing and amount of tax and other liability payments and cash used in any future acquisitions. 
   

Fiscal year 2007  
   

Cash flows from operating activities:     Cash provided by operating activities for fiscal year 2007, of $22.9 million was primarily 
comprised of net income, net of non-cash related expenses. The primary working capital source of cash was an increase in deferred revenue due 
primarily to continued increase in maintenance and support obligations. We also experienced an increase in deferred rent due to six months of 
rent holiday extending  
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through March of 2008 and approximately $600,000 of lease incentives associated with our headquarter facility in San Mateo, California. 
Working capital uses of cash included payments made on restructured facilities. Our primary source of operating cash flows is the collection of 
accounts receivable from our customers, including maintenance which is typically billed annually in advance. Our trade receivables increased by 
approximately 24% due to increased revenue and increase in the days sales outstanding (“DSO”) in trade receivables from 82 days at the end of 
fiscal year 2006 to 91 days at the end of fiscal year 2007. We also experienced a decrease in accrued restructuring because of payments made 
during fiscal year 2007; please refer to Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.  
   

Cash flows from investing activities:     Cash used in investing activities was $26.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 
compared to $5.6 million used in fiscal year 2006. The primary uses of cash during fiscal year 2007 were purchases of short-term investments 
offset in part by sales and maturities of short-term investments. We purchased property and equipment totaling $2.9 million in fiscal year 2007 
as compared to approximately $1.3 million in fiscal year 2006. The purchases consisted primarily of leasehold improvements, computer 
equipment and software, and was primarily related to costs associated with the relocation to our new headquarters during the third quarter of 
fiscal year 2007. We also paid a final payment totaling approximately $5.6 million for the performancesoft earnout obligation in the fourth 
quarter of fiscal year 2007.  
   

Cash flows from financing activities:     Cash used in financing activities was $6.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 
compared to $1.6 million provided by financing activities the same period in fiscal year 2006. This increase in cash used was primarily the result 
of payments totaling $20.4 million in fiscal year 2007 to repurchase approximately 3.1 million shares of common stock in the open market, 
offset by higher proceeds from the issuance of common stock to our employees and associated tax benefits during fiscal year 2007.  
   

The table below sets forth information regarding repurchases of Actuate common stock by Actuate during the following fiscal years along 
with the associated costs:  
   

   
On October 24, 2007, our Board of Directors authorized an acceleration of our existing stock repurchase program. As of October 24, 2007, 

the Company was authorized to repurchase shares in an amount not to exceed $6.3 million per quarter, and the cumulative amount not to exceed 
$50.0 million over a two year period.  
   

On February 4, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized a further acceleration of our existing stock repurchase program which allowed for 
the repurchase of approximately $10.0 million of shares in the first quarter of fiscal year 2008. From the end of fiscal year 2007 through August 
2008, the Company repurchased a total of 2.6 million shares for a total of approximately $12.7 million in the open market under this stock 
repurchase plan.  
   

On November 3, 2008, we announced our intention to commence a “modified Dutch auction” tender offer to purchase up to $60.0 million 
worth of our common stock, at a price per share not less than $3.15 and not greater than $3.50. On December 29, 2008, we completed the tender 
offer and purchase and paid $3.50 per share for 17,142,857 of these shares at a total cost of $60.0 million. This repurchase was completed in 
fiscal year 2008 and funded by $30.0 million in cash and an additional $30.0 million drawn under the credit facility.  
   

On July 22, 2009, the Board of Directors approved an on-going extension of the Company’s stock repurchase program, which was 
originally announced in September 2001 and has been extended from time to  
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   Year ended December 31, 
   2009    2008    2007 

     (In thousands, except share data) 
Number of shares repurchased       1,764,193      19,781,417      3,059,149 
Cost of shares repurchased     $ 10,039    $ 72,675    $ 20,423 
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time. This extension authorized management to make additional repurchases. Under this repurchase program, the Company was authorized to 
repurchase Actuate common stock of up to an aggregate of $10.0 million per quarter.  
   

On January 26, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an on-going extension of the Company’s stock repurchase program. This extension 
authorized management to make additional repurchases. Under this repurchase program, the Company is authorized to repurchase Actuate 
common stock of up to an aggregate of $5.0 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. From the end of the fiscal year through February 26, 
2010, the Company has repurchased a total of approximately 942,000 shares for a total of approximately $5.0 million in the open market under 
this stock repurchase plan.  
   

We believe that our current cash balances, funds available under our credit facility, and cash generated from operations will be sufficient to 
meet our working capital and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months. Thereafter, if cash generated from operations 
is insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we may find it necessary to sell additional equity, or obtain additional credit facilities. The 
sale of additional equity could result in additional dilution to our current stockholders. A portion of our cash may be used to acquire or invest in 
complementary businesses, including the acquisition of the minority interest in our 88% owned subsidiary in Japan, or complementary products 
or to obtain the right to use complementary technologies.  
   
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments  
   

General  
   

We are engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome of 
such litigation, we believe we have adequate legal defenses and we believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these actions will not have a 
material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.  
   

Revolving credit line  
   

In November 2008, the Company entered into a four year revolving line of credit agreement with Wells Fargo, LLC (“Credit Agreement”). 
The Credit Agreement allows for cash borrowings and letters of credit under a secured revolving credit facility of up to a maximum of $50.0 
million, but not to exceed 80% of the recurring maintenance revenue. As of December 31, 2009, the Company owed $30.0 million on the credit 
facility. There are no minimum pay-down requirements under the terms of this credit facility so long as the Company remains in compliance 
with the terms of the Credit Agreement. Total costs associated with the facility, including legal and closing fees, amounted to approximately $1.1 
million. Of these total costs, approximately $1.0 million was paid as of December 31, 2009. The remaining balance is comprised of a 
commitment fee totaling $125,000 that is due and payable on the third anniversary in November of fiscal year 2011. These costs are being 
capitalized and amortized over four years in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009 as current assets if amortized 
within one year or non-current assets if amortized beyond one year.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the remaining balance available under the revolving credit facility was approximately $20.0 million. Interest is 
based on a floating rate plus an applicable margin based on the outstanding balance of the amount drawn under the Credit Agreement. The 
floating rate is determined at the Company’s election and may either be (i) London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or (ii) the greater of the 
Federal Funds Rate plus an applicable margin and the Prime Rate. If the Company’s usage of the credit line exceeds 80% of its trailing four 
quarters of recurring maintenance revenue, or if the sum of available funds under the Credit Agreement plus available cash is less than $10.0 
million the Company is required to meet certain minimum income targets and be subject to a limit on annual capital expenditures. As of 
December 31, 2009, the Company was able to meet the 80% test as well as the $10.0 million minimum cash threshold and was therefore not 
subject to the income or the capital expenditures covenants. The Company is required to make interest payments and pay an unused commitment 
fee on a monthly basis. The Company incurred approximately $1.1 million of interest expense associated with the credit facility in fiscal year 
2009.  
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The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants, which, among other things, require the Company to maintain specified financial ratios 
and impose certain limitations with respect to lines of business, mergers, investments and acquisitions, additional indebtedness, distributions, 
guarantees, liens and encumbrances. The Company was in compliance with these financial and non-financial covenants at December 31, 
2009. The Company’s indebtedness under the Credit Agreement is secured by a lien on (i) substantially all of its assets and the assets of Actuate 
International Corporation and (ii) by a pledge of all of its stock and a portion of the stock of each of its subsidiaries.  
   

The Company believes that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet its current debt service requirements for interest and any 
required prepayments under the Credit Agreement. However, if such cash flow is not sufficient, the Company may be required to issue 
additional debt or equity securities, refinance its obligations, or take other actions in order to make such scheduled payments. The Company 
cannot be sure that it would be able to effect any such transactions on favorable terms, if at all and failure to do so may cause an event of default 
under the Credit Agreement, which will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial conditions.  
   

Operating Lease Commitments  
   

The Company reached the end of its lease term on its previous corporate headquarters located at 701 Gateway, in South San Francisco in 
February 2008. In anticipation of this event, on September 1, 2007, the Company entered into a five year sublease agreement with a third party 
for approximately 83,000 square feet of office space in the Bridgepointe Campus in San Mateo, California. This lease is operating in nature, 
commenced on August 1, 2007 and ends on July 31, 2012. In addition, the lease provided for approximately nine months of free rent (rent 
holiday) and approximately $600,000 in landlord incentives applied by Actuate towards construction of improvements. As a result, the Company 
straight-lined its rent expense and recorded a deferred rent liability on its consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2009, the deferred rent 
liability balance totaled approximately $929,000 and this balance declines through 2012 when contractual cash payments exceed the straight-line 
lease expense. Of this total deferred rent liability balance, approximately $320,000 was classified under the current accrued liabilities section of 
our consolidated balance sheet with the remaining portion of approximately $609,000 classified under other long term liabilities section of our 
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2009. The incentives were applied to leasehold improvements completed during the fourth quarter of 
fiscal year 2007. Actuate also leases an additional 50,400 square feet in one facility in South San Francisco, California. The lease on this 
additional facility will expire in April 2011 and this facility is being entirely subleased. Actuate also leases office facilities in various locations in 
the United States and abroad. All facilities are leased under operating leases.  
   

In May 2001, Actuate issued a letter of credit in the amount of $1.6 million to secure the lease of one of its facilities in the South San 
Francisco location. The lease agreement stipulated that absent an event of default, Actuate had the right to annually reduce the amount of this 
letter of credit by approximately $229,000 over a seven year period beginning in May 2002. Accordingly, in May 2009, Actuate exercised its 
right under the terms of the lease agreement and reduced the final remaining balance of approximately $229,000 on this letter of credit.  
   

In prior periods, Actuate pledged $426,000 of restricted cash as collateral for standby letters of credit that guarantee its contractual 
obligations relating to its corporate headquarter facilities located at the Bridgepointe Campus in San Mateo, California. This restricted cash 
remain classified as Other Assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009.  
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The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):  
   

   

    Total   

Less than 
 

1 year   
1 – 3  
years   

3 – 5  
years   Thereafter 

Obligations:            

Operating leases (1)    $ 13,529   $ 6,762   $ 5,673   $ 981   $ 113 
Purchase obligations (2)      2,484     2,367     117     —       —   
Interest and loan obligations (3)      33,956     1,343     32,613     —       —   
Obligations for uncertain tax positions (4)      806     —       806     —       —   

                              

Total    $ 50,775   $ 10,472   $ 39,209   $ 981   $ 113 
                              

  
(1)   Our future contractual obligations include minimum lease payments under operating leases at December 31, 2009. Of the remaining future 

minimum lease payments, approximately $4.8 million is included in restructuring liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as of December 31, 2009. 

   

(2)   Purchase obligations represent an estimate of all open purchase orders and contractual obligations in the ordinary course of business for 
which we have not received the goods or services as of December 31, 2009. Although open purchase orders are considered enforceable and 
legally binding, the terms generally allow us the option to cancel, reschedule and adjust our requirements based on our business needs prior 
to the delivery of goods or performance of services. 

   
(3)   Estimated interest, commitment fees and principal related to the revolving line of Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Foothill. 

   
The following table summarizes our contractual sublease proceeds as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):  

   

   
Investment in Actuate Japan — Noncontrolling (minority) Interest —The minority shareholder of Actuate Japan has a non-expiring 

option to put its equity interest (non-controlling interest) in Actuate Japan to the Company and the Company has the option to call the non-
controlling interest. The redeemable non-controlling interest as of December 31, 2009 was approximately 12% of the total equity interest. If the 
non-controlling interest shareholder chose to put these remaining shares to the Company, Actuate would be required to pay approximately 
$617,000 to purchase these shares. The Company measures and discloses a redeemable non-controlling interest in accordance with the policy 
discussed above at the calculated redemption value of the put option embedded in the non-controlling interest. The non-controlling shareholder 
is also a distributor of Actuate products in Japan, although the volume of revenues sold through this distributor has historically been immaterial 
to Actuate Corporation. The Company consolidated 100% of the operating results of Actuate Japan and all investments in the subsidiary are 
eliminated in consolidation. Through December 31, 2009, the operating performance and liquidity requirements of Actuate Japan had not been 
material to the Company’s results of  
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(4)   Represents the tax liability associated with uncertain tax positions. See discussion on the authoritative guidance issued by the FASB on 
obligations for uncertain tax positions in Note 11 of our Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements. 

     Total    

Less than 
 

1 year    
1 – 3  
years    

3 – 5  
years    Thereafter 

Contractual benefits:                 

Sublease proceeds (1)     $ 2,304    $ 1,689    $ 615    $ —      $ —   
                                   

Total     $ 2,304    $ 1,689    $ 615    $ —      $ —   
                                   

  
(1)   Contractual sublease proceeds associated with approximately $4.8 million of minimum lease payments that are included in restructuring 

liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009. These minimum lease payments are also included in 
restructuring liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009. 
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operations or financial condition. Although the Company plans to maintain and expand its selling and marketing activities in Japan to add new 
customers, the future liquidity requirements of Actuate Japan is not expected to be significant in the near future. As of the date of this filing, the 
remaining non-controlling shareholder has not notified the Company of any intent to exercise its put option.  
   

Indemnification.     In the normal course of business, we provide customers with indemnification provisions of varying scope against 
claims of intellectual property infringement by third parties arising from the use of our products. Historically, costs related to these 
indemnification provisions have not been significant and we are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these indemnification 
provisions on our future results of operations.  
   
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   

See Note 1 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding the effect of new accounting pronouncements on 
our Consolidated Financial Statements .  
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK 

Market Risk.     Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market 
prices and rates. Our market risk exposure is primarily a result of credit risk, fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange rates.  
   

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk .    During fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007 we derived 23%, 28% and 27%, respectively, of our total 
revenues from sales outside of North America. We face exposure to market risk on the related receivables with respect to fluctuations in the 
relative value of currencies. Our international revenues and expenses are denominated in foreign currencies, principally the Euro and the British 
Pound Sterling. The functional currency of each of our foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. We are also exposed to foreign exchange rate 
fluctuations as the financial results of foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in consolidation. As exchange rates vary, transaction 
gains and losses may vary from expectations and adversely impact overall expected profitability. Our losses due to foreign exchange rate 
fluctuations were approximately $849,000 in fiscal year 2009, $1.7 million in fiscal year 2008 and approximately $289,000 during fiscal year 
2007.  
   

Interest Rate Risk .    The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximizing yields 
without significantly increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we typically invest in high quality debt securities. Due to the nature of our 
investments, we believe that there is no material risk exposure. We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on variable 
rate debt under our revolving credit facility. We have drawn $30.0 million on our $50.0 million credit facility as of December 31, 2009 and an 
additional $10.0 million was drawn in February of fiscal year 2010 to fund our recent acquisition of Xenos. We expect to pay approximately 
$1.3 million in interest annually through fiscal year 2012. The interest may increase significantly if we decide to draw on the remaining $10.0 
million balance under this arrangement or if interest rates were to increase significantly.  
   

A sensitivity analysis was performed on the outstanding portion of our $40.0 million debt obligation as of February 1, 2010. The analysis is 
based on an estimate of the hypothetical changes in annual interest expense that would result from an immediate increase/decrease in interest 
rates.  
   

The analysis is shown as of February 1, 2010:  
   

   
Credit Risk.     Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash 

equivalents, investments in marketable securities, and trade accounts receivable. We have policies that limit investments to only investment 
grade securities. We also limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and 
maintain an allowance for potential credit losses. We do not require collateral or other security to support customer receivables. Our credit risk is 
also mitigated because our customer base is diversified by geography and no single customer has accounted for more than 10% of our 
consolidated revenue on an annual basis. We generally do not use foreign exchange contracts to hedge the risk in receivables denominated in 
foreign currencies. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  
   

Our investments portfolio includes auction rate securities (“ARS”). The ARS market was highly liquid prior to fiscal year 2008. During 
fiscal year 2008, however, a substantial number of auctions “failed,” meaning that there was not enough demand to sell the entire issue of the 
securities that holders desired to sell at auction. Additional information regarding our ARS investment portfolio is detailed in Note 3 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ended December 31, 2009.  
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We do not believe that future market equity or interest rate risks related to our marketable investments or debt obligations will have a 
material impact on our results of operations. The Company is not currently invested in any derivative securities.  
   

   
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

The financial statements and supplementary data required by this Item 8 are listed in Item 14(a)(1) and begin at page F-1 of this report.  
   

   

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURES 

None.  
   

   
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
   

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our “disclosure controls and 
procedures” (as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period 
covered by this annual report, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective based on their evaluation of these 
controls and procedures required by paragraph (b) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15.  
   

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and 
procedures or our internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can 
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must 
reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent 
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, 
within our company have been detected.  
   

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2009. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework . Our management has concluded that, as of 
December 31, 2009, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on these criteria.  
   

(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
   

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2009 that have materially 
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  
   

   
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

None.  
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PART III  
   

   
The information required by this Item is contained in part under the caption “Actuate Executive Officers” in Part I, Item 1, of this report, 

and the remainder is contained in Actuate’s Proxy Statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the captions “Proposal No. 1—
Election of Directors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and is incorporated herein by reference.  
   
Adoption of Code of Ethics  
   

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE 

Actuate has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct (the “Code”) applicable to all of its Board members, employees and executive 
officers, including its Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer), Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting 
Officer) and Controller. We have made the Code available under the investors/corporate governance section of our website at www.actuate.com . 
   

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding (i) any amendments to the Code, or (ii) any waivers 
under the Code relating to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller, by posting such information under the 
investors/corporate governance section of our website at www.actuate.com .  
   

   
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The information required by this Item regarding executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference from the section entitled 
“Executive Compensation and Related Information” of the Proxy Statement.  
   

   

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND  MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The information required by this Item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by 
reference from the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” of the Proxy Statement.  
   
Equity Compensation Plan Information  
   

Information about our equity compensation plans at December 31, 2009 that were either approved or not approved by stockholders was as 
follows:  
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Plan Category    

Number of  
securities  

to be issued  
upon  

exercise of  
outstanding  

options    

Weighted  
average  
exercise  
price of  

outstanding 
 

options    

Number of  
available  
securities  
remaining  
for future  
issuance 

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders (1)     15,506,308    $ 3.96    17,133,751 
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders (2)     322,430    $ 2.47    701,600 

                 

Total     15,828,738    $ 3.93    17,835,351 
                 

  
(1)   Consists of five plans: our Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, Tidestone 1998 Incentive Stock Option Plan, Tidestone 

Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan of 1999, 1998 Non-Employee Directors Option Plan, and the Amended and Restated 1998 Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan. On January 1, 2010, the  
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number of shares reserved for issuance under the Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan automatically increased by 2,273,137 
shares. A total of 19,025 shares of common stock reserved for issuance under Xenos Group 2000 Amended Stock Option Plan are not 
included in the table above because the plan was assumed on February 1, 2010.  

   

   

(2)   Consists of one plan: our 2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan. See Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIR ECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The information required by this Item regarding certain relationships and related transactions is incorporated herein by reference from the 
sections entitled “Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence” of the Proxy Statement.  
   

   
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The information required by this Item regarding principal accounting fees and services is incorporated herein by reference from the section 
entitled “Principal Accounting Fees and Services” of the Proxy Statement.  
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PART IV  
   

   
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a)(1)    Financial Statements  
   

See Index on Page F-1.  
   
(a)(2)    Financial Statement Schedules  
   

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.  
   

Other schedules have been omitted because the information required to be set forth therein is not applicable or is readily available in the 
financial statements or notes thereto.  
   
(a)(3)    Exhibits  
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Exhibit  
No.    Description 

  2.1   (8) 

   

Share Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 5, 2006, by and among Actuate Corporation, performancesoft, Inc., the 
shareholders of performancesoft, Inc. and Michael Tipping, as shareholder’s representative as amended by the Agreement 
and Notice dated October 11, 2006.  

  2.2       Acquisition Agreement dated as of December 8, 2009 between Actuate Corporation and Xenos Group Inc.  
  3.1   (4)    Form of Third Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.  
  3.2   (10)    Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.  
  4.2   (2)    Specimen Common Stock Certificate.  
10.1   (11)+    Form of Indemnification Agreement.  
10.2   (1)+    1994 Stock Option Plan, as amended.  
10.3   (1)+    Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan.  
10.4   (1)+    Amended and Restated 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.  
10.5   (1)+    1998 Non-Employee Directors Option Plan.  
10.6   (5)+    2001 Supplemental Stock Option Plan.  
10.7   (1)+    Offer Letter between the Company and Daniel A. Gaudreau dated May 7, 1997.  
10.8   (3)    Office Building Lease between the Actuate and HMS Gateway Office, L.P. dated August 18, 1999.  
10.9   (3)    First Amendment to Office Building Lease between the Actuate and HMS Gateway Office, L.P. dated December 31, 1999.  
10.10 (5)    Office Building Lease between the Actuate and HMS Gateway Office, L.P. dated December 21, 2000.  
10.11 (7)+    Form of Severance Agreement (All Section 16 Officers)  
10.12 (9)    Credit Agreement between Actuate and Wells Fargo Foothill, LLC (“Wells Fargo”) dated November 5, 2008.  
10.13 (12)    Office Building Sublease between Actuate and Oracle Corporation dated June 5, 2007.  
10.14 (14)+    Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan.  
16.1   (6) 

   

Letter from Ernst & Young LLP to the Securities and Exchange Commission stating whether or not they agree with the 
statements made by the Registrant in Item 4 of this Current Report on Form 8-K.  

21.1    Subsidiaries of Actuate Corporation.  
23.1    Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.  
31.1    Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Executive Officer  
31.2    Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chief Financial Officer  
32.1    Section 1350 Certifications  
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(b)    Exhibits  
   

  
  (1)   Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-55741). 
  (2)   Incorporated by reference to our Amended Registration Statement on Form S-1/A. 
  (3)   Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 1999. 
  (4)   Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2000. 
  (5)   Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2001. 
  (6)   Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on June 16, 2004. 
  (7)   Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on October 25, 2007. 
  (8)   Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on December 27, 2007. 
  (9)   Incorporated by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2007. 
  (10)   Incorporated by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2008. 
  (11)   Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on February 3, 2009. 
  (12)   Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2007. 
  (14)   Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed on April 23, 2009. 
   +   Indicates management or compensatory plan or arrangement. 

See (a)(3) above.  
   
(c)    Financial Statement Schedule  
   

See (a)(2) above.  
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SIGNATURES  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on our behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
   

   
Date: March 10, 2010  
   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
(Registrant)  

By:   /s/    D ANIEL A. G AUDREAU          

  

Daniel A. Gaudreau  
Senior Vice President, Operations and  

Chief Financial Officer  

Signature    Title   Date 

/s/    N ICOLAS C. N IERENBERG          
Nicolas C. Nierenberg     

Chairman of the Board and Chief Architect  
  

March 10, 2010 

/s/    P ETER I. C ITTADINI          
Peter I. Cittadini     

Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer)    

March 10, 2010 

/s/    D ANIEL A. G AUDREAU          
Daniel A. Gaudreau  

   

Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief 
Financial Officer (Principal Financial and 
Accounting Officer)    

March 10, 2010 

/s/    G EORGE B. B EITZEL          
George B. Beitzel     

Director  
  

March 10, 2010 

/s/    K ENNETH E. M ARSHALL          
Kenneth E. Marshall     

Director  
  

March 10, 2010 

/s/    A RTHUR C. P ATTERSON          
Arthur C. Patterson     

Director  
  

March 10, 2010 

/s/    S TEVEN D. W HITEMAN          
Steven D. Whiteman     

Director  
  

March 10, 2010 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  
   
The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Actuate Corporation:  
   

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Actuate Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 
31, 2009 and 2008, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each 
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we have 
also audited the financial statement schedule as set forth in Item 15(a)(2). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial 
statements and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule and 
an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.  
   

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the 
consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.  
   

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
   

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
   

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Actuate Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, 
the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,  
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presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. Also in our opinion, Actuate Corporation maintained, in all material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.  
   
/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
Mountain View, California  
March 10, 2010  
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(in thousands, except share and per share data)  

   

   
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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    December 31,   
    2009     2008   

ASSETS      

Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents    $ 53,173      $ 24,772    
Short-term investments      22,358        17,278    
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $749 and $606 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively      33,176        28,017    
Other current assets      5,667        6,620    

      
  

      
  

Total current assets      114,374        76,687    
Property and equipment, net      3,786        4,729    
Goodwill      36,114        36,114    
Purchased intangibles      900        1,800    
Non-current deferred tax assets      12,920        12,602    
Investments      —          16,391    
Other assets      1,670        2,189    

      
  

      
  

  $ 169,764      $ 150,512    
      

  

      

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY      

Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable    $ 1,372      $ 2,067    
Current portion of restructuring liabilities      2,796        3,206    
Accrued compensation      4,918        4,514    
Other accrued liabilities      5,330        5,299    
Income taxes payable      845        —      
Deferred revenue      44,999        40,900    

      
  

      
  

Total current liabilities      60,260        55,986    
      

  
      

  

Long-term liabilities:      

Note payable      30,000        30,000    
Other liabilities      769        1,054    
Long-term deferred revenue      1,288        2,472    
Long-term income taxes payable      806        1,660    
Restructuring liabilities, net of current portion      622        3,092    

      
  

      
  

Total long-term liabilities      33,485        38,278    
      

  
      

  

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 7 and 13)      

Non-controlling interest in subsidiary      617        584    
Stockholders’  equity:      

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, issuable in series; 5,000,000 shares authorized; none issued or 
outstanding      —          —      

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; issued 78,571,349 and 75,514,061 
shares, respectively; outstanding 45,462,744 and 44,169,649 shares, respectively      45        44    

Additional paid-in capital      177,577        160,619    
Treasury stock, at cost; 33,108,605 and 31,344,412 shares, respectively      (127,338 )      (117,256 )  
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)      (205 )      (887 )  
Retained earnings      25,323        13,144    

      
  

      
  

Total stockholders’  equity      75,402        55,664    
      

  
      

  

  $ 169,764      $ 150,512    
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  
(in thousands, except per share data)  

   

   
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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     Year ended December 31,   
     2009     2008     2007   

Revenues:         

License fees     $ 36,146      $ 39,989      $ 53,216    
Maintenance       76,466        76,695        71,336    
Professional services and training       6,721        14,306        16,074    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total revenues       119,333        130,990        140,626    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Costs and expenses:         

Cost of license fees       934        1,396        1,997    
Cost of services       17,843        23,330        24,927    
Sales and marketing       41,747        51,830        55,312    
Research and development       20,267        22,035        21,826    
General and administrative       20,315        18,470        17,784    
Amortization of purchased intangibles       680        948        948    
Restructuring charges       348        1,506        1,686    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Total costs and expenses       102,134        119,515        124,480    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Income from operations       17,199        11,475        16,146    
Interest income and other income, net       294        901        3,311    
Interest expense       (1,404 )      (116 )      (156 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Income before provision for income taxes       16,089        12,260        19,301    
Provision for (benefit) from income taxes       3,910        (1,318 )      (863 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net income     $ 12,179      $ 13,578      $ 20,164    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Basic net income per share     $ 0.27      $ 0.23      $ 0.33    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Shares used in basic net income per share calculation       45,131        60,025        60,838    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Diluted net income per share     $ 0.25      $ 0.21      $ 0.29    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Shares used in diluted net income per share calculation       49,396        65,049        68,722    
       

  

      

  

      

  



Table of Contents  

ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS ’  EQUITY AND  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

(in thousands, except share data)  
   

   
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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  Common Stock     Additional 
 

Paid-in  
Capital   

  Treasury Stock     
Accumulated  

Other  
Comprehensive 

 
Income (Loss)   

  
Retained  
Earnings  

(Accumulated 
 

Deficit)   

  Total  
Stockholders’

 
Equity     Shares   Amount       Shares     Amount         

Balance at January 1, 2007    69,397,135   $ 61      $ 121,562      (8,503,846 )    $ (23,300 )    $ 40      $ (20,553 )    $ 77,810    
Comprehensive income                  

Net income    —       —          —        —          —          —          20,164        20,164    
Net unrealized gains on available-for- sale securities    —       —          —        —          —          65        —          65    
Currency translation    —       —          —        —          —          494        —          494    

                    
  

Total comprehensive income                    20,723    
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options    3,282,257     4        8,285      —          —          —          —          8,289    
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase 

Plan    311,718     —          878      —          —          —          —          878    
Stock based compensation    —       —          8,986      —          —          —          —          8,986    
Stock repurchase    —       (4 )      —        (3,059,149 )      (20,424 )      —          —          (20,428 )  
Impact from adoption of FIN 48    —       —          —        —          —          —          (45 )      (45 )  
Tax benefits from employee stock options    —       —          4,760      —          —          —          —          4,760    

          
  

      
  

    
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2007    72,991,110   $ 61      $ 144,471      (11,562,995 )    $ (43,724 )    $ 599      $ (434 )    $ 100,973    
          

  

      

  

    

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Comprehensive income                  
Net income    —       —          —        —          —          —          13,578        13,578    
Net unrealized gains on available-for- sale securities    —       —          —        —          —          27        —          27    
Currency translation    —       —          —        —          —          (1,513 )      —          (1,513 )  

                    
  

Total comprehensive income                    12,092    
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options    2,100,088     2        4,924      —          —          —          —          4,926    
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase 

Plan    422,863     1        1,738      —          —          —          —          1,739    
Stock based compensation    —       —          9,122      —          —          —          —          9,122    
Stock repurchase    —       (20 )      —        (19,781,417 )      (73,532 )      —          —          (73,552 )  
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary    —       —          (584 )    —          —          —          —          (584 )  
Tax benefits from employee stock options    —       —          948      —          —          —          —          948    

          
  

      
  

    
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2008    75,514,061   $ 44      $ 160,619      (31,344,412 )    $ (117,256 )    $ (887 )    $ 13,144      $ 55,664    
          

  

      

  

    

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

      

  

Comprehensive income                  
Net income    —       —          —        —          —          —          12,179        12,179    
Net unrealized loss on available-for- sale securities    —       —          —        —          —          (23 )      —          (23 )  
Currency translation    —       —          —        —          —          705        —          705    

                    
  

Total comprehensive income                    12,861    
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options    2,674,350     3        6,998      —          —          —          —          7,001    
Issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase 

Plan    381,514     —          1,154      —          —          —          —          1,154    
Stock based compensation    —       —          6,686      —          —          —          —          6,686    
Stock repurchase    —       (2 )      —        (1,764,193 )      (10,065 )      —          —          (10,067 )  
Adjustment to the value of non-controlling interest in 

subsidiary    —       —          (33 )    —          —          —          —          (33 )  
Other adjustments    1,424     —          17      —          (17 )      —          —          —      
Tax benefits from employee stock options    —       —          2,136      —          —          —          —          2,136    

          
  

      
  

    
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2009    78,571,349   $ 45      $ 177,577      (33,108,605 )    $ (127,338 )    $ (205 )    $ 25,323      $ 75,402    
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(in thousands)  

   

   
See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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     Year ended December 31,   
     2009     2008     2007   

Operating activities         

Net income     $ 12,179      $ 13,578      $ 20,164    
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities:         

Stock based compensation expense       6,686        9,122        8,986    
Excess tax benefits from stock based compensation expense       (1,766 )      (642 )      (4,826 )  
Amortization of purchased intangibles       900        1,419        1,947    
Amortization of debt issuance cost       280        48        —      
Depreciation       2,223        2,228        2,367    
Deferred tax asset utilization       226        135        (178 )  
Other than temporary impairment/(gain) on Auction Rate Securities (ARS)       (659 )      2,593        —      
Loss/(Gain) on fair value of put option       588        (2,509 )      —      
Accretion premium/(discount) on short-term investments       51        252        (259 )  
Net operating loss utilizations/(carry-forward) related to prior acquisitions       —          (228 )      107    
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisition:         

Accounts receivable       (5,159 )      10,558        (7,342 )  
Other current assets       710        1,190        (795 )  
Accounts payable       (695 )      (1,312 )      672    
Accrued compensation       404        (1,812 )      293    
Other accrued liabilities       299        (1,023 )      1,194    
Deferred tax assets       362        (3,469 )      (5,903 )  
Income taxes receivable/payable       1,431        2,773        4,495    
Deferred tax liability       24        —          (420 )  
Other deferred liabilities       (286 )      (70 )      1,101    
Restructuring liabilities       (2,880 )      (2,511 )      (1,747 )  
Deferred revenue       2,915        (479 )      2,998    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash generated by operating activities       17,833        29,841        22,854    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Investing activities         

Purchase of property and equipment       (1,280 )      (1,688 )      (2,956 )  
Change in restricted cash       229        (260 )      (395 )  
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments       36,251        79,844        118,022    
Purchase of short-term investments       (24,943 )      (66,875 )      (135,679 )  
Acquisition of performancesoft, Inc., net of cash acquired       —          —          (5,632 )  
Proceeds from security deposit       —          —          209    
Net change in other assets       (15 )      —          (127 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash generated by (used in) investing activities       10,242        11,021        (26,558 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  

Financing activities         

Proceeds from the credit facility, net of issuance cost       —          29,598        —      
Tax benefits from exercise of stock options       1,766        642        4,826    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock       8,155        6,661        9,162    
Stock repurchases       (10,300 )      (72,946 )      (20,423 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Net cash used in financing activities       (379 )      (36,045 )      (6,435 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents       27,696        4,817        (10,139 )  
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents       705        (1,513 )      494    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year       24,772        21,468        31,113    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year     $ 53,173      $ 24,772      $ 21,468    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information         

Cash paid for interest     $ 1,058      $ 27      $ 154    
Cash paid for income taxes     $ 910      $ 105      $ 2,333    
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
   

   
1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Actuate Corporation (“Actuate”  or the “Company”) provides software and services to develop and deploy Rich Internet Applications that 
deliver rich interactive content that improve customer loyalty and corporate performance. Applications built on Actuate’s open source-based 
platform provide stakeholders inside and outside the firewall, including employees, customers, partners and citizens with information that they 
can easily access and understand to increase revenue, cut costs, improve customer satisfaction, streamline operations, create competitive 
advantage and make better decisions.  
   

Actuate was incorporated in November 1993 in the State of California and re-incorporated in the State of Delaware in July 1998. Actuate’s 
principal executive offices are located at 2207 Bridgepointe Parkway, San Mateo, California. Actuate’s telephone number is 650-645-3000. 
Actuate maintains Web sites at www.actuate.com , www.birt-exchange.org and www.birt-exchange.com .  
   

Basis of Presentation  
   

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Actuate and its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries. Actuate has 
offices throughout North America, Europe and Asia including offices in the United States, Canada, Switzerland, United Kingdom, Germany, 
France, Singapore, Japan and China. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, Actuate owns approximately 88% of the outstanding voting stock of Actuate Japan Company Ltd. (“Actuate 
Japan”). The Company has consolidated the results of Actuate Japan from the date that it became the majority shareholder, which occurred in 
fiscal year 2000. During the first quarter of fiscal year 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance for noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries as 
issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”). The new accounting guidance establishes accounting and reporting standards for 
the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary, 
which is sometimes referred to as a minority interest, is a third-party ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as a 
component of equity in the consolidated financial statements. Among other requirements, the new guidance requires the consolidated statement 
of income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest. The new guidance 
also requires disclosure on the face of the consolidated statement of income of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to the parent 
and to the noncontrolling interest. The adoption of this accounting guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial 
statements.  
   

Actuate Japan’s financial results are reflected in each revenue, cost of revenue and expense category in the consolidated statement of 
operations. Through December 31, 2009, the operating performance and liquidity requirements of Actuate Japan had not been material to the 
Company’s results of operations or financial condition. Although the Company plans to maintain and expand selling and marketing activities in 
Japan to add new customers, the future liquidity requirements of Actuate Japan are not expected to be significant.  
   

During fiscal year 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance related to subsequent events as issued by the FASB. The new requirement 
establishes the accounting for and disclosure of events that occur after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are issued or are 
available to be issued. It requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the basis for that date. 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through March 10, 2010, the issuance date of the financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2009. All appropriate subsequent event disclosures have been made in the notes to the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements.  
   

F-8  



Table of Contents  

ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)  
   

Use of Estimates  
   

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the accompanying notes. On a regular basis, Actuate 
evaluates estimates, including those related to bad debts, goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, restructuring charges, and the fair value of 
stock options and employee stock purchase plan shares. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates, particularly in light of the 
uncertain economic environment.  
   

Certain Risks and Uncertainties Pertaining to the Macroeconomic Environment  
   

During the past two fiscal years, the software industry experienced significant challenges, primarily due to a deteriorating macroeconomic 
environment, which was primarily characterized by diminished product demand. Some of the Company’s customers may continue to face 
financial challenges in fiscal year 2010. It is unclear when the macroeconomic environment may improve. The Company is seeing increasing 
pressures on its customers’ information technology budgets, and therefore its customers are looking for more flexibility in the type of software 
and the timing of such purchases. The current economic downturn in the Company’s customers’ industries has affected its license revenues and 
could continue to adversely impact its future business.  
   

The Company’s customers may also experience adverse changes in their business and, as a result, may delay or default on their payment 
obligations, file for bankruptcy or modify or cancel plans to license its products. If the Company’s customers are not successful in generating 
sufficient revenue or are precluded from securing financing, they may not be able to pay, or may delay payment of, accounts receivable that are 
owed to the Company, although these obligations are generally not cancelable. Though the Company has not yet experienced any unusual levels 
of defaults, any material payment default by its customers or significant reductions in existing contractual commitments could have an adverse 
effect on its operating results.  
   

A significant portion of the Company’s revenues are derived from customers in the financial services industry and the Company expects it 
will continue to derive a significant portion of its revenues from these customers for the foreseeable future. The unfavorable economic conditions 
described above have also adversely impacted the financial services industry. This has consequently had an adverse effect on the Company’s 
business which could continue into the future.  
   

Revenues  
   

Actuate generates revenues from the sales of software licenses and related services. The Company receives software license revenues from 
licensing its products directly to end-users and indirectly through resellers, system integrators and original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). 
The Company receives service revenues from maintenance contracts, consulting services and training that Actuate performs for customers.  
   

Actuate recognizes revenues in accordance with authoritative guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) on 
revenue recognition. For sales to end-user customers, Actuate recognizes license revenues when a license agreement has been signed by both 
parties or a definitive agreement has been received from the customer, the product has been physically shipped or electronically made available, 
there are no unusual uncertainties surrounding the product acceptance, the fees are fixed or determinable, collectability is probable and vendor-
specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered elements of the arrangement. Vendor-specific objective 
evidence of fair value of sales to end users is based on the price charged when an element is sold separately. Actuate has not established vendor-
specific objective evidence of fair value for its licenses. Therefore, the Company recognizes revenues from arrangements with multiple elements  
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)  
   
involving software licenses under the residual method which means the full fair value is allocated to the undelivered elements while the 
remaining value of the arrangement is allocated to the delivered elements. If the license agreement contains payment terms that would indicate 
that the fee is not fixed or determinable, revenues are recognized as the payments become due and payable, assuming that all other revenue 
recognition criteria are met. Actuate enters into reseller and distributor arrangements that typically give such distributors and resellers the right to 
distribute its products to end-users headquartered in specified territories. Actuate recognizes license revenues from arrangements with U.S. 
resellers and distributors when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement with the reseller or distributor, the product has been shipped, the 
fees are fixed or determinable, and collectability is probable and vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the 
undelivered elements of the arrangement. Actuate recognizes license revenues from arrangements with international resellers and distributors 
upon receipt of evidence of sell-through and when all other revenue recognition criteria have been met. If it is not practical to obtain evidence of 
sell-through, the Company defers revenues until the end-user has been identified and cash has been received. In some instances there is a timing 
difference between when a reseller completes its sale to the end-user and the period in which Actuate receives the documentation required for 
revenue recognition. Because Actuate delays revenue recognition until the reporting period in which the required documentation is obtained, it 
may recognize revenue in a period subsequent to the period in which the reseller completes the sale to its end-user.  
   

Actuate also enters into OEM arrangements that provide for license fees based on the bundling or embedding of its products with the 
OEM’s products. These arrangements generally provide for fixed, irrevocable royalty payments. Actuate recognizes license fee revenues from 
U.S. and international OEM arrangements when a license agreement has been executed by both parties, the product has been shipped, there are 
no unusual uncertainties surrounding the product acceptance, the fees are fixed or determinable, collectability is probable and vendor-specific 
objective evidence of fair value exists to allocate the fee to the undelivered elements of the arrangement.  
   

Actuate also has a software-as-a-service offering called OnPerformance. Actuate recognizes revenue on its OnPerformance licenses ratably 
over the term of the underlying arrangement.  
   

The Company typically establishes vendor specific objective evidence of fair value under a “bell-shaped curve” approach. However, for 
certain types of license transactions, including OEM and site licenses, the Company uses a “stated maintenance renewal” approach.  
   

Credit-worthiness and collectability for end-users are assessed based on payment history and current credit profile. When a customer is not 
deemed credit-worthy, revenues are deferred and recognized upon cash receipt.  
   

Actuate recognizes maintenance revenues, which consist of fees for ongoing support and unspecified product updates, ratably over the 
term of the contract, typically one year. Consulting revenues are primarily related to standard implementation and configuration. Training 
revenues are generated from classes offered at the Company’s headquarters and customer locations. Revenues from consulting and training 
services are typically recognized as the services are performed. When a contract includes both license and service elements, the license fee is 
typically recognized on delivery of the software, assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met, provided services do not include 
significant customization or modification of the product and are not otherwise essential to the functionality of the software.  
   

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments  
   

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash deposited with banks and highly liquid, high-quality instruments with maturities at the date of 
purchase of 90 days or less. Such instruments typically include money market securities, commercial paper, and other high quality debt 
instruments. In accordance with FASB authoritative  
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ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)  
   
guidance related to accounting for certain investments in debt and equity securities, and based on its intentions regarding these instruments, the 
Company classifies all of its short-term investments, other than Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”), as available-for-sale, and account for these 
investments at fair value. Short-term investments consist primarily of high quality debt securities with original maturities over 90 days, and may 
include corporate notes, United States government agency notes, municipal notes, and auction rate securities. The ARS held by us are primarily 
backed by highly rated municipal issuers. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method.  
   

In fiscal year 2008, all ARS were reclassified to long-term investments because auctions for the Company’s ARS securities failed and there 
was no assurance that future auctions would succeed.  
   

In November 2008, the Company elected to participate in a rights offering by UBS, the Company’s investment broker, which provides 
Actuate with rights (the “Put Option”) to sell UBS its ARS portfolio at the $16.5 million par value, at any time during a two-year sale period 
beginning June 30, 2010. By electing to participate in the rights offering, the Company granted UBS the right, exercisable at any time prior to 
June 30, 2010 or during the two-year sale period, to purchase or cause the sale of our ARS (the “Call Right”). UBS has stated that it will only 
exercise the Call Right for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions that will provide their clients with par value for their 
ARS. UBS has agreed to pay their clients the par value of their ARS within one day of settlement of any Call Right transaction. Notwithstanding 
the Call Right, the Company is permitted to sell ARS to parties other than UBS, in which case the Put Option attached to the ARS that are sold 
would be extinguished. At December 31, 2009, the Company has valued the Put Option at the approximate present value of the difference 
between the fair market value and the par value of the ARS.  
   

At December 31, 2009, the Company has classified the ARS and the related Put Option as current investments on its Consolidated Balance 
Sheet. This classification was based on the intent and ability of the Company to sell the ARS back to UBS as soon as the Put Option allows, 
which is currently expected to be June 30, 2010.  
   

The Company has no reason to believe that any of the underlying issuers of its ARS are presently at risk of default. Through December 31, 
2009, the Company has continued to receive interest payments on the ARS in accordance with their terms. Currently, interest is being earned at 
the maximum contractual rate, which may not exceed the one year trailing average rate on the three month Treasury Bill plus 120 basis points. 
The Company believes that it will ultimately be able to liquidate its ARS related investments without significant loss primarily due to the 
collateral securing the ARS and the legal settlement it has entered into with UBS. However, it could take until final maturity of the ARS (up to 
38 years) to realize the investments’ par value.  
   

The Company currently has the ability and intends to hold these ARS investments until recovery of the auction process, until it exercises 
the Put Option, or until maturity. However, if the Company needs to access the funds associated with ARS but are unable to do so, its operations 
and financial position could be materially harmed.  
   

Fair Values of Financial Instruments  
   

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable and 
accounts payable approximates fair value due to the short term nature of these instruments. The fair market value of Actuate’s long-term debt 
approximate its carrying value based upon current market rates of interest. The Company maintains its cash, cash equivalents and investments 
with high quality financial institutions and limits its investment in individual securities based on the type and credit quality associated with such 
investments.  
   

F-11  



Table of Contents  

ACTUATE CORPORATION  
   

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —(Continued)  
   

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral on accounts receivable. The 
Company maintains allowances for potential credit losses. No customer had a balance in excess of 10% of our net accounts receivable as of 
December 31, 2009 or 2008.  
   

Concentration of Credit Risk  
   

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk principally consist of investments and accounts receivable. 
Actuate places its investments with high-credit-quality multiple issuers. The Company sells to a diverse customer base, predominantly to 
customers in the United States and Europe. No single customer has accounted for more than 10% of total sales in any period presented. Actuate 
does not require collateral on sales with credit terms.  
   

The Company’s accounts receivable is subject to collection risks. The Company’s gross accounts receivable is reduced for this risk by an 
allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance is for estimated losses resulting from the inability of Actuate’s customers to make required 
payments. It is an estimate and is regularly evaluated for adequacy by taking into consideration a combination of factors. The Company looks at 
factors such as past collection experience, credit quality of the customer, age of the receivable balance, and current economic conditions. These 
facts are reviewed to determine whether a specific reserve for bad debt should be recorded to reduce the related receivable to the amount 
believed to be collectible. The Company also ceases recognizing revenues on any outstanding domestic maintenance renewal invoices which are 
older than 90 days past due.  
   

The Company also records unspecified reserves for bad debts for all other customers based on a variety of factors, including length of time 
the receivables are past due and historical collection experience. Reserve percentages are applied to various aged categories of receivables based 
on historical collection experience to determine how much of an unspecified reserve is needed. The use of different estimates or assumptions 
could produce different allowance balances. If the financial condition of Actuate’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of 
their ability to make payments, additional allowances might be required.  
   

Software Development Costs  
   

Software development costs associated with new products and enhancements to existing software products are expensed as incurred until 
technological feasibility in the form of a working model has been established. To date, the time period between the establishment of 
technological feasibility and completion of software development has been short, and no significant development costs have been incurred 
during that period. Accordingly, Actuate has not capitalized any software development costs to date.  
   

Property and Equipment  
   

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line 
method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets, which range from two to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized 
over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life, which range from four to ten years. The Company only capitalizes fixed assets with an 
initial value in excess of a $1,000 threshold. Purchased items below that initial threshold value are immediately expensed.  
   

Goodwill and Other Purchased Intangible Assets  
   

Goodwill and other intangibles are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently, if impairment indicators arise. Other intangible 
assets consist of customer lists, purchased technologies, and trademarks acquired from various acquisitions. Intangible assets acquired in 
business acquisitions are recorded at their fair  
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values using the income approach or cost approach. These other intangible assets are being amortized over their expected useful lives not 
exceeding five years using the straight-line method. See Note 5 for further discussion.  
   

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  
   

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying 
amount of any asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the 
impairment to be recognized is measured by the excess of the carrying amount of the assets over the fair value of the assets. Assets to be 
disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less the costs to sell.  
   

Advertising Costs  
   

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs are included in sales and marketing expense and amounted to $278,000, 
$734,000 and $953,000 in fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  
   

Income Taxes  
   

We provide for the effect of income taxes in our Consolidated Financial Statements using the asset and liability method. We also apply a 
two-step approach to determining the financial statement recognition and measurement of uncertain tax positions.  
   

Income tax expense or benefit is recognized for the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year, and for deferred tax assets 
and liabilities for the tax consequences of events that have been recognized in an entity’s financial statements or tax returns. We must make 
significant assumptions, judgments and estimates to determine our current provision (benefit) for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and 
liabilities and any valuation allowance to be recorded against our deferred tax assets. Our judgments, assumptions and estimates relating to the 
current provision (benefit) for income taxes include the geographic mix and amount of income (loss), our interpretation of current tax laws, and 
possible outcomes of current and future audits conducted by foreign and domestic tax authorities. Our judgments also include anticipating the tax 
positions we will take on tax returns before actually preparing and filing the tax returns. Our estimates and assumptions may differ from the 
actual results as reflected in our income tax returns and we record the required adjustments when they are identified or resolved. Changes in our 
business, tax laws or our interpretation of tax laws, and developments in current and future tax audits, could significantly impact the amounts 
provided for income taxes in our results of operations, financial position or cash flows.  
   

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to tax benefit carryforwards and to 
differences between the financial statement amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. We regularly review our deferred tax 
assets for recoverability and establish a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not 
be realized. To make this assessment, we take into account predictions of the amount and category of taxable income from various sources and 
all available positive and negative evidence about these possible sources of taxable income. The weight given to the potential effect of negative 
and positive evidence is commensurate with the extent to which the strength of the evidence can be objectively verified. Based on the analysis of 
positive and negative factors noted above, we have no valuation allowance against deferred tax assets generated in the Company’s US 
jurisdiction. We maintain a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets in foreign jurisdictions with a history of losses and a partial 
valuation allowance in foreign jurisdictions where operating results beyond a  
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certain time frame are less reliable. If, in the future, we determine that these deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized, a release 
of all or part, of the related valuation allowance could result in an income tax benefit in the period such determination is made.  
   

We only recognize an income tax position with respect to uncertain tax positions in our financial statements that we judge is more likely 
than not to be sustained solely on its technical merits in a tax audit, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. To make 
this judgment, we must interpret complex and sometimes ambiguous tax laws, regulations and administrative practices. If an income tax position 
meets the more likely than not recognition threshold, then we must measure the amount of the tax benefit to be recognized by determining the 
largest amount of tax benefit that has a greater than a 50% likelihood of being realized upon effective settlement with a taxing authority that has 
full knowledge of all of the relevant facts. It is inherently difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as this requires us to determine the 
probability of various possible settlement outcomes. To determine if a tax position is effectively settled, we must also estimate the likelihood that 
a taxing authority would review a tax position after a tax examination has otherwise been completed. We must also determine when it is 
reasonably possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease in the 12 months after each fiscal year-
end. These judgments are difficult because a taxing authority may change its behavior as a result of our disclosures in our financial statements. 
We must reevaluate our income tax positions on a quarterly basis to consider factors such as changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax 
law, effectively settled issues under audit, and new audit activity. Such a change in recognition or measurement would result in recognition of a 
tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision.  
   

Sales Taxes  
   

The Company presents its revenues net of sales tax in its Consolidated Statements of Income.  
   

Foreign Currency Translation  
   

The functional currency of each of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the foreign subsidiary’s local currency except for the Company’s 
Cayman subsidiary, whose books and records are maintained in U.S. dollars, and accordingly its functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Actuate 
translates the assets and liabilities of its international non-U.S. functional currency subsidiaries into U.S. dollars at the rates of exchange in effect 
at the end of the period. Revenues and expenses are translated using rates that approximate those in effect during the period. Gains and losses 
from currency translation are included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Currency 
transaction gains or losses are recorded in Interest income and other income, net in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.  
   

Net Income Per Share  
   

The Company computes basic net income per share using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, 
less weighted average shares subject to repurchase. The Company computes diluted net income per share using the weighted-average number of 
common shares and dilutive stock options outstanding during the period determined by using the treasury stock method.  
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The table below reconciles the weighted-average common shares used to calculate basic net income per share with the weighted-average 
common shares used to calculate diluted net income per share (in thousands).  
   

   
The weighted-average number of common shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net income per share was, 7,498,284 shares, 

6,440,639 and 2,947,917 shares in fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. These shares were excluded from Actuate’s calculation of 
weighted-average common shares used in computing dilutive net income per share as they were anti-dilutive. These anti-dilutive options could 
be dilutive in the future.  
   

The weighted average exercise price of excluded stock options was $5.56, $6.09 and $6.62 for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 
and 2007, respectively.  
   

Segment Information  
   

  
   Year ended December 31, 
   2009    2008    2007 

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding     45,131    60,025    60,838 
Weighted-average dilutive stock options outstanding under the treasury stock method     4,265    5,024    7,884 

               

Weighted-average common shares used in computing diluted net income per share     49,396    65,049    68,722 
               

Actuate provides software and services for Business Intelligence, Performance Management and Reporting applications. Actuate’s chief 
operating decision maker (the Chief Executive Officer) reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis, accompanied by 
disaggregated information showing revenues by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial 
performance. Actuate considers itself to be in a single reportable segment, specifically the license, implementation and support of its software 
products.  
   

Actuate evaluates the performance of its geographic regions based primarily on revenues. Actuate does not regularly assess the 
performance of its geographic regions on other measures of income or expense, such as operating income or net income. In addition, as 
Actuate’s assets are primarily located in its corporate office in the United States and not allocated to any specific region, Actuate does not 
produce reports for, or measure the performance of, its geographic regions based on any asset-based metrics. Therefore, geographic information 
is presented only for revenues in Note 12.  
   

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
   

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to the revenue recognition of multiple element 
arrangements. The new guidance states that if vendor specific objective evidence or third party evidence for deliverables in an arrangement 
cannot be determined, companies will be required to develop a best estimate of the selling price to separate deliverables and allocate 
arrangement consideration using the relative selling price method. The accounting guidance will be applied prospectively and will become 
effective during the first quarter of 2011. Early adoption is allowed. We will adopt this guidance beginning January 1, 2010 and we do not expect 
this accounting guidance to materially impact our financial statements.  
   

In the fourth quarter of 2009, the FASB issued new accounting guidance related to certain revenue arrangements that include software 
elements. The new guidance is to be applied on a prospective basis for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years 
beginning on or after June 15, 2010,  
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with earlier application permitted. If a vendor elects earlier application and the first reporting period of adoption is not the first reporting period 
in the vendor’s fiscal year, the guidance must be applied through retrospective application from the beginning of the vendor’s fiscal year and the 
vendor must disclose the effect of the change to those previously reported periods. We will adopt this guidance beginning January 1, 2010. The 
adoption of this accounting guidance will not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
   

During the second quarter of 2009, we adopted three related standards of accounting guidance as issued by the FASB. The accounting 
guidance sets forth rules related to determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities when the activity levels have 
significantly decreased in relation to the normal market, guidance related to the determination of other-than-temporary impairments and interim 
disclosure requirements for the fair value of financial instruments. The adoption of the three standards of accounting guidance did not have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
   

During the first quarter of 2009, we adopted new accounting guidance for business combinations as issued by the FASB. The new 
accounting guidance establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer in a business combination recognizes and measures in its 
financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, as well as the goodwill 
acquired. Significant changes from previous guidance resulting from this new guidance include the expansion of the definitions of a “business” 
and a “business combination.” For all business combinations (whether partial, full or step acquisitions), the acquirer will record 100% of all 
assets and liabilities of the acquired business, including goodwill, generally at their fair values. Contingent consideration will be recognized at its 
fair value on the acquisition date and changes in fair value will be recognized in earnings until settled. In addition, acquisition-related transaction 
and restructuring costs will be expensed rather than treated as part of the cost of the acquisition. The new accounting guidance also establishes 
disclosure requirements to enable users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of the business combination. We will adopt the new business 
combination guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The impact of adoption will be largely dependent on the size and nature of the business 
combinations completed after the adoption of this statement.  
   

Reclassifications  
   

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation in the consolidated financial statements. 
Specifically, the operating activities section of the fiscal year 2007 and 2008 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows was expanded to separately 
disclose the impact of excess tax benefits from stock based compensation expense.  
   
Corrections of immaterial errors in previously issued financial statements:  
   

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company corrected an error in its accounting for excess tax benefits from the exercise of employee 
stock options, resulting in an immaterial error to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows which affected fiscal year 2006 through September 
30, 2009. Management evaluated the materiality of errors from qualitative and quantitative perspectives and concluded that the errors were 
immaterial to the current and prior periods. Consequently, the Company has revised the accompanying consolidated financial statements for 
fiscal 2008 and 2007 and will also revise its historical financial statements when they are published in future filings. For fiscal year 2008, the 
correction of the immaterial error resulted in an increase of approximately $306,000 to cash generated by operating activities and a 
corresponding decrease to cash generated by financing activities. For fiscal year 2007, the correction of the immaterial error resulted in a 
decrease of approximately $66,000 to cash generated by operating activities and a corresponding increase to cash generated by financing 
activities. The corrections of these immaterial errors had no impact on the consolidated balance sheets or statements of income for the years 
presented.  
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2.   Investment in Actuate Japan 

Noncontrolling (minority) Interest —The minority shareholder of Actuate Japan has a non-expiring option to put its equity interest (non-
controlling interest) in Actuate Japan to the Company and the Company has the option to call the non-controlling interest. The redeemable non-
controlling interest as of December 31, 2009 was approximately 12% of the total equity interest. If the non-controlling interest shareholder chose 
to put these remaining shares to the Company, Actuate would be required to pay approximately $617,000 to purchase these shares. The 
Company measures and discloses a redeemable non-controlling interest in accordance with the policy discussed above at the calculated 
redemption value of the put option embedded in the non-controlling interest. The non-controlling shareholder is also a distributor of Actuate 
products in Japan, although the volume of revenues sold through this distributor has historically been immaterial to Actuate Corporation. The 
Company consolidated 100% of the operating results of Actuate Japan and all investments in the subsidiary are eliminated in consolidation. 
Through December 31, 2009, the operating performance and liquidity requirements of Actuate Japan had not been material to the Company’s 
results of operations or financial condition. Although the Company plans to maintain and expand its selling and marketing activities in Japan to 
add new customers, the future liquidity requirements of Actuate Japan is not expected to be significant in the near future. As of the date of this 
filing, the remaining non-controlling shareholder has not notified the Company of any intent to exercise its put option.  
   

   
3.   Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments 

The Company adopted FASB’s authoritative guidance related to the fair value measurements of financial instruments effective January 1, 
2008. Under this standard, fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. For certain of our financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, 
short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other current liabilities the carrying amounts approximate their fair value due 
to the relatively short maturity of these balances. We also believe that the carrying value of our note payable approximates fair value as its been 
less than one year since we have entered into this Credit Agreement and that the interest rate on this note is based on a floating market rate.  
   

The Company has investments that are valued in accordance with the provisions of the authoritative guidance that addresses fair value 
measurements. This guidance establishes a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and 
minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. The hierarchy is broken down 
into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as follows:  
   

   
  •   Level 1—Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets that the Company has the ability to access.  

   

  
•   Level 2—Valuations based inputs on other than quoted prices included within level 1, for which all significant inputs are observable, 

either directly or indirectly.  
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The following table represents information about the Company’s investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis (in thousands).  
   

   
Certain items in the table above are classified as Level 2 items because quoted prices in an active market are not readily accessible for 

those specific financial assets, and the Company may have relied on alternative pricing methods that do not rely exclusively on quoted prices to 
determine the fair value of the investments.  
   

Our investment portfolio includes Auction Rate Securities (“ARS”). They are usually found in the form of municipal bonds, a pool of 
student loans or collateralized debt obligations whose interest rates are subject to reset through an auction process. The ARS held by us are 
primarily backed by highly rated municipal issuers.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $16.5 million in ARS at par value. Since February 2008, substantially all 
auctions for ARS have “failed” as a result of the negative overall capital market conditions, meaning that there is not enough demand to sell the 
securities at auction. While the Company continues to earn interest on its ARS investments at the maximum contractual rate, these investments 
are not currently trading and therefore do not currently have a readily determinable market value.  
   

In November 2008, the Company elected to participate in a rights offering by UBS, the Company’s investment broker, which provides 
Actuate with rights (the “Put Option”) to sell UBS its ARS portfolio at the $16.5 million par value, at any time during a two-year sale period 
beginning June 30, 2010. By electing to participate in the rights offering, the Company granted UBS the right, exercisable at any time prior to 
June 30, 2010 or during the two-year sale period, to purchase or cause the sale of our ARS (the “Call Right”). UBS has stated that it will only 
exercise the Call Right for the purpose of restructurings, dispositions or other solutions that will provide their clients with par value for their 
ARS. UBS has agreed to pay their clients the par value of their ARS within one day of settlement of any Call Right transaction. Notwithstanding 
the Call Right, the Company is permitted to sell ARS to parties other than UBS, in which case the Put Option attached to the ARS that are sold 
would be extinguished.  
   

The Company has valued the Put Option at the approximate present value of the difference between the fair market value and the par value 
of the ARS.  
   

The Company values all of its Level 3 investments using an income approach. The Company’s ARS are valued based on a discounted cash 
flow model using various assumptions for expected term, discount rate, credit premium and liquidity premium. At December 31, 2009, the 
Company has classified the ARS and the related Put  
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     Fair value of investments as of December 31, 2009 

     Total    

Quoted Prices 
 

In Active  
Markets for  

Identical  
Assets  

(Level 1)    

Significant 
Other  

Observable 
 

Inputs  
(Level 2)    

Significant  
Unobservable 

 
Inputs  

(Level 3) 

Money market funds     $ 29,438    $ 29,438    $ —      $ —   
Term deposits       2,144      2,144      —        —   
Corporate bonds       3,690      —        3,690      —   
Federal and municipal obligations       2,206      —        2,206      —   
ARS       14,541      —        —        14,541 
Put Option       1,921      —        —        1,921 

                            

   $ 53,940    $ 31,582    $ 5,896    $ 16,462 
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Option as current investments on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. This classification was based on the intent and ability of the Company to sell 
the ARS back to UBS as soon as the Put Option allows, which is currently expected to be June 30, 2010.  
   

The following table represents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the Company’s ARS and Put Option measured at 
fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for fiscal year 2009 (in thousands).  
   

   
The Company’s cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and non-current investments are as follows (in thousands):  
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Fair Value  
Measurements  

Using Significant 
 

Unobservable  
Inputs  

(Level 3)  
ARS   

Balance at December 31, 2008     $ 16,391    
Recorded net gain on ARS included in earnings       659    
Net loss on fair value of Put option included in earnings       (588 )  

       
  

Balance at December 31, 2009     $ 16,462    
       

  

     Cost    

Gross  
Unrealized 

 
Gains    

Gross  
Unrealized 

 
(Losses)     

Realized  
Changes in fair 

 
value     

Estimated 
 

Fair Value 

Balance at December 31, 2009               

Classified as cash and cash equivalents:               

Cash     $ 21,591    $ —      $ —        $ —        $ 21,591 
Term deposits       2,144      —        —          —          2,144 
Money market funds       29,438      —        —          —          29,438 

                     
  

      
  

      

     53,173      —        —          —          53,173 
Classified as short-term investments:               

Commercial paper       3,679      13      (2 )      —          3,690 
Corporate bonds       2,200      6      —          —          2,206 
ARS       16,475      —        —          (1,934 )      14,541 
Put option       —        —        —          1,921        1,921 

                     
  

      
  

      

     22,354      19      (2 )      (13 )      22,358 
                     

  
      

  
      

Total     $ 75,527    $ 19    $ (2 )    $ (13 )    $ 75,531 
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At this time, the Company has the ability to hold all of its short-term investments to maturity and does not intend to sell any of its short-

term investments in an unrealized loss position, other than its ARS and Put Option. The Company believes that, due to the nature of the 
Company’s investments, the financial condition of the issuer and the Company’s ability to hold these investments through these short-term loss 
positions, factors would not indicate that these unrealized losses on investments, other than ARS and the Put Option, should be viewed as other-
than-temporary.  
   

Short-term investments, other than ARS, are classified as available-for-sale and are recorded on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheet at fair market value with unrealized gains or losses reported as a separate component of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 
(Loss). At December 31, 2009, Actuate has classified all of its securities with original maturities beyond 90 days as short-term investments, even 
though the stated maturity dates may be one year or more beyond the current balance sheet date as these investments, with exception of ARS, 
remain highly liquid and available for use in current operations.  
   

   

     Cost    

Gross  
Unrealized 

 
Gains    

Gross  
Unrealized 

 
(Losses)     

Realized  
Changes in fair 

 
value     

Estimated 
 

Fair Value 

Balance at December 31, 2008               

Classified as cash and cash equivalents:               

Cash     $ 21,947    $ —      $ —        $ —        $ 21,947 
Money market funds       1,050      —        —          —          1,050 
Federal and municipal obligations       1,775      —        —          —          1,775 

                     
  

      
  

      

     24,772      —        —          —          24,772 
Classified as short-term investments:               

Corporate bonds       11,668      29      (24 )      —          11,673 
Federal and municipal obligations       5,570      35      —          —          5,605 

                     
  

      
  

      

     17,238      64      (24 )      —          17,278 
Classified as non-current investments:               

ARS       16,475      —        —          (2,593 )      13,882 
Put option       —        —        —          2,509        2,509 

                     
  

      
  

      

     16,475      —        —          (84 )      16,391 
                     

  
      

  
      

Total     $ 58,485    $ 64    $ (24 )    $ (84 )    $ 58,441 
                     

  

      

  

      

4.   Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment consists of the following (in thousands):  
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   December 31,   
   2009     2008   

Furniture and fixtures     $ 1,155      $ 1,075    
Computers and software       8,343        8,465    
Leasehold improvements       3,932        3,714    

       
  

      
  

Total       13,430        13,254    
Less: accumulated depreciation       (9,644 )      (8,525 )  

       
  

      
  

Property and equipment, net     $ 3,786      $ 4,729    
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5.   Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets 

In accordance with the authoritative guidance issued by the FASB on accounting and reporting for acquired goodwill and other intangible 
assets, the Company performs its annual impairment test of goodwill on October 1st of each year. The authoritative guidance issued by FASB 
requires that goodwill be tested at least annually using a two-step process that begins with identifying potential impairment. The potential 
impairment is identified if the fair value of the reporting unit to which goodwill applies is less than the recorded book value of the related 
reporting entity, including such goodwill. Where the book value of a reporting entity, including related goodwill, is greater than the reporting 
entity’s fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. There have 
been no significant events or circumstances affecting the valuation of goodwill subsequent to the impairment test performed on October 1, 2009. 
As a result, the Company did not record any impairment related to its goodwill for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009.  
   

The Company’s goodwill balance of $36.1 million was unchanged at December 31, 2009 when compared to the balance reported at the end 
of fiscal year 2008.  
   

Other Intangibles  
   

Other purchased intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
Amortization of purchased intangible assets was approximately $900,000, $1.4 million and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 

2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Of these totals, approximately $220,000, $474,000 and $999,000 were related to the amortization of 
purchased technologies for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Amortization of purchased technologies is 
included in cost of license fees with the remaining balance included in amortization of purchased intangibles in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of income. The expected remaining annual amortization expense is summarized as follows (in thousands):  
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     December 31, 2009    December 31, 2008 

     

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     

Net  
Carrying 

 
Amount    

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     

Adjustment 
 

to Purchase 
 

Price  
Allocation     

Net  
Carrying 

 
Amount 

Customer list     $ 14,000    $ (13,320 )    $ 680    $ 14,000    $ (12,640 )    $ —        $ 1,360 
Purchased technologies       8,002      (7,782 )      220      8,430      (7,562 )      (428 )      440 

              
  

                    
  

      
  

      

   $ 22,002    $ (21,102 )    $ 900    $ 22,430    $ (20,202 )    $ (428 )    $ 1,800 
              

  

                    

  

      

  

      

Fiscal Year    

Purchased  
Technology and 

 
Intangibles 

2010     $ 900 
Thereafter       —   
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6.   Deferred Revenue 

Deferred revenue consists of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
Maintenance and support consists of first year maintenance and support services associated with the initial purchase of Actuate’s software, 

and the renewal of annual maintenance and support services from customers who purchased Actuate’s software in prior periods. The 
maintenance and support period is generally 12 months and revenues are typically recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
maintenance and support period.  
   

Other deferred revenue consists of deferred license, training and consulting fees generated from arrangements which did not meet some or 
all of the revenue recognition criteria and are, therefore, deferred until all revenue recognition criteria have been met.  
   

   

     

December 31, 
 

2009     

December 31, 
 

2008   

Maintenance and support     $ 42,031      $ 38,070    
Other       4,256        5,302    

       
  

      
  

   $ 46,287      $ 43,372    
Less: current portion       (44,999 )      (40,900 )  

       
  

      
  

Long-term deferred revenue     $ 1,288      $ 2,472    
       

  

      

  

7.   Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments 

General  
   

We are engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome of 
such litigation, we believe we have adequate legal defenses and we believe that the ultimate outcome of any of these actions will not have a 
material effect on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.  
   

Revolving credit line  
   

In November 2008, the Company entered into a four year revolving line of credit agreement with Wells Fargo, LLC (“Credit Agreement”). 
The Credit Agreement allows for cash borrowings and letters of credit under a secured revolving credit facility of up to a maximum of $50.0 
million, but not to exceed 80% of the recurring maintenance revenue. As of December 31, 2009, the Company owed $30.0 million on the credit 
facility. There are no minimum pay-down requirements under the terms of this credit facility so long as the Company remains in compliance 
with the terms of the Credit Agreement. Total costs associated with the facility, including legal and closing fees, amounted to approximately $1.1 
million. Of these total costs, approximately $1.0 million was paid as of December 31, 2009. The remaining balance is comprised of a 
commitment fee totaling $125,000 that is due and payable on the third anniversary in November of fiscal year 2011. These costs are being 
capitalized and amortized over four years. These costs are classified in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009 as 
current assets if amortized within one year or non-current assets if amortized beyond one year.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the remaining balance available under the revolving credit facility was approximately $20.0 million. Interest is 
based on a floating rate plus an applicable margin based on the outstanding balance of the amount drawn under the Credit Agreement. The 
floating rate is determined at the Company’s election and may either be (i) London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) or (ii) the greater of the  
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Federal Funds Rate plus an applicable margin and the Prime Rate. If the Company’s usage of the credit line exceeds 80% of its trailing four 
quarters of recurring maintenance revenue, or if the sum of available funds under the Credit Agreement plus available cash is less than $10.0 
million the Company is required to meet certain minimum income targets and be subject to a limit on annual capital expenditures. As of 
December 31, 2009, the Company was able to meet the 80% test as well as the $10 million minimal cash threshold and was therefore not subject 
to the income or the capital expenditures covenants. The Company is required to make interest payments and pay an unused commitment fee on 
a monthly basis. The Company incurred approximately $1.1 million of interest expense associated with the credit facility in fiscal year 2009.  
   

Because of the Company’s indebtedness, a significant portion of the Company’s cash flow from operations is and will be required for debt 
service. The Company’s levels of debt could have negative consequences. It should be noted that:  
   

   

  
•   A substantial portion of the Company’s cash flow is, and will be, dedicated to debt service and is not, and will not be, available for 

other purposes;  

   

  
•   The Company’s ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and general corporate or 

other purposes may be impaired in the future;  

   

  
•   The Company’s borrowings are, and will be, at variable rates of interest, which may expose the Company to the risk of increases in 

interest rates;  

   
The Credit Agreement contains financial covenants, which, among other things, require the Company to maintain specified financial ratios 

and impose certain limitations with respect to lines of business, mergers, investments and acquisitions, additional indebtedness, distributions, 
guarantees, liens and encumbrances. The Company was in compliance with these financial and non-financial covenants at December 31, 
2009. The Company’s indebtedness under the Credit Agreement is secured by a lien on (i) substantially all of its assets and the assets of Actuate 
International Corporation and (ii) by a pledge of all of its stock and a portion of the stock of each of its subsidiaries.  
   

The Company believes that cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet its current debt service requirements for interest and any 
required prepayments under the Credit Agreement. However, if such cash flow is not sufficient, the Company may be required to issue 
additional debt or equity securities, refinance its obligations, or take other actions in order to make such scheduled payments. The Company 
cannot be sure that it would be able to effect any such transactions on favorable terms, if at all and failure to do so may cause an event of default 
under the Credit Agreement, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results and financial conditions.  
   

Operating Lease Commitments  
   

  
•   The Company’s level of indebtedness could make it more vulnerable to economic downturns, limit its ability to withstand competitive 

pressures and reduce the Company’s flexibility in responding to changing business and economic conditions.  

The Company reached the end of its lease term on its previous corporate headquarters located at 701 Gateway, in South San Francisco in 
February 2008. In anticipation of this event, on September 1, 2007, the Company entered into a five year sublease agreement with a third party 
for approximately 83,000 square feet of office space in the Bridgepointe Campus in San Mateo, California. This lease is operating in nature, 
commenced on August 1, 2007 and ends on July 31, 2012. In addition, the lease provided for approximately nine months of free rent (rent 
holiday) and approximately $600,000 in landlord incentives applied by Actuate towards  
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construction of improvements. As a result, the Company straight-lined its rent expense and recorded a deferred rent liability on its consolidated 
balance sheet. At December 31, 2009, the deferred rent liability balance totaled approximately $929,000 and this balance declines through 2012 
when contractual cash payments exceed the straight-line lease expense. Of this total deferred rent liability balance, approximately $320,000 was 
classified under the current accrued liabilities section of our consolidated balance sheet with the remaining portion of approximately $609,000 
classified under other long term liabilities section of our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2009. The incentives were applied to 
leasehold improvements completed during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007. Actuate also leases an additional 50,400 square feet in one 
facility in South San Francisco, California. The lease on this additional facility will expire in April 2011 and this facility is being entirely 
subleased. Actuate also leases office facilities in various locations in the United States and abroad. All facilities are leased under operating 
leases.  
   

In May 2001, Actuate issued a letter of credit in the amount of $1.6 million to secure the lease of one of its facilities in the South San 
Francisco location. The lease agreement stipulated that absent an event of default, Actuate had the right to annually reduce the amount of this 
letter of credit by approximately $229,000 over a seven year period beginning in May 2002. Accordingly, in May 2009, Actuate exercised its 
right under the terms of the lease agreement and reduced the final remaining balance of approximately $229,000 on this letter of credit.  
   

In prior periods, Actuate pledged $426,000 of restricted cash as collateral for standby letters of credit that guarantee its contractual 
obligations relating to its corporate headquarter facilities located at the Bridgepointe Campus in San Mateo, California. This restricted cash 
remains classified as Other Assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009.  
   

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):  
   

   

     Total    

Less than 
 

1 year    
1 – 3  
years    

3 – 5  
years    Thereafter 

Obligations:                 

Operating leases (1)     $ 13,529    $ 6,762    $ 5,673    $ 981    $ 113 
Interest and loan obligations (2)       43,956      1,343      42,613      —        —   
Obligations for uncertain tax positions (3)       806      —        806      —        —   

                                   

Total     $ 58,291    $ 8,105    $ 49,092    $ 981    $ 113 
                                   

  
(1)   Actuate’s future contractual obligations include minimum lease payments under operating leases at December 31, 2009. Of the remaining 

future minimum lease payments, approximately $4.8 million is included in restructuring liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance 
Sheet as of December 31, 2009. 

   
(2)   Estimated interest, commitment fees and principal related to the revolving line of Credit Agreement with Wells Fargo Foothill. 
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The following table summarizes our contractual sublease proceeds as of December 31, 2009 (in thousands):  
   

   
Indemnification  

   

     Total    

Less than 
 

1 year    
1 – 3  
years    

3 – 5  
years    Thereafter 

Contractual benefits:                 

Sublease proceeds (1)     $ 2,304    $ 1,689    $ 615    $ —      $ —   
                                   

Total     $ 2,304    $ 1,689    $ 615    $ —      $ —   
                                   

  
(1)   Contractual sublease proceeds associated with approximately $4.8 million of minimum lease payments that are included in restructuring 

liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009. These minimum lease payments are also included in 
restructuring liabilities on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2009. 

Our license agreements include indemnification for infringement of third party intellectual property rights and certain warranties. 
Historically, the Company has not experienced significant claims under these contractual rights. Therefore, no amounts have been accrued 
relating to those indemnities and warranties.  
   

   
8.   Stockholders’  Equity 

Preferred Stock  
   

Under the terms of the certificate of incorporation, the Board of Directors is authorized, subject to any limitations prescribed by law, to 
issue preferred stock in one or more series. Each series shall have the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, related to dividend rights, 
dividend rates, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, redemption prices, liquidation preferences and the right to increase or 
decrease the number of shares of any series, as the Board of Directors shall determine. The Board of Directors may issue preferred stock with 
voting or conversion rights that may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of Actuate and could adversely 
affect the market price of the common stock and the voting and other rights of the holders of common stock. The Company currently has no 
plans to issue any preferred stock.  
   

Stock Option Plans  
   

Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan .    In May 1998, the Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1998 
Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by the stockholders in July 1998. Employees, consultants and directors are eligible 
for awards under the 1998 Plan. Initially, a total of 5,200,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the 1998 Plan. Until 
January 2, 2010, on January 1 of each year, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the 1998 Plan is increased automatically by the 
lesser of (i) 5% of the total number of shares of common stock then outstanding or (ii) 2,800,000 shares (the “Evergreen Feature”). Effective 
January 2, 2010, the Evergreen Feature was terminated. The 1998 Plan has been amended and restated to account for stock splits.  
   

Under the 1998 Plan, eligible participants may be awarded options to purchase shares of common stock, stock appreciation rights 
(“SARs”), restricted shares or stock units (collectively, the “Awards”). Options under the 1998 Plan may be incentive stock options designed to 
satisfy Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or non-statutory stock options not designed to meet such 
requirements. If restricted shares or shares issued upon the exercise of options granted under the 1998 Plan are forfeited, then such shares will 
again become available for Awards under the 1998 Plan. If stock units, options or SARs granted  
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under the 1998 Plan are forfeited or terminated for any other reason before being exercised, then the corresponding shares will again become 
available for Awards under the 1998 Plan. The exercise price for non-statutory and incentive stock options granted under the 1998 Plan may not 
be less than 85% or 100%, respectively, of the fair market value of the common stock on the option grant date. The Board may amend or 
terminate the 1998 Plan at any time. Amendments may be subject to stockholder approval to the extent required by applicable laws. Options 
granted under the 1998 Plan are exercisable when vested. Shares generally vest at the rate of 20% or 25% after one year from the date of grant 
with the remaining balance vesting monthly over the next three or four years, with a maximum contractual life of ten years. Upon a change in 
control, an Award under the 1998 Plan will become fully vested as to all shares subject to such Award if such Award is not assumed by the 
surviving corporation or its parent and the surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute such Award with another Award of substantially 
the same terms. In the event of an involuntary termination of a participant within 12 months following a change in control, the vesting of an 
Award under the 1998 Plan will accelerate in full. All outstanding repurchase rights under the 1998 Plan shall terminate automatically upon the 
occurrence of any merger, consolidation, or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, except to the extent the repurchase 
rights are expressly assigned to the successor corporation. As of December 31, 2009, 14,978,902 shares of common stock were reserved and 
available for future grants under the 1998 Option Plan.  
   

2001 Supplemental Stock Plan .    In January 2001, the Board of Directors adopted the 2001 Supplemental Stock Plan (the “2001 Plan”). A 
total of 2,700,000 shares of common stock were reserved for issuance under the 2001 Plan. Employees and consultants are eligible for awards 
under the 2001 Plan. Members of the Board of Directors and officers of Actuate are not eligible to receive awards under the 2001 Plan.  
   

Under the 2001 Plan, eligible participants may be awarded options to purchase shares of common stock and restricted shares only. All 
options granted under the 2001 Plan are non-statutory stock options. If restricted shares or shares issued upon the exercise of options granted 
under the 2001 Plan are forfeited, then such shares will again become available for awards under the 2001 Plan. The exercise price for non-
statutory and incentive stock options granted under the 2001 Plan may not be less than 85% or 100%, respectively, of the fair market value of the 
common stock on the option grant date. The Board may amend or terminate the 2001 Plan at any time. Amendments may be subject to 
stockholder approval to the extent required by applicable laws.  
   

Options granted under the 2001 Plan are exercisable when vested. Shares generally vest at the rate of 25% after one year from the date of 
grant with the remaining balance vesting monthly over the next four years, with a maximum contractual life of ten years. Upon a change in 
control, an award under the 2001 Plan will become fully vested as to all shares subject to such award if such award is not assumed by the 
surviving corporation or its parent and the surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute such award with another award of substantially 
the same terms. In the event of an involuntary termination of a participant within 12 months following a change in control, the vesting of an 
award under the 2001 Plan will accelerate in full. All outstanding repurchase rights under the 2001 Plan shall terminate automatically upon the 
occurrence of any merger, consolidation, or disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, except to the extent the repurchase 
rights are expressly assigned to the successor corporation. As of December 31, 2009, 701,600 shares of common stock were reserved and 
available for future grants under the 2001 Option Plan.  
   

Tidestone Technologies Stock Option Plans .    Tidestone Technologies, Inc.’s 1998 Incentive Stock Option Plan (“T-98 Option Plan”) and 
Non-qualified Stock Option Plan of 1999 (“T-99 Option Plan”) were assumed by the Company on May 30, 2001, in connection with the 
acquisition of Tidestone. The T-98 Option Plan and the T-99 Option Plan are collectively known as the “Tidestone Option Plans”. Each option 
under the Tidestone Option Plans was converted into a right to receive an option to purchase shares of Actuate’s common stock. As of 
December 31, 2009, a total of 77,968 and 70,509 shares of common stock have been authorized for issuance under the T-98 Option Plan and T-
99 Option Plan, respectively.  
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All options granted under the T-98 Option Plan are incentive stock options qualified under Section 422 of the Code, with a vesting term of 
five years while the options granted under the T-99 Option Plan are non-statutory stock options with a vesting term of three years. All options 
have a maximum contractual life of ten years. Options granted under the Tidestone Option Plans are generally exercisable upon grant and are 
subject to repurchase rights by us until vested. Under the T-99 Option Plan, shares generally vest at the rate of 33% annually. Under the T-98 
Option Plan, shares generally vest at the rate of 20% annually. Upon a change in control, an award under the Tidestone Option Plans will 
become fully vested as to all shares subject to such award if such award is not assumed by the surviving corporation or its parent and the 
surviving corporation or its parent does not substitute such award with another award of substantially the same terms. The T-98 and T-99 Option 
Plans reached their maximum contractual ten year life on July 23, 2008 and April 14, 2009, respectively. As a result, employee options are no 
longer available for issuance under these Plans. As of December 31, 2009, no shares of common stock were reserved and available for future 
grants under the T-98 and T-99 Option Plans.  
   

1998 Non-Employee Director Option Plan .    The 1998 Non-Employee Directors Option Plan (the “Directors Option Plan”) was adopted 
by the Board of Directors in May 1998, and approved by the stockholders in July 1998. The Director Option Plan provides for non-employee 
members of the Board of Directors to be eligible for automatic option grants. 800,000 shares of common stock have been authorized for issuance 
under the Directors Option Plan. Each individual who first joins the Board as a non-employee director, whether through election or appointment, 
will receive at that time an automatic option grant for 80,000 shares of common stock. With respect to the initial automatic option grant, the 
option will become exercisable as to 25% of the shares after one year of Board service, with the balance of the shares becoming exercisable 
ratably in 36 monthly installments over the remaining period of optionee’s Board service. At each annual stockholders meeting beginning in 
fiscal year 1999, each current non-employee director will automatically be granted a stock option to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock, 
whether or not he or she is standing for re-election at that particular meeting. These options become fully vested and exercisable on the first 
anniversary of such meeting. Each option will have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the automatic grant 
date and a maximum term of ten years, subject to earlier termination following the optionee’s cessation of Board service.  
   

In March 2007, the Board of Directors amended the automatic stock option grant program for non-employee directors under the Directors 
Plan to change the number of shares covered by the initial and annual awards to non-employee directors, beginning with the grants to be made at 
the 2007 Annual Meeting. The amendment reduced the number of option shares which will automatically be granted to each individual who first 
joins the Board as a non-employee director from 80,000 to 40,000 option shares and increased the number of option shares which will be 
automatically granted to each continuing non-employee Board member at each Annual Stockholders’ Meeting from 10,000 option shares to 
25,000 option shares. All other terms of the program including vesting schedules for the initial grant and the annual grant remain unchanged.  
   

All Directors are eligible to receive option awards under Actuate’s Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan (the “1998 Plan”). 
In January 2008, the Board of Directors resolved that starting with the grant awards to be made at the 2008 Annual Meeting, all grant awards to 
the non-employee directors shall be made under the 1998 Plan rather than the Directors Plan. All other terms of the non-employee director 
program, including vesting schedules for the initial grant award and the automatic annual award remain unchanged.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, 230,000 shares of common stock were reserved and available for future grants under the Directors Option Plan.  
   

Shares issued as a result of the exercise of options under any of our plans would be fulfilled through shares currently in our existing pools. 
Total authorized but unissued shares of common stock were 31,739,240 as of December 31, 2009.  
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Activity under all option plans was as follows:  
   

   
The weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted was $1.90 in fiscal year 2009, $3.58 in fiscal year 2008 and $3.75 in 

fiscal year 2007. Upon the exercise of options, the Company issues new common stock from its authorized shares. The total intrinsic value of 
options exercised during fiscal year 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $6.4 million, $3.5 million and $14.0 million, respectively.  
   

   
F-28  

  

   
Shares  

Available  
For  

Grant   

  Outstanding Options    Weighted-
 

Average  
Exercise  

Price      
Number of  

Shares     Price Per Share    
Balance at December 31, 2006     12,478,102      19,546,918      $ 0.16-$31.19    $ 2.98 

Additional authorization     2,800,000      —           

Options granted     (3,364,700 )    3,364,700      $ 4.99-$8.39    $ 5.53 
Options exercised     —        (3,282,257 )    $ 0.16-$5.90    $ 2.53 
Options forfeited and cancelled     880,215      (880,215 )    $ 1.27-$21.63    $ 4.40 

     
  

    
  

     

Balance at December 31, 2007     12,793,617      18,749,146      $ 0.75-$31.19    $ 3.45 
Additional authorization     2,800,000      —           

Options granted     (2,441,280 )    2,441,280      $ 2.20-$7.81    $ 5.78 
Options exercised     —        (2,100,088 )    $ 0.75-$5.11    $ 2.36 
Options forfeited and cancelled     2,213,725      (2,213,725 )    $ 1.80-$8.39    $ 4.30 
Plan shares expired     (35,512 )    —           

     
  

    
  

     

Balance at December 31, 2008     15,330,550      16,876,613      $ 0.78-$31.19    $ 3.82 
Additional authorization     2,208,482      —           

Options granted     (2,435,750 )    2,435,750      $ 3.09-$6.03    $ 3.70 
Options exercised     —        (2,674,350 )    $ 1.49-$5.27    $ 2.64 
Options forfeited and cancelled     809,275      (809,275 )    $ 1.90-$8.01    $ 5.10 
Plan shares expired     (2,055 )    —           

     
  

    
  

     

Balance at December 31, 2009     15,910,502      15,828,738      $ 0.78-$31.19    $ 3.94 
     

  

    

  

     

Range of Exercise Prices 

   Options Outstanding    Options Exercisable 

   
Number of  

Shares    

Weighted-Average 
Remaining  

Contractual Life    
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price    
Number of  

Shares    
Weighted-Average 

Exercise Price 

$0.78-$1.49     3,399,575    3.17 years    $ 1.49    3,399,575    $ 1.49 
$1.56-$3.36     2,408,355    4.77 years    $ 2.73    2,344,753    $ 2.72 
$3.37-$3.75     3,698,069    6.45 years    $ 3.60    1,914,936    $ 3.63 
$3.77-$5.29     3,652,383    5.89 years    $ 4.68    2,464,010    $ 4.77 
$5.30-$7.86     2,294,356    7.63 years    $ 6.22    1,213,106    $ 6.19 
$8.03-$11.44     176,000    1.46 years    $ 8.69    172,166    $ 8.70 
$12.11-$17.50     120,000    1.16 years    $ 15.70    120,000    $ 15.70 
$31.19-$31.19     80,000    0.16 years    $ 31.19    80,000    $ 31.19 

                   

$0.78-$31.19     15,828,738    5.41 years    $ 3.93    11,708,546    $ 3.72 
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Amended and Restated 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

   

     
December 31,  

2009    
December 31,  

2008 

Options Outstanding—Vested and Expected to Vest        

Vested and expected to vest, net of expected forfeitures       15,694,186      16,626,377 
Aggregate intrinsic value (in thousands)     $ 16,007    $ 7,499 
Weighted average exercise price per share     $ 3.93    $ 3.79 
Weighted average remaining contractual term (in years)       5.38      5.67 

Options Exercisable        

Options currently exercisable       11,708,546      12,622,056 
Aggregate intrinsic value of currently exercisable options (in thousands)     $ 14,506    $ 7,437 
Weighted average exercise price per share     $ 3.72    $ 3.28 
Weighted average remaining contractual term (in years)       4.57      4.81 

The 1998 Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors in May 
1998, and approved by the stockholders in July 1998. A total of 1,000,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the 
Purchase Plan. On January 1 of each year, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Purchase Plan is automatically increased by 
600,000 shares. The Purchase Plan is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Code. Each calendar year, two overlapping 24-month offering 
periods will commence on February 1 and August 1. Each offering period contains four six-month accumulation periods, with purchases 
occurring at the end of each six-month accumulation period. If the market price of Actuate’s stock at the end of any six-month purchase period is 
lower than the stock price at the original grant date, the offering period is cancelled immediately after that purchase date. A new 24-month 
offering period is established using the then-current stock price as the base purchase price. The Purchase Plan permits each eligible employee to 
purchase common stock through payroll deductions, which may not exceed 15% of an employee’s cash compensation. Employees enrolled prior 
to August 1, 2006 may purchase up to 500 shares per accumulation period until the end of their current accumulation period at which time they 
may purchase up to 1000 shares per accumulation period. New participants starting in the August 1 offering period may purchase up to 1000 
shares per accumulation period. The price of each share of common stock purchased under the Purchase Plan will be 85% of the lower of (i) the 
fair market value per share of common stock on the date immediately prior to the first date of the applicable offering period or (ii) the date at the 
end of the applicable accumulation period. Employees may end their participation in the Purchase Plan at any time during the accumulation 
period, and participation ends automatically upon termination of employment with the Company. The Purchase Plan has been amended and 
restated to account for stock splits. During fiscal year 2009, 2008 and 2007, the Company issued 381,514 shares, 422,863 shares and 311,718 
shares, respectively under the Purchase Plan, with a weighted-average purchase price of $3.03, $4.11 and $2.82, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2009, a total of 5,675,151 shares had been purchased under the Purchase Plan and 1,924,849 shares of common stock were 
reserved and available for future issuance.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the number of shares of common stock reserved for future issuance of stock options under all option plans and 
the Purchase Plan was 17,835,351.  
   

Valuation and Expense of Stock-based Compensation  
   

The Company currently uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options and employee 
stock purchase plan shares. The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing 
model is affected by the Company’s stock price as  
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well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. These variables include expected stock price volatility over the 
term of the award, actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors, risk-free interest rate and expected dividends.  
   

Compensation cost for all stock-based payments granted is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions 
of FASB’s guidance on stock compensation. The Company amortizes its stock-based compensation expense for all awards in accordance with 
the method described in FASB’s authoritative guidance on accounting for stock appreciation rights and other variable stock option or award 
plans.  
   

Stock-based compensation expense and the related income tax benefit recognized for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 
2007 were as follows (in thousands):  
   

   
We estimate the expected term of options granted by analyzing actual historical experience of exercises and cancellations under our plans. 

We also look at the average length of time in which our current outstanding options are expected to be exercised or cancelled based on past 
experience and the vesting and contractual term. We estimate the volatility of our common stock by using historical volatility over the expected 
term. We base the risk-free interest rate that we use in the option valuation model on the published Treasury rate. We do not anticipate paying 
any cash dividends in the foreseeable future and therefore use an expected dividend yield of zero in the option valuation model. The assumptions 
we use to estimate the fair value of stock options granted and stock purchase rights granted under our ESPP program for the fiscal years 2009, 
2008 and 2007 are as follows:  
   

   

   
During fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 2007, Actuate issued 381,514 shares, 422,863 shares and 311,718 shares, respectively, under the 

Purchase Plan. The weighted-average fair value of employees’ stock purchase rights under the Purchase Plan during fiscal years 2009, 2008 and 
2007 was $2.10, $1.90 and $1.91 per share, respectively.  
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     Year ended December 31, 
     2009    2008    2007 

Stock options     $ 5,534    $ 7,974    $ 8,367 
ESPP       1,152      1,148      619 

                     

Total stock-based compensation     $ 6,686    $ 9,122    $ 8,986 
                     

Income tax benefit     $ 2,136    $ 948    $ 4,760 
                     

  

   Options 
   Year ended December 31, 
   2009    2008    2007 

Dividends     0%    0%    0% 
Forfeiture rate     2 – 4%    3 – 4%    3 – 4% 
Risk-free interest rate     1.75 – 2.63%    1.50 – 3.50%    3.625 – 4.75% 
Expected life (in years)     5.49 – 5.64    5.48 – 5.70    5.31 – 5.50 
Expected volatility     56.26 – 59.03%    57.75 – 71.49%    75.36 – 80.41% 

  

   ESPP 
   Year ended December 31, 
   2009    2008    2007 

Dividends     0%    0%    0% 
Risk-free interest rate     0.46 – 0.62%    2.05 – 2.18%    4.47 – 5.05% 
Expected life (in years)     1.25    1.25    1.25 
Expected volatility     69.17 – 94.69%    43.13 – 55.79%    35.78 – 38.66% 
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Stock Repurchase Program  
   

On October 24, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized an acceleration of its existing stock repurchase program. As of 
October 24, 2007, the Company was authorized to repurchase shares in an amount not to exceed approximately $6.3 million per quarter, and the 
cumulative amount not to exceed $50.0 million over a two year period. On February 4, 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a 
further acceleration of the Company’s existing stock repurchase program which allowed for the repurchase of 2,638,560 shares of Actuate 
common stock at a cost of approximately $10.0 million in the first half of fiscal year 2008.  
   

On November 3, 2008, the Company announced its intention to commence a “modified Dutch auction” tender offer to purchase up to 
$60.0 million worth of its common stock, at a price per share not less than $3.15 and not greater than $3.50. On December 29, 2008, the 
Company announced the final results of its tender offer and agreed to purchase and pay $3.50 per share for 17,142,857 of these shares at a total 
cost of $60.0 million. This repurchase was completed in fiscal year 2008 and was funded by $30.0 million in cash and an additional $30.0 
million drawn under the Company’s credit facility. The Company then subsequently suspended its stock repurchase program.  
   

On July 22, 2009, the Board of Directors approved an on-going extension of the Company’s stock repurchase program. This extension 
authorized management to make additional repurchases. Under this repurchase program, the Company was authorized to repurchase Actuate 
common stock of up to an aggregate of $10.0 million per quarter.  
   

On January 26, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an on-going extension of the Company’s stock repurchase program. This extension 
authorized management to make additional repurchases. Under this repurchase program, the Company is authorized to repurchase Actuate 
common stock of up to an aggregate of $5.0 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. From the end of the fiscal year through February 26, 
2010, the Company has repurchased a total of approximately 942,000 shares for a total of approximately $5.0 million in the open market under 
this stock repurchase plan.  
   

   
9.   Actuate 401(k) Plan 

The Company sponsors a salary deferral 401(k) plan for all of its eligible domestic employees. This plan allows employees to contribute up 
to 60% of their pretax salary up to the maximum dollar limitation prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code. Beginning in fiscal year 2007, the 
Company started to match 50% of the employee’s first 3% contribution. The maximum match in any given plan year is the lower of 3% of the 
employees’ eligible compensation or the then current Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) compensation wage limit. The Company’s contributions 
under the plan were charged to operations.  
   

The following table represents the Company’s contribution activities for the following years:  
   

   

   

     Year ended December 31, 
     2009    2008    2007 

IRS annual wage limit     $ 245,000    $ 230,000    $ 225,000 
Maximum match per employee       3,675      3,450      3,375 
Employer contributions     $ 382,000    $ 382,000    $ 400,000 

10.   Restructuring Charges 

During the first half of fiscal year 2009 the Company incurred $83,000 in legal fees related to a previous restructuring which involved the 
terminations of former employees in one of its European subsidiaries. The Company also incurred approximately $28,000 in additional charges 
related to prior facility closures in North  
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America. These charges were based on actual and estimated costs incurred including estimates of sublease income on portions of its idle 
facilities that the Company periodically updates based on market conditions and in accordance with its restructuring plans. The restructuring 
charges incurred during the first half of fiscal year 2009 were accounted for in accordance with the FASB’s guidance on accounting for costs 
associated with exit or disposal activities. This guidance requires the recognition of costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are 
incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan.  
   

During the second half of fiscal year 2009 the Company implemented restructuring actions that resulted in aggregate charges of $408,000 
and elimination of 12 positions worldwide, across all levels within the sales organization. During the second half of fiscal year 2009 the 
Company also recorded a $171,000 reduction to its idle facilities reserves as the Company was able to secure a sublease for its Vienna, Virginia 
facility and true-up operating expenses associated with its idle South San Francisco facility. Historically, restructuring charges have included 
costs associated with reductions in workforce, exits of idle facilities and disposals of fixed assets. These restructuring charges were based on 
actual and estimated costs incurred including estimates of sublease income on portions of our idle facilities that we periodically update based on 
market conditions and in accordance with our restructuring plans.  
   

During the first half of fiscal year 2008, the Company recorded facility related restructuring charges totaling $271,000. These charges 
primarily related to lease exit costs associated with our South San Francisco facility; the closure of one of the three floors in our Toronto, Canada 
facility and the consolidation of our Vienna, Virginia facilities into one location. The Company also incurred approximately $132,000 in legal 
fees related to a previous restructuring which involved the terminations of former employees in one of its European subsidiaries.  
   

In order to size the operations to meet the expected business and economic environment, the Company also implemented a restructuring 
plan during the second half of fiscal year 2008 to eliminate 46 positions held by Actuate employees primarily in North America. This 
restructuring impacted all functional areas. The reduction in force was completed in fiscal year 2008. The restructuring plan also resulted in the 
recognition of costs related to the consolidation of facilities, the cancellation of certain contracts and the write-off of fixed assets located at 
facilities that have been vacated.  
   

During the first half of fiscal year 2007, the Company evaluated the consolidation of its facilities as a result of the performancesoft 
acquisition and determined that a $297,000 facility-related restructuring charge was required. This charge was directly related to the 
consolidation of its three offices located in the United Kingdom into one office. These restructuring charges were accounted for in accordance 
with FASB’s guidance on accounting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities. This guidance requires the recognition of costs 
associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan.  
   

During the second half of fiscal year 2007, the Company recorded a restructuring charge related to the relocation of its headquarters facility 
from South San Francisco to San Mateo, California and the closure of its service facility in Iselin, New Jersey. These charges were primarily 
comprised of rent and operating expenses through the end of the lease term for the fully vacated portion of the South San Francisco facility, 
impairment of fixed assets and leasehold improvements considered abandoned, and relocation costs to the new facility. The Company also 
recorded restructuring charges for rent and operating expenses for the Company’s Iselin, New Jersey facility. As a result of these relocations, the 
Company recorded a total restructuring charge of approximately $1.4 million in the second half of fiscal year 2007 in accordance with FASB’s 
guidance on accounting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities.  
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The following table summarizes the restructuring accrual activity for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2009 (in 
thousands):  
   

   

     

Severance 
 

& Benefits     
Facility  
Related     Total   

Balance at December 31, 2006     $ 450      $ 10,208      $ 10,658    
Restructuring charges       —          1,686        1,686    
Cash payments       —          (4,967 )      (4,967 )  
Loss on disposal of assets       —          (244 )      (244 )  
Adjustments       14        (9 )      5    
Rents collected on the sublease       —          1,669        1,669    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2007       464        8,343        8,807    
Restructuring charges       1,101        405        1,506    
Cash payments       (1,027 )      (4,666 )      (5,693 )  
Adjustments       23        (66 )      (43 )  
Rents collected on the sublease       —          1,721        1,721    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2008       561        5,737        6,298    
Restructuring charges       491        (143 )      348    
Cash payments       (623 )      (4,225 )      (4,848 )  
Adjustments       (14 )      3        (11 )  
Rents collected on the sublease       —          1,631        1,631    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Balance at December 31, 2009       415        3,003        3,418    
Less: Current portion       (415 )      (2,381 )      (2,796 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

Long-term balance at December 31, 2009     $ —        $ 622      $ 622    
       

  

      

  

      

  

Adjustments reflect the impact of foreign currency translation.  
   

   
11.   Income Taxes 

The following table presents the profit before income taxes for domestic and foreign operations (in thousands):  
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     Year ended December 31, 
     2009    2008    2007 

Domestic     $ 11,112    $ 4,295    $ 11,901 
Foreign       4,977      7,965      7,400 

                     

Profit before income taxes     $ 16,089    $ 12,260    $ 19,301 
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The expense (benefit) from income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):  
   

   
The tax benefit associated with exercises of stock options reduced taxes currently payable by approximately $2.1 million, $948,000 and 

$4.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Such benefits were credited to additional paid-in capital. Tax 
benefit associated with the decrease in tax reserves was approximately $878,000 in fiscal year 2009. The tax expense associated with the 
increase of tax reserves was $1.2 million in fiscal year 2008 and by approximately $164,000 in fiscal year 2007.  
   

The tax expense associated with the utilization of acquired deferred tax assets and the release of the valuation allowance did not impact 
goodwill and intangibles for fiscal year 2009 but increased goodwill and intangibles by approximately $92,000 and $70,000 in fiscal year 2008 
and 2007, respectively.  
   

The following table represents the tax expense/(benefit) associated with the utilization of acquired deferred tax assets and the release of the 
valuation allowance (in thousands):  
   

   
F-34  

  
   Year ended December 31,   
   2009     2008     2007   

Federal:         

Current     $ 3,506      $ 66      $ 4,720    
Deferred       201        (2,056 )      (5,728 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

     3,707        (1,990 )      (1,008 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  

State:         

Current       952        70        698    
Deferred       189        (1,196 )      (897 )  

       
  

      
  

      
  

     1,141        (1,126 )      (199 )  
       

  
      

  
      

  

Foreign:         

Current       (569 )      1,447        219    
Deferred       (369 )      351        125    

       
  

      
  

      
  

     (938 )      1,798        344    
       

  
      

  
      

  

Expense/(benefit) from income taxes     $ 3,910      $ (1,318 )    $ (863 )  
       

  

      

  

      

  

  
   Year ended December 31,   
       2008             2007       

Purchased Technology     $ (428 )    $ 139    
Goodwill       520        (69 )  

       

  

      

  

Tax expense/(benefit) from acquired deferred tax assets and 
valuation allowance release     $ 92      $ 70    
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The difference between the expense/(benefit) from income taxes and the amount computed by applying the Federal statutory rate (35 
percent) to income before taxes is explained below (in thousands):  
   

   
United States income and foreign withholding taxes have not been provided on undistributed earnings for certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. 

The undistributed earnings on a book basis for the non-U.S. subsidiaries are approximately $13.1 million. The Company intends to reinvest these 
earnings indefinitely in its operations outside the U.S. If the undistributed earnings are remitted to the U.S. these amounts would be taxable in the 
U.S at the current Federal and State tax rates net of foreign tax credits. Also, depending on the jurisdiction any distribution may be subject to 
withholding taxes at rates applicable for that jurisdiction. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009, the Company benefited from the 
terms of a tax holiday in Switzerland by excluding approximately $2.0 million of income from tax in fiscal year 2009. The tax holiday is due to 
expire at the end of fiscal year 2010.  
   

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities for Federal and States are as follows (in thousands):  
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   Year ended December 31,   
   2009     2008     2007   

Income taxes at Federal statutory rate     $ 5,631      $ 4,377      $ 6,755    
Permanent differences       378        175        (34 )  
Foreign tax rate differential       (1,264 )      (866 )      (1,871 )  
Valuation allowance release       (609 )      (1,270 )      (6,757 )  
State tax, net of Federal benefit       809        (1,150 )      1,260    
Tax benefit related to liquidation of a foreign subsidiary       —          (3,403 )      —      
Tax credits       (355 )      (354 )      (381 )  
Increase (decrease) of tax reserves       (789 )      1,147        164    
Other       109        26        1    

       
  

      
  

      
  

Expense/(benefit) from income taxes     $ 3,910      $ (1,318 )    $ (863 )  
       

  

      

  

      

  

  
   December 31,   
   2009     2008   

Deferred tax assets       

Net operating loss carry-forwards     $ 3,422      $ 3,463    
Research credit carry-forwards       2,535        2,932    
performancesoft deferred tax assets       2,434        2,402    
Depreciation and amortization       1,029        951    
Accruals and allowances not currently tax deductible       4,371        5,707    
Non-qualified stock options (SFAS 123R)       8,166        6,736    

       
  

      
  

Total deferred tax assets     $ 21,957      $ 22,191    
       

  
      

  

Valuation allowance       (4,169 )      (3,922 )  
       

  
      

  

Net deferred tax assets     $ 17,788      $ 18,269    
       

  

      

  

Deferred tax liabilities       

Acquired intangible assets     $ 2,006      $ 1,898    
       

  

      

  

Net deferred tax assets     $ 15,782      $ 16,371    
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As of December 31, 2009, the Company had Federal net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $3.5 million. Of this amount, $1.7 
million relating to fiscal year 2008 can be carried back to fiscal year 2004 thru fiscal year 2007 and the remaining Federal net operating loss 
carry-forwards will expire in fiscal year 2023 if not utilized. The Company had California net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately 
$597,000 which will expire in fiscal year 2028 if not utilized. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had Federal and State research tax credit 
carry-forwards of approximately $3.1 million and $8.5 million, respectively. The Federal research credits will expire at various dates beginning 
in the year 2018 through 2029, if not utilized. The State research credits can be carried forward indefinitely. The Company also had 
approximately $142,000 of foreign tax credits which are due to expire at various dates beginning in the fiscal year 2010 through fiscal year 2014 
if not utilized.  
   

Utilization of the net operating losses and the research tax credits may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to the ownership 
change limitations provided by Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code and similar State provisions. The annual limitation may result 
in the expiration of net operating losses and tax credits before utilization.  
   

The authoritative standard issued by FASB related to accounting for income taxes provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if 
realization of such assets is more likely than not. The net valuation allowance increased by approximately $226,000 during the year ended 
December 31, 2009. The net valuation allowance decreased by approximately $2.6 million and $6.6 million during the years ended 
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The approximately $226,000 increase in the valuation allowance in fiscal year 2009 resulted 
primarily from the increase in the valuation allowance of a foreign subsidiary due to the determination that it was more likely than not a portion 
or all of the net operating losses would not be utilized. The $2.6 million decrease in the valuation allowance in fiscal year 2008 resulted from the 
release of the valuation allowance from the write off of the deferred tax assets associated with a foreign subsidiary of $1.4 million and the release 
of the valuation allowance of $1.2 million related to the utilization of other net operating losses, tax credits, change in tax rates and foreign 
exchange rates. As of December 31, 2009, approximately $4.2 million of the valuation allowance reflected above relates to the tax benefits of 
stock option deductions that will be credited to additional paid-in capital when realized and the remaining $4.1 million is related to foreign net 
operating losses and tax credits which will be credited to tax expense when realized.  
   

A reconciliation of the January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2009 amount of unrecognized tax benefits are as follows (in thousands):  
   

   
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had total Federal, State, and foreign unrecognized tax benefits of $3.2 million. Of that total, 

approximately $782,000 of the unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized would affect the effective tax rate.  
   

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. During its 
fiscal years for 2003 through 2008, the Company had recognized a liability of  
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Beginning balance at January 1, 2007     $ 2,168    
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year       164    

       
  

Ending balance at December 31, 2007     $ 2,332    
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year       1,588    

       
  

Ending balance at December 31, 2008     $ 3,920    
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year       170    
Decreases based on tax positions related to the prior year       (878 )  

       
  

Ending balance at December 31, 2009     $ 3,212    
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approximately $229,000 for interest and penalties in its Consolidated Statement of Income and Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 
During 2009, approximately $3,000 was accrued for the payment of interest and penalties.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the Company does not expect any material changes to uncertain tax positions within the next twelve months.  
   

The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S., various States, and foreign jurisdictions. Management believes that its accrual for tax 
liabilities is adequate for all open audit years based on its assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law. 
This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgments about future events. The 2003 to 2009 tax 
years generally remain subject to U.S., State, or non-U.S. income tax examinations.  
   

As of December 31, 2009, the Company is under examination by the State of California for the 2005 and 2006 tax years. The audit is 
ongoing and no issues have been identified at this point. No other Federal, State or foreign income tax audits are in progress.  
   

   
12.   Geographic Information 

Actuate’s primary operations are located in the United States. Revenues from international sources relate to export sales, primarily to 
Europe. Actuate’s revenues by geographic area are as follows (in thousands):  
   

   

   

  
   Year ended December 31, 
   2009    2008    2007 

Revenues:           

North America     $ 91,842    $ 94,109    $ 102,610 
Europe       23,733      32,479      33,839 
Asia Pacific and others       3,758      4,402      4,177 

                     

Total revenue     $ 119,333    $ 130,990    $ 140,626 
                     

13.   Contingencies 

Actuate is engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no assurance as to the outcome 
of such litigation, Actuate believes that the ultimate outcome of these actions will not have a material effect on its Consolidated Financial 
Position and results of operations.  
   

In the normal course of business, we provide customers with indemnification provisions of varying scope against claims of intellectual 
property infringement by third parties arising from the use of our products. Historically, costs related to these indemnification provisions have 
not been significant and we are unable to estimate the maximum potential impact of these indemnification provisions on our future results of 
operations.  
   

   
14.   Subsequent Events 

On February 1, 2010, the Company acquired Xenos Group, Inc. (“Xenos”) a publicly traded company headquartered in Ontario, Canada, 
and a market-leading provider of high-performance software solutions. The company’s solutions, based on the scalable Xenos Enterprise 
Server™ and its components, process, extract, transform, repurpose and personalize high volumes of data and documents for storage, real-time 
access, ePresentment, printing and delivery in numerous formats across multiple channels. Actuate intends to enhance its current product 
offering by adding Xenos’s products and technology to its existing product line.  
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The purchase price of Xenos was approximately Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 3.50 per share or CAD 37.7 million and was completed via a 
tender offer. The acquisition was unanimously approved by Actuate and Xenos Boards of Directors on December 8, 2009, and placed Xenos at 
an enterprise value of approximately CAD 28.4 million, net of Xenos cash balance. The transaction closed on February 1, 2010, with Actuate 
acquiring 95.2% of Xenos outstanding shares. The shares acquired by Actuate are sufficient to permit Actuate to acquire all remaining shares not 
tendered. The acquisition was valued at approximately CAD 37.7 million and was funded using a combination of cash reserves and borrowings 
available under the Company’s existing credit facility with Wells Fargo Foothill (“WFF”) totaling $10.0 million. Actuate also incurred 
approximately $500,000 in direct costs related to the acquisition as of December 31, 2009 and expects to incur additional direct costs related to 
the acquisition. These could potentially include costs associated with restructuring of the Company’s operations.  
   

The acquisition will be accounted for in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010 under the purchase method of accounting in accordance with 
FASB’s authoritative guidance related to Business Combinations. The Company will begin including the operating results of Xenos in its 
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.  
   

In connection with the Xenos acquisition, Actuate’s Board of Directors duly authorized the issuance of stock options to eligible employees 
from the Company’s 1998 Equity Incentive Plan. A total of 573,800 non-statutory stock options were issued in February of 2010 with the price 
of $5.31. Each grant shall fully vest in four years with 25% cliff vesting at the end of year one and the remaining balance to vest in thirty-six 
successive monthly installments.  
   

As an employee retention incentive, Actuate also invited Xenos employees who were holders of Xenos Options to exchange any Options 
that they did not exercise in connection with the Offer for options to purchase shares of common stock of Actuate on a tax-free rollover basis (an 
“Option Exchange”). The replacement options issued by Actuate would have the same intrinsic value as the options given up by Xenos. On 
February 1, 2010, 30,750 Xenos options were exchanged for 19,025 Actuate options with exercise prices ranging from $2.04 to $3.54.  
   

Effective January 2010, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were granted to senior management as part of the Company’s annual incentive 
compensation program under the Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Plan. RSUs are valued based on the closing price of the 
Company’s common stock on the grant date. In general, restricted stock units vest over four years with annual cliff vesting and are subject to the 
employees’ continuing service to the Company. For each restricted stock unit granted under the 1998 Plan, a share reserve ratio is applied for the 
purpose of determining the remaining number of shares reserved for future grants under the plan. The share reserve ratio is 2:1 for each restricted 
stock unit granted, and an equivalent of 2 shares will be deducted from the share reserve for each restricted stock unit issued. Likewise, each 
forfeited restricted stock unit increased the number of shares available for issuance by the applicable rate at the time of forfeiture. As of 
January 26, 2010, a total of 164,750 RSUs were issued and granted to the Company’s senior management. This program will result in an 
incremental increase in the Company’s stock-based compensation expense in fiscal year 2010 and beyond.  
   

On January 26, 2010, the Board of Directors approved an on-going extension of the Company’s stock repurchase program. This extension 
authorized management to make additional repurchases. Under this repurchase program, the Company is authorized to repurchase Actuate 
common stock of up to an aggregate of $5.0 million in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. From the end of the fiscal year through February 26, 
2010, the Company has repurchased a total of approximately 942,000 shares for a total of approximately $5.0 million in the open market under 
this stock repurchase plan.  
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15.   Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

The following tables set forth certain unaudited financial data for the eight quarters ended December 31, 2009 (in thousands, except per 
share data).  
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   Quarter Ended 

   

March 31, 
 

2009    
June 30,  

2009    

September 30, 
 

2009    

December 31, 
 

2009 

Revenues     $ 29,256    $ 29,541    $ 29,351    $ 31,185 
Income from operations     $ 3,270    $ 4,015    $ 4,286    $ 5,628 
Net income     $ 2,803    $ 2,800    $ 3,139    $ 3,437 
Net income per share:              

Basic     $ 0.06    $ 0.06    $ 0.07    $ 0.08 
Diluted     $ 0.06    $ 0.06    $ 0.06    $ 0.07 

  

   Quarter Ended 

   

March 31, 
 

2008     
June 30,  

2008    

September 30, 
 

2008    

December 31, 
 

2008 

Revenues     $ 29,521      $ 34,600    $ 33,681    $ 33,188 
Income (loss) from operations     $ (949 )    $ 3,296    $ 3,443    $ 5,685 
Net income     $ 2,907      $ 2,895    $ 3,105    $ 4,671 
Net income per share:             

Basic     $ 0.05      $ 0.05    $ 0.05    $ 0.08 
Diluted     $ 0.04      $ 0.04    $ 0.05    $ 0.08 



Table of Contents  

SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  
(In thousands)  

   

     

Balance at 
 

beginning 
 

of period    

Additions  
(reductions) 

 
charged to  
costs and  
expenses    

Additions 
 

charged 
to  

other  
accounts

(1)     
Deductions

(2)     
Balance at  

end of period 

Allowance for doubtful accounts:               

Year ended December 31, 2009     $ 606    $ 298    $ 30      $ (185 )    $ 749 
Year ended December 31, 2008       1,141    $ 239    $ (557 )    $ (217 )    $ 606 
Year ended December 31, 2007       826    $ 159    $ 472      $ (316 )    $ 1,141 

  
(1)   Represents amounts charged to revenue and deferred revenue for sales returns and other revenue related items. 
(2)   Deductions are primarily comprised of write-offs of receivable balances against the allowance for doubtful accounts. 
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ACQUISITION AGREEMENT  
   

THIS AGREEMENT made as of the 8 day of December, 2009.  
   
BETWEEN:  
   

ACTUATE CORPORATION,  
a corporation existing under the laws of Delaware,  

   
(hereinafter referred to as the “ Offeror ” ),  

   
- and -  

   
XENOS GROUP INC.,  
a corporation existing under the laws of Ontario,  

   
(hereinafter referred to as the “ Company” )  

   
WHEREAS the Offeror desires to acquire all of the common shares of the Company and is prepared to make an offer to acquire such 

common shares;  
   

AND WHEREAS the Board of the Company has determined, after receiving financial and legal advice, that it would be advisable and in 
the best interests of the Company and the holders of the Company’s common shares for the Company to enter into this Agreement;  
   

AND WHEREAS contemporaneously herewith, the Offeror has entered into lock-up agreements with holders of approximately 48% in 
aggregate of the outstanding common shares of the Company (the “Lock-up Agreements” ), pursuant to which, among other things, such 
shareholders have agreed to tender to the Offer (as defined in Section 2.1) all of the common shares of the Company held by them, on the terms 
and subject to the conditions set forth in such agreements;  
   

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter set 
forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by each party, the parties 
hereby covenant and agree as follows:  
   

ARTICLE 1  
INTERPRETATION  

   

   
1.1   Definitions 

In this Agreement, unless something in the subject matter or context is inconsistent therewith, the following terms shall have the respective 
meanings set out below and grammatical variations shall have the corresponding meanings:  
   

“Acquisition Proposal” means:  
   

   

  
(a)   any take-over bid, issuer bid, amalgamation, plan of arrangement, business combination, merger, tender offer, exchange offer, 

consolidation, recapitalization, reorganization, liquidation, dissolution or winding-up in respect of the Company or any Material 
Subsidiary; 
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(b)   any sale of assets (or any lease, long-term supply arrangement, licence or other arrangement having the same economic effect as a 
sale) of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries representing 20% or more of the consolidated revenues or earnings of the 
Company or 20% or more of the book value of the consolidated assets as shown on the most recent balance sheet filed by the 
Company on SEDAR; 

th 



   

  
(c)   any sale or issuance of shares or other equity interests (or securities convertible into or exercisable for such shares or interests) in the 

Company or any of its Material Subsidiaries representing 20% or more of the issued and outstanding equity or voting interests of the 
Company or such Material Subsidiary; 

   
  (d)   any arrangement whereby effective operating control of the Company or any Company Subsidiary is granted to another party; 

   
  (e)   any similar transaction or series of transactions involving the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries; and 

   
  (f)   any proposal, offer or public announcement of an intention to do any of the foregoing; 

“ Affiliate ”  means an “affiliate”  within the meaning of Part XX of the Securities Act (Ontario);  
   

“ this Agreement”  means this acquisition agreement entered into by the Company and the Offeror;  
   

“ Applicable Securities Laws”  means the Securities Act (Ontario) and the regulations thereunder and all other applicable Canadian and 
United States securities Laws;  

   
“ Authorization ”  means any authorization, order, permit, approval, grant, licence, lease, concession, registration, exemption, waiver, 
consent, right (including water rights), notification, condition, franchise, privilege, certificate, judgment, writ, injunction, award, 
determination, direction, decision, decree, resolution, by-law, rule or regulation, whether or not having the force of Law;  

   
“ Board”  means the board of directors of the Company;  

   
“ Board Approval”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.2(a)(ii);  

   
“ Business Day”  means a day, other than a Saturday or a Sunday, on which the principal commercial banks located in Toronto, Ontario are 
open for the conduct of business;  

   
“ Canadian GAAP”  means Canadian generally accepted accounting principles or interpretations thereof;  

   
“ Company”  means Xenos Group Inc.;  

   
“ Company Benefit Plans”  means any pension or retirement income plans (other than a Pension Plan) or other employee compensation or 
benefit plans, agreements, policies, programs, arrangements or practices, whether written or oral, which are maintained by or binding upon 
the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries;  

   
“ Company Public Documents”  means all documents filed by the Company under Applicable Securities Laws since January 1, 2008;  

   
“ Company Share”  means a common share of the Company;  

   
“ Company Subsidiary”  means a subsidiary of the Company;  

   
“ Compulsory Acquisition”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.5;  

   
“ Confidentiality Agreement”  means the mutual non-disclosure agreement dated August 27, 2009 between the Company and the Offeror;  

   
“ Directors’  Circular ”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.2(b);  

   
“ Disclosure Letter”  means the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to the Offeror contemporaneously with the execution and 
delivery of this Agreement;  

   
“ Effective Time”  means the time of the appointment or election to the Board of persons designated by the Offeror who represent a 
majority of the directors of the Company;  

   
“ Encumbrance”  includes any mortgage, pledge, assignment, charge, lien, claim, security interest, adverse interest, adverse claim, other 
third party interest or encumbrance of any kind, whether contingent or absolute, and any agreement, option, right or privilege (whether by 
Law, contract or otherwise) capable of becoming any of the foregoing;  
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“Expiry Time” has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(e);  
   

“ Fairness Opinion”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.2(a)(i);  
   

“ fully -diluted basis”  means, with respect to the number of outstanding Company Shares at any time, the number of Company Shares that 
would be outstanding if all rights to acquire Company Shares were exercised, but including, for the purposes of this calculation, all 
Company Shares issuable upon the exercise of Options, whether vested or unvested;  

   
“ Latest Mailing Time”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(c);  

   
“ Laws”  means any applicable laws, including international, national, provincial, state, municipal and local laws, treaties, statutes, 
ordinances, judgments, decrees, injunctions, writs, certificates and orders, by-laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, or other requirements of 
any Regulatory Authority having the force of law;  

   
“ Lock-up Agreements”  has the meaning set out in the recitals; “ Match Period”  has the meaning set out in Section 6.3(b)(iv);  

   
“ Material Adverse Effect”  means, in respect of a person, any effect that is, or could, individually or together with any other effect, 
reasonably be expected to be, material and adverse to the business, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, assets (tangible or 
intangible), liabilities (whether absolute, accrued, conditional or otherwise), operations, results of operations or prospects of such person 
and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, other than any effect:  

   

   
  (a)   relating to the Canadian economy, political conditions or securities markets in general; 

   
  (b)   affecting the software industry in general; 

   
  (c)   relating to a change in the market trading price of shares of that person: 

   
  (i)   related to this Agreement and the Offer or the announcement thereof, or 

   
  (ii)   that does not result from a change, effect, event or occurrence that is itself a Material Adverse Effect; 

   

  
(d)   relating to any generally applicable change in applicable Laws (other than orders, judgments or decrees against such person, any of 

its subsidiaries) or in Canadian GAAP; 

provided, however, that the effect referred to in clause (a), (b) or (d) above does not primarily relate only to (or have the effect of primarily 
relating only to) such person and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or disproportionately adversely affect such person and its subsidiaries 
taken as a whole, compared to other companies of similar size operating in the industry in which such person and its subsidiaries operate;  

   
“ Material Contract ”  has the meaning set out in Schedule C;  

   
“ Material Subsidiary”  means Xenos Inc., Rush Creek Software Corporation, Geneva Digital Limited and Xenos Europe Limited;  

   
“ Minimum Tender Condition ”  has the meaning set out in Schedule A;  

   
“ Misrepresentation”  means an untrue statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact required to be stated or that is 
necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made;  

   
“ Offer ”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(a);  

   
“ Offer Circular ”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(b);  

   
“ Offer Documents”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.1(b);  

   
“ Offeror ”  means Actuate Corporation;  

   
“ Option Plan”  means the 2000 Amended Stock Option Plan of the Company dated March 29, 2000;  

   
“ Options”  means the options issued pursuant to the Option Plan; “ Outside Date”  has the meaning set out in Section 9.1(e);  
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“party” means a party to this Agreement;  
   

“ Pension Plan”  means (i) a “pension plan” or “plan” which is subject to the Income Tax Act (Canada) and any applicable pension benefits 
standards legislation in any jurisdiction of Canada which is applicable to the employees of the Company or any Company Subsidiary 
resident in Canada, and (ii) any foreign pension benefits plan or similar arrangement applicable to any employee of the Company or any 
Company Subsidiary;  

   
“ person”  means an individual, general partnership, limited partnership, corporation, company, limited liability company, unincorporated 
association, unincorporated syndicate, unincorporated organization, trust, trustee, executor, administrator or other legal representative;  

   
“ Regulatory Authority ”  means:  

   

   

  

(a)   any multinational or supranational body or organization, nation, government, state, province, country, territory, municipality, quasi-
government, administrative, judicial or regulatory authority, agency, board, body, bureau, commission, instrumentality, court or 
tribunal or any political subdivision thereof, or any central bank (or similar monetary or regulatory authority) thereof, any taxing 
authority, any ministry or department or agency of any of the foregoing; 

   
  (b)   any self-regulatory organization or stock exchange, including the Toronto Stock Exchange; 

   
  (c)   any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government; and 

   

  
(d)   any corporation or other entity owned or controlled, through stock or capital ownership or otherwise, by any of such entities or other 

bodies pursuant to the foregoing; 

“ Representative”  means, in respect of a person, its subsidiaries and its Affiliates and its and their directors, officers, employees, agents 
and representative (including any financial, legal or other advisors);  

   
“ Securities Act”  means the Securities Act (Ontario);  

   
“ Shareholders”  means holders of the Company Shares;  

   
“ Subsequent Acquisition Transaction”  has the meaning set out in Section 2.5;  

   
“ subsidiary”  means, with respect to a person, any body corporate of which more than 50% of the outstanding shares ordinarily entitled to 
elect a majority of the board of directors thereof (whether or not shares of any other class shall or might be entitled to vote upon the 
happening of any event or contingency) are at the time owned directly or indirectly by such person and shall include any body corporate, 
partnership, joint venture or other entity over which it exercises direction or control or which is in a like relation to a subsidiary;  

   
“ Superior Proposal”  means a bona fide Acquisition Proposal that:  

   

   
  (a)   is made in writing after the date hereof; 

   
  (b)   did not result from the breach of Article 5 by the Company or its Representatives; 

   

  
(c)   is made for not less than 66 2/3% of the consolidated assets of the Company by book value as shown on the most recent balance 

sheet filed by the Company on SEDAR or not less than all of the Company Shares (provided that such Acquisition Proposal may 
have a minimum tender condition that is less than 100%); 

   
  (d)   in the good faith determination of the Board, after consultation with its outside legal and financial advisors: 
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(i)   would, if consummated in accordance with its terms (but not assuming away any risk of non-completion), result in a 

transaction more favourable to the Shareholders from a financial point of view than the Offer (including any amendment to 
the Offer offered by the Offeror pursuant to Section 6.3(c)); 



   
  (ii)   is not subject to a due diligence condition; 

   

  
(iii)    is reasonably capable of being completed in accordance with its terms, without undue delay, taking into account all legal, 

financial, regulatory and other aspects of such proposal and the party making such proposal; and 

   

  
(iv)   in respect of which the person making such Acquisition Proposal has provided confirmation that it has secured sufficient 

financing to complete the transaction contemplated by such Acquisition Proposal, subject to customary conditions. 

“ Superior Proposal Notice”  has the meaning set out in Section 6.3(b)(iii);  
   

“ Tax Act”  means the Income Tax Act (Canada);  
   

“ Tax Return”  includes all returns, reports, declarations, elections, notices, filings, forms, statements and other documents (whether in 
tangible, electronic or other form) and including any amendments, schedules, attachments, supplements, appendices and exhibits thereto, 
made, prepared, filed or required by a Governmental Entity to be made, prepared or filed by law in respect of Taxes;  

   
“ Termination Payment”  has the meaning set out in Section 9.2(a); and  

   
“ Termination Payment Event”  has the meaning set out in Section 9.2(a).  

   

   
1.2   Construction 

In this Agreement, unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires:  
   

   

  
(a)   references to “herein”, “hereby”, “hereunder”, “hereof” and similar expressions are references to this Agreement and not to any 

particular Section of or Schedule to this Agreement; 

   
  (b)   references to a “Section”  or a “Schedule”  are references to a Section of or Schedule to this Agreement; 

   

  
(c)   words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing gender shall include the masculine, 

feminine and neuter genders; 

   
  (d)   the use of headings is for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the construction or interpretation hereof; 

   

  
(e)   if the date on which any action is required to be taken hereunder by any of the parties is not a Business Day, such action shall be 

required to be taken on the next succeeding day that is a Business Day; 

   

  
(f)   a period of Business Days is to be computed as beginning on the day following the event that began the period and ending at 4:30 

p.m. (Toronto time) on the last day of the period if the period is a Business Day or at 4:30 p.m. on the next Business Day if the last 
day of the period does not fall on a Business Day; 

   

  
(g)   the terms “material” and “materially” shall, when used in this Agreement, be construed, measured or assessed on the basis of whether 

the matter would materially affect a party and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole; 

   

  
(h)   references to any legislation or to any provision of any legislation shall include any modification or re-enactment thereof, any 

legislation provision substituted therefor and all regulations, rules and interpretations issued thereunder or pursuant thereto; 

   

  
(i)   references to any agreement or document shall be to such agreement or document (together with the schedules and exhibits attached 

thereto), as it may have been or may hereafter be amended, modified, supplemented, waived or restated from time to time; and 
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(j)   wherever the term “includes” or “including” is used, it shall be deemed to mean “includes, without limitation” or “including, without 

limitation” , respectively. 



   
1.3   Currency 

Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts referred to in this Agreement are expressed in Canadian dollars.  
   

   
1.4   Knowledge 

References to the “knowledge of the Company” means the actual knowledge, after due inquiry, of the directors and senior officers of the 
Company. References to the “knowledge of the Offeror” means the actual knowledge, after due inquiry, of the directors and senior officers of the 
Offeror.  
   

   
1.5   Schedules 

The Schedules to this Agreement, as listed below, are an integral part of this Agreement:  
   

   
ARTICLE 2  

OFFER  
   

   

Schedule    Description  
A     Conditions of the Offer 
B     Representations and Warranties of the Offeror 
C     Representations and Warranties of the Company 

2.1   Offer 

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions herein, the Offeror shall make an offer to purchase all of the outstanding Company Shares (the 
“Offer” ). The consideration offered under the Offer shall be $3.50 in cash per Company Share and the Offer shall be otherwise subject to the 
terms and conditions set out herein and in Schedule A. The term “Offer” shall include any amendments to, or extension of, such Offer, made in 
accordance with this Agreement.  
   

(b) The Offeror shall prepare the Offer and accompanying take-over bid circular (together, the “Offer Circular” ), related letter(s) of 
transmittal, notice(s) of guaranteed delivery and other ancillary offer documents (collectively, the “Offer Documents” ) in accordance with 
applicable Laws (including in the French language if required by applicable Laws). The Offeror shall not be required to make the Offer in any 
jurisdiction where it would be illegal to do so.  
   

(c) The Offeror shall mail the Offer Documents in accordance with applicable Laws to each registered Shareholder and to each other 
person required by applicable Laws as soon as reasonably practicable and, in any event, not later than 11:59 p.m. (Toronto time) on January 4, 
2010, (such time on such date, subject to extension in accordance with the following sentences, being referred to herein as the “Latest Mailing 
Time” ). If the mailing of the Offer Circular is delayed by reason of (i) an injunction or order made by a Regulatory Authority or (ii) the failure 
of the Company to provide the Offeror with the Directors’ Circular in accordance with Section 2.2(b) or the shareholders lists referred to in 
Section 2.2(c), then provided that such injunction or order is being contested or appealed, if applicable, the Latest Mailing Time shall be 
extended for a period ending on the earlier of January 20, 2010 and the fifth Business Day following the date on which such injunction or order 
ceases to be in effect or such waiver, consent, approval, Directors’ Circular or shareholders list is obtained, as applicable. The Offeror shall file 
the Offer Circular with applicable Regulatory Authorities within the time and in the manner required by applicable Laws.  
   

(d) Prior to the printing of the Offer Documents and during the course of their preparation, the Offeror shall provide the Company and its 
counsel with an opportunity to review and comment on them, recognizing that  
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whether or not such comments are appropriate will be determined by the Offeror, acting reasonably. The Company shall provide to the Offeror 
for inclusion in the Offer Circular such information regarding the Company as is required by applicable Laws to be included in the Offer 
Circular. The Company represents, warrants and covenants that any information it provides to the Offeror for inclusion in the Offer Circular will 
be accurate and complete in all material respects as of the relevant date of such information and will not contain any Misrepresentation.  
   

(e) The Offer shall be made in accordance with applicable Laws and shall expire not earlier than 8:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on the 36th day 
after the date that the Offer is first commenced within the meaning of the Securities Act (such expiry time on such date, as the same may be 
extended in accordance with the following sentence, is referred to herein as the “Expiry Time” ). The Offeror may extend the Expiry Time (i) in 
order to contest or appeal any injunction or order made by a Regulatory Authority against the take-up and/or payment for the Company Shares 
tendered to the Offer or to seek any regulatory waiver, consent or approval which is necessary to permit the Offeror to take up and pay for the 
Company Shares tendered to the Offer, by an aggregate maximum of 25 days, (ii) after having taken up all of the Company Shares tendered to 
the Offer, in order to permit other Shareholders to tender their Company Shares to the Offer, and (iii) if any conditions to the Offer set out in 
Schedule A hereto are not satisfied at the time at which the Offer would otherwise expire in accordance with its terms, provided that the Expiry 
Time shall not be extended beyond the Outside Date. The Offeror shall not terminate or withdraw the Offer prior to any scheduled Expiry Time 
without the prior written consent of the Company, except if this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms.  
   

(f) The Offeror may, in its sole discretion, modify or waive any term or condition of the Offer, provided that the Offeror shall not, without 
the prior consent of the Company: (i) increase the Minimum Tender Condition or impose additional conditions to the Offer; (ii) decrease the 
consideration per Company Share; (iii) decrease the number of Company Shares in respect of which the Offer is made; (iv) change the amount or 
form of consideration payable under the Offer (other than to increase the total consideration per Company Share and/or add additional 
consideration); or (v) otherwise vary the Offer or any terms or conditions thereof (other than a waiver of a condition) in a manner that is 
materially adverse to the Shareholders.  
   

(g) The Offeror shall use all reasonable efforts to consummate the Offer, subject to the terms and conditions hereof and thereof. Provided 
all of the conditions to the Offer set out in Schedule A hereto shall have been satisfied or waived by the Offeror (where permitted hereby), the 
Offeror shall take up and pay for all of the Company Shares tendered under the Offer as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event no later 
than three Business Days following the time at which it becomes entitled to take up such Company Shares under the Offer pursuant to applicable 
Laws.  
   

(h) The obligation of the Offeror to make the Offer and to mail the Offer Documents is conditional on the prior satisfaction of the 
following conditions, all of which conditions are included for the sole benefit of the Offeror and any or all of which may be waived by the 
Offeror in whole or in part in its sole discretion without prejudice to any other right it may have under this Agreement and which conditions shall 
be deemed to have been waived by the making of the Offer:  
   

   
  (i)   this Agreement shall not have been terminated pursuant to Section 9.1; 

   

  
(ii)   the Lock-Up Agreements shall be in full force and effect and no party thereto shall be in material default of any covenant or 

obligation contained therein and no representation or warranty made therein shall be untrue or incorrect in any material respect at the 
time of the making of the Offer; 

   

  
(iii)    no circumstance, fact, change, event or occurrence shall have occurred that would render it impossible for one or more of the 

conditions set out on Schedule A to be satisfied; 
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(iv)   the Board shall not have withdrawn the Board Approval, changed, modified or qualified the Board Approval in a manner that has 

substantially the same effect or taken any other action or made any other public statement in connection with the Offer inconsistent 
with the Board Approval; 



   

  
(v)   the Board shall have caused to be prepared and approved in final form, printed for distribution to Shareholders and delivered to the 

depositary under the Offer for mailing with the Offer Documents sufficient copies of, the Directors’ Circular in accordance with 
Section 2.2; 

   

  

(vi)   assurances satisfactory to the Offeror, acting reasonably, shall have been received by the Offeror that all waivers, rulings or orders 
necessary for the making of the Offer or to mail to the Shareholders the Circular have been or will be obtained from all applicable 
Regulatory Authorities; provided such condition shall be waived by the Offeror if the Offeror has failed to use its commercially 
reasonable efforts to obtain such assurances; 

   

  
(vii)   no cease trade order, injunction or other prohibition at law shall exist against the Offeror making the Offer or taking up or paying for 

Company Shares deposited under the Offer; and 

   

   

  (viii)   no Material Adverse Effect in respect of the Company shall have occurred. 

2.2   Board Approval and Company Support for the Offer 

(a) The Company represents and warrants to and in favour of the Offeror, and acknowledges that the Offeror is relying upon such 
representations and warranties in entering into this Agreement and making the Offer, that, as of the date hereof;  
   

   

  
(i)   Fraser Mackenzie Limited has delivered an oral opinion to the Board to the effect that the consideration to be received under the 

Offer is fair from a financial point of view to the Shareholders (such opinion, including such opinion as it may be reduced to writing, 
the “ Fairness Opinion”  ); 

   

  
(ii)   the Board, after consultation with its financial and legal advisors has unanimously determined that the Offer is in the best interests of 

the Company and the Shareholders, and accordingly has approved the entering into of this Agreement and the making of a 
recommendation that Shareholders accept the Offer (collectively, the “Board Approval” ); and 

   
(b) The Company shall prepare, and make available for mailing contemporaneously with the Offer Documents by the Offeror, a directors’ 

circular (the “Directors’ Circular” ), in accordance with applicable Laws (including in the French language if required by applicable Laws), 
that contains the recommendation of the Board that Shareholders accept the Offer, reflects the Board Approval and includes a written copy of the 
Fairness Opinion. The Company shall file the Directors’ Circular with applicable Regulatory Authorities within the time and in the manner 
required by applicable Laws.  
   

(c) Prior to the printing of the Directors’ Circular and during the course of its preparation, the Company shall provide the Offeror and its 
counsel with an opportunity to review and comment on it, recognizing that whether or not such comments are appropriate will be determined by 
the Company, acting reasonably. The Offeror shall provide to the Company for inclusion in the Directors’ Circular such information regarding 
the Offeror as is required by applicable Laws to be included in the Directors’ Circular. The Offeror represents, warrants and covenants that any 
information it provides to the Company for inclusion in the Directors’ Circular will be accurate and complete in all material respects as of the 
relevant date of such information and will not contain any Misrepresentation.  
   

(d) The Company shall provide the Offeror as soon as is reasonably practicable following the date of this Agreement: (i) a list of the 
registered holders of Company Shares, a list of participants in book-based nominee registrants, such as CDS & Co., CEDE & Co. and DTC, and 
a list of any non-objecting beneficial Shareholders, as may be made available to the Company upon request, together with their addresses and 
respective holdings of Company Shares; and (ii) the names, addresses and holdings of all persons holding Options or having rights to acquire 
Company Shares and the details of such rights. The Company shall from time to time furnish the Offeror  
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  (iii)    each of the Company’s directors has indicated that he currently intends to tender all of the Company Shares he holds to the Offer. 



with the information in this Section 2.2(d) as of a more recent date as the Offeror may reasonably request and provide such other assistance as 
the Offeror may reasonably request in order to be able to communicate the Offer to Shareholders.  
   

(e) Subject to the provisions of Section 6.3 and except as permitted under this Agreement, the Company shall take all commercially 
reasonable actions to support the Offer and ensure the success of the Offer.  
   

   
2.3   Options 

(a) Subject to receipt of any necessary stock exchange approvals, the Company shall take all such steps as may be necessary or desirable to 
permit holders of all Options to:  
   

   
  (i)   exercise all of their Options on an accelerated basis, whether or not exercisable or vested in accordance with their terms; 

   
  (ii)   exercise all of their Options conditional upon the Offeror taking up Company Shares under the Offer; and/or 

   
(b) The Offeror shall make tendering arrangements under the Offer to facilitate the conditional exercise of the Options contemplated by 

Section 2.3(a) and tender of the Company Shares to be issued as a result of such conditional exercise (including providing for the ability of 
Optionholders to tender their Options or to tender Company Shares on the basis of guaranteed deliveries). All Company Shares that are to be 
issued pursuant to any such conditional exercise shall be accepted as validly tendered under the Offer and shall be deemed to have been 
exercised concurrently with the take-up of Company Shares, provided that the holders of such Options indicate that the Company Shares so 
conditionally issued are tendered pursuant to the Offer and otherwise validly accept the Offer in accordance with its terms with respect to such 
Company Shares.  
   

(c) The Company shall cause all outstanding Options to be exercised or, if not exercised, terminated upon or prior to the Offeror taking up 
Company Shares under the Offer constituting more than 66 2/3% of the outstanding Company Shares, which termination may be conditional on 
the take-up of the Company Shares under the Offer.  
   

(d) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take all actions necessary (including any necessary determinations and/or resolutions of 
the Board or a committee thereof and any necessary amendments) to effectuate the provisions of this Section 2.3. The Company shall cooperate 
with the Offeror prior to the Effective Time in connection with the implementation of employee incentive arrangements by the Offeror, including 
facilitating the exchange of unvested Options for other incentive arrangements agreed to by the Offeror and one or more holders of unvested 
Options if so requested in writing by the Offeror and by such holders.  
   

   

  

(iii)   in lieu of exercising Options under Section 2.3(a)(ii), require the Company to pay to the holder of an Option, in respect of each 
Company Share under Option, the amount by which the purchase price per Company Share under the Offer exceeds the exercise 
price per Company Share under such Option, in consideration for the termination of such Option (subject to any required withholding 
tax remittances), and upon such surrender, such Option will be cancelled and will cease to represent a right to receive Company 
Shares, unless such payment is not made. 

2.4   Change of Board 

Promptly upon the take up and payment by the Offeror of such number of Company Shares as represents at least a two-thirds majority of 
the then outstanding Company Shares on a fully-diluted basis and from time to time thereafter, the Offeror shall be entitled to designate such 
number of members of the Board, and any committees thereof, as is proportionate to the percentage of the outstanding Company Shares owned 
by the Offeror, and the Company shall not frustrate the Offeror’s attempts to do so. The Company agrees to cooperate with the Offeror,  
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subject to applicable Laws, to enable the Offeror’s designees to be elected or appointed to the Board and to constitute a majority of the Board, 
including at the request of the Offeror by its reasonable efforts to increase the size of the Board and/or secure the resignations of such number of 
directors as is necessary for the Offeror’s designees to be elected or appointed to the Board.  
   

   
2.5   Compulsory Acquisition/Subsequent Acquisition Transaction 

If the Offeror takes up and pays for Company Shares under the Offer, the Offeror shall use commercially reasonable efforts to, as soon as 
practicable, acquire all the Company Shares that were not acquired by the Offeror under the Offer pursuant to section 188 of the OBCA (a 
“Compulsory Acquisition” ), if available, or pursuant to an amalgamation, arrangement, recapitalization or other similar transaction providing 
for the consideration per Company Share that is at least equal in value to and is in the same form as the consideration per Company Share 
offered under the Offer (a “Subsequent Acquisition Transaction” ). The Company shall take all commercially reasonable measures to assist 
the Offeror in connection with any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction.  
   

   
2.6   Offer by Subsidiary 

The Offeror may satisfy its obligations hereunder in respect of the making and conduct of the Offer and the acquisition of Company Shares 
pursuant to a Compulsory Acquisition or a Subsequent Acquisition Transaction by causing a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Offeror to make the Offer and acquire Company Shares pursuant to a Compulsory Acquisition or Subsequent Acquisition Transaction in 
accordance with this Agreement, provided that the Offeror shall remain responsible hereunder for all of such obligations.  
   

ARTICLE 3  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE OFFEROR  

   

   
3.1   Representations and Warranties 

The Offeror hereby makes to the Company the representations and warranties set out in Schedule B and acknowledges that the Company is 
relying upon these representations and warranties in connection with the entering into of this Agreement.  
   

   
3.2   Investigation 

Any investigation by the Company and its Representatives shall not mitigate, diminish or affect the representations and warranties of the 
Offeror pursuant to this Agreement.  
   

   
3.3   Survival of Representations and Warranties 

The representations and warranties of the Offeror contained in this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement 
and shall expire and be terminated and extinguished at the Effective Time.  
   

ARTICLE 4  
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY  

   

   
4.1   Representations and Warranties 

The Company hereby makes to the Offeror the representations and warranties set out in Schedule C to this Agreement, and acknowledges 
that the Offeror is relying upon these representations and warranties in connection with the entering into of this Agreement and making the 
Offer.  
   

   
4.2   Investigation 

Any investigation by the Offeror or its Representatives shall not mitigate, diminish or affect the representations and warranties of the 
Company pursuant to this Agreement.  
   

10  



   
4.3   Survival of Representations and Warranties 

The representations and warranties of the Offeror contained in this Agreement shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement 
and shall expire and be terminated and extinguished at the Effective Time.  
   

ARTICLE 5  
CONDUCT OF BUSINESS  

   

   
5.1   Conduct of Business by the Company 

The Company agrees that, prior to the Effective Time or termination of this Agreement, unless the Offeror shall otherwise agree in writing 
or as otherwise expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement (including Section 6.3) or the Disclosure Letter, the Company shall, and 
shall cause each of the Company Subsidiaries to:  
   

   

  
(a)   conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact its 

present business organization and goodwill, keep available the services of its officers and employees as a group and preserve the 
current relationships with suppliers, distributors, employees, customers and others having business relationships with it; 

   

  
(b)   not take any action or enter into any transaction that would preclude the Offeror from obtaining the addition to the tax cost 

determined under paragraph 88(l)(d) of the Income Tax Act (Canada) in respect of any non-depreciable capital property held by the 
Company or any of its Subsidiaries; 

   
  (c)   not amend its articles or by-laws (or similar organizational documents) or the terms of its outstanding securities; 

   
  (d)   not amalgamate or merge with any other person or adopt or enter into a plan of liquidation or dissolution; 

   
  (e)   not split, consolidate or reclassify any of its shares nor undertake any other capital reorganization; 

   

  
(f)   not declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, reduce capital or make any other distributions on or in respect of shares (other than 

dividends declared and paid by the Company in accordance with the Company’s current dividend policy in effect as of the date 
hereof or distributions by a Company Subsidiary to the Company or a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company); 

   

  
(g)   not issue any securities or any options, warrants or other rights to acquire securities, or redeem or purchase any of its outstanding 

securities, other than the issuance of Company Shares upon the exercise of currently outstanding Options in accordance with their 
terms; 

   

  
(h)   not acquire any business or assets or sell, lease, encumber or otherwise dispose of any business or assets, which, in each case, are 

individually or in the aggregate material; 

   
  (i)   not enter into any joint venture or similar agreement, arrangement or relationship; 

   
  (j)   not incur or commit to capital expenditures in excess of $100,000; 

   
  (k)   not incur or commit to incur any indebtedness for borrowed money; 

   

  
(1)   not guarantee, endorse or otherwise become responsible for any material liability, obligation or indemnity or the obligations of any 

other person, or make any loans or advances except to wholly-owned subsidiaries or in the ordinary course of business consistent 
with past practice; 

   
11  

  
(m)   not enter into any material interest rate, currency, equity or commodity swaps, hedges, derivatives, forward sales contracts or other 

similar financial instruments except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 



   

  
(n)   not pay, discharge or satisfy any material claims, liabilities or obligations other than the payment, discharge or satisfaction, in the 

ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, of liabilities reflected or reserved against in the Company’s financial 
statements or incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 

   

  
(o)   not waive, release or relinquish any material contractual right, material right under any licence or permit or other material legal rights 

or claims, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; 

   

  
(p)   not amend or modify in any material respect any material contract, licence or permit, other than in the ordinary course of business 

consistent with past practice; 

   
  (q)   not abandon or fail to diligently pursue any application for any material licences, permits, authorizations or registrations; 

   

  

(r)   not enter into or modify any employment, severance, collective bargaining or similar agreements, policies or arrangements with, or 
grant any bonuses, salary increases, stock options, pension or supplemental pension or other benefits, profit sharing, retirement 
allowances, deferred compensation, incentive compensation, severance or termination pay or any other form of compensation to, or 
make any loan to, any of its employees, directors or officers, other than with respect to employees in the ordinary course of business 
or as required pursuant to employment, pension, supplemental pension, termination or compensation arrangements or policies 
existing as of the date hereof; 

   

  
(s)   not make any changes to the Company’s existing accounting policies other than as required by applicable Laws, a Regulatory 

Authority or Canadian GAAP; 

   

  

(t)   use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its current insurance (or reinsurance) policies not to be cancelled or terminated or any of 
the coverage thereunder to lapse, unless simultaneously with such cancellation, termination or lapse, replacement policies 
underwritten by insurance and re-insurance companies of nationally recognized standing providing coverage equal to or greater than 
the coverage under the cancelled, terminated or lapsed policies for substantially similar premiums are in foil force and effect; and 

   
ARTICLE 6  

COVENANTS RELATING TO ACQUISITION PROPOSALS  
   

   

  
(u)   not announce an intention, enter into any agreement, or otherwise make a commitment to do any of the things prohibited by any of 

the foregoing subparagraphs. 

6.1   Non-Solicitation 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement (including Section 6.3), the Company shall not, directly or indirectly through any 
Representative of the Company:  
   

   

  

(i)   solicit, assist, initiate, encourage or facilitate (including by way of discussion, negotiation, furnishing information, permitting any 
visit to any facilities or properties of the Company or any Company Subsidiary, or entering into any form of agreement, arrangement 
or understanding) any inquiries, proposals or offers regarding or that may reasonably be expected to lead to any Acquisition 
Proposal; 

   

  
(ii)   engage or participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or provide any confidential information with respect to or 

otherwise cooperate with any person (other than the Offeror and its Representatives) regarding any Acquisition Proposal or potential 
Acquisition Proposal; 

   

  
(iii)   withdraw, modify or qualify, or propose publicly to withdraw, modify or qualify, in any manner adverse to the Offeror, the approval 

or recommendation of this Agreement or the Offer by the Board; 
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  (iv)   approve or recommend, or propose publicly to approve or recommend, any Acquisition Proposal; 



   

  
(v)   accept or enter into, or publicly propose to accept or enter into, any letter of intent, agreement in principle, agreement, arrangement or 

undertaking related to any Acquisition Proposal; or 

   
(b) The Company shall immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing solicitation, discussion, negotiation or any other activity 

with any person (other than the Offeror or any of its Representatives) by the Company or any of its Representatives with respect to any 
Acquisition Proposal or any potential Acquisition Proposal. The Company shall immediately cease to provide any person (other than the Offeror 
or any of its Representatives) with access to information concerning the Company or the Company Subsidiaries in respect of any Acquisition 
Proposal or any potential Acquisition Proposal, and request the return or destruction of all confidential information provided to any person (other 
than the Offeror or any of its Representatives) that has entered into a confidentiality agreement with the Company within two years of the date of 
this Agreement relating to any Acquisition Proposal or potential Acquisition Proposal to the extent provided for in such confidentiality 
agreement and shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that such requests are honoured.  
   

(c) The Company shall ensure that its Representatives are aware of the prohibitions in this Section 6.1 and the Company acknowledges that 
it is directly liable for any breach of Section 6.1 by its Representatives.  
   

   

  
(vi)   release any person from or waive or otherwise forbear in the enforcement of any confidentiality or standstill agreement with such 

person that would facilitate the making or implementation of any Acquisition Proposal. 

6.2   Notification of Acquisition Proposals 

The Company shall promptly (and in any event within 24 hours) notify the Offeror, at first orally and then in writing, of any proposal, 
inquiry, offer or request received by the Company or its Representatives after the date hereof: that would reasonably be expected to lead to an 
Acquisition Proposal or potential Acquisition Proposal; for discussions or negotiations in respect of an Acquisition Proposal or potential 
Acquisition Proposal; for non-public information relating to the Company or any Company Subsidiary; or any material amendments to the 
foregoing. Such notice shall include the identity of the person making such proposal, inquiry, offer or request, a description of the terms and 
conditions of such proposal, inquiry, offer or request, and all written communications with such person, and shall include copies of any such 
proposal, inquiry, offer or request (or any amendment to any of the foregoing) and such other details of the proposal, inquiry, offer or request as 
the Offeror may reasonably request. The Company shall keep the Offeror promptly and fully informed of the status, including any change to the 
material terms, of such proposal, inquiry, offer or request and shall respond promptly to all inquiries by the Offeror with respect thereto.  
   

   
6.3   Responding to Acquisition Proposals and Superior Proposals 

(a) Notwithstanding Section 6.1 (a) or any other provision of this Agreement, following the receipt by the Company of a written 
Acquisition Proposal made after the date hereof (that was not solicited after the date hereof in contravention of Section 6.1 (a)) of this 
Agreement or Section 2.1(f) of any Lock-Up Agreement, the Company and its Representatives may:  
   

   

  
(i)   contact the person making such Acquisition Proposal and its Representatives solely for the purpose of clarifying the terms and 

conditions of such Acquisition Proposal and the likelihood of its consummation so as to determine whether such Acquisition 
Proposal is, or is reasonably likely to lead to a Superior Proposal; and 

   

  

(ii)   if the Board determines, after consultation with its outside legal and financial advisors, that such Acquisition Proposal is, or is 
reasonably likely to lead to, a Superior Proposal (notwithstanding that such Acquisition Proposal may be subject to a due diligence 
condition and/or a financing condition at such time) and that the failure to take the relevant action would be a breach of its fiduciary 
duties: 
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(A)   furnish information with respect to the Company and the Company Subsidiaries to the person making such Acquisition 

Proposal and its Representatives only if such person has entered into a  



   

  

confidentiality agreement that contains provisions that are not less favourable to the Company than those contained in the 
Confidentiality Agreement and which also includes a standstill covenant that prohibits such person, for a period of at least 12 
months, from acquiring, or offering to acquire, any Company Shares without the consent of the Company, provided that the 
Company sends a copy of such confidentiality agreement to the Offeror promptly following its execution and the Offeror is 
promptly provided with a list of, and access to (to the extent not previously provided to the Offeror) the information provided 
to such person; and  

   
(b) Notwithstanding Section 6.1 (a) or any other provision of this Agreement, the Company may (i) enter into an agreement (other than a 

confidentiality agreement contemplated by Section 6.3(a)(ii)(A)) with respect to an Acquisition Proposal that is a Superior Proposal and/or 
(ii) withdraw, modify or qualify its approval or recommendation of the Offer and recommend or approve an Acquisition Proposal that is a 
Superior Proposal, provided:  
   

  (B)   engage in discussions and negotiations with the person making such Acquisition Proposal and its Representatives. 

   
  (i)   the Company shall have complied with its obligations under this Article 6; 

   

  
(ii)   the Board has determined, after consultation with its outside legal and financial advisors, that such Acquisition Proposal is a Superior 

Proposal and that the failure to take the relevant action would be a breach of its fiduciary duties; 

   

  

(iii)    the Company has delivered written notice to the Offeror of the determination of the Board that the Acquisition Proposal is a Superior 
Proposal and of the intention of the Board to approve or recommend such Superior Proposal and/or of the Company to enter into an 
agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal, together with a copy of such agreement executed by the person making such 
Superior Proposal that is capable of acceptance by the Company and a summary of the valuation analysis attributed by the Board in 
good faith to any non-cash consideration included in such Acquisition Proposal after consultation with its financial advisors (the 
“Superior Proposal Notice” ); 

   

  
(iv)   at least five Business Days have elapsed since the date the Superior Proposal Notice was received by the Offeror, which five 

Business Day period is referred to as the “Match Period”; 

   

  
(v)   if the Offeror has offered to amend the terms of the Offer and this Agreement during the Match Period pursuant to Section 6.3(c), 

such Acquisition Proposal continues to be a Superior Proposal compared to the amendment to the terms of the Offer and this 
Agreement offered by the Offeror at the termination of the Match Period; and 

   
(c) During the Match Period, the Offeror shall have the opportunity, but not the obligation, to offer to amend the terms of the Offer and this 

Agreement. The Board shall review any such offer by the Offeror to amend the terms of the Offer and this Agreement in order to determine, in 
good faith in the exercise of its fiduciary duties, whether the Offeror’s offer to amend the Offer and this Agreement, upon its acceptance, would 
result in the Acquisition Proposal ceasing to be a Superior Proposal compared to the amendment to the terms of the Offer and this Agreement 
offered by the Offeror. If the Board determines that the Acquisition Proposal would cease to be a Superior Proposal, the Offeror shall amend the 
Offer and the Company and the Offeror shall enter into an amendment to this Agreement reflecting the offer by the Offeror to amend the terms 
of the Offer and this Agreement.  
   

(d) The Board shall promptly reaffirm its recommendation of the Offer by press release after: (x) any Acquisition Proposal (which is 
determined by the Board not to be a Superior Proposal) is publicly announced or made; or (y) the Board determines that a proposed amendment 
to the terms of the Offer and this Agreement  
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(vi)   the Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9. l(j) and the Company has previously paid or, concurrently with 

termination, pays the Termination Payment to the Offeror. 



would result in the Acquisition Proposal not being a Superior Proposal, and the Offeror has so amended the terms of the Offer. The Offeror shall 
be given a reasonable opportunity to review and comment on the form and content of any such press release, recognizing that whether or not 
such comments are appropriate will be determined by the Company, acting reasonably.  
   

(e) Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Board from responding through a directors’ circular or otherwise making any public 
disclosure as required by applicable Laws to an Acquisition Proposal that it determines is not a Superior Proposal. Further, nothing in this 
Agreement shall prevent the Board from making any public disclosure if, in the good faith judgment of the Board, after consultation with its 
legal advisors, such disclosure is necessary for the Board to act in a manner consistent with its fiduciary duties.  
   

(f) Each successive material modification of any Acquisition Proposal shall constitute a new Acquisition Proposal for purposes of 
Section 6.3(b).  
   

ARTICLE 7  
COVENANTS RELATING TO REGULATORY APPROVALS  

   

   
7.1   Regulatory Filings and Approvals 

As soon as reasonably practicable after the date hereof, each party shall make all necessary filings, applications and submissions with 
Regulatory Authorities under all applicable Laws in respect of the transactions contemplated herein.  
   

   
7.2   Cooperation Regarding Regulatory Filings and Approvals 

(a) Subject to applicable Laws, each party shall provide the other party with reasonable opportunity to review and comment on all filings, 
applications and submissions with Regulatory Authorities to be made by it and the other party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to 
cooperate with and assist such party in the preparation and making of all such filings, applications and submissions and the obtaining of all 
consents, approvals, authorizations or waivers required to be obtained by the such party (including participating and appearing in any 
proceedings before Regulatory Authorities).  
   

(b) Each party shall promptly notify the other party of any material communication to such party from any Regulatory Authority in respect 
of the transactions contemplated herein (and provide a copy thereof if such communication is in writing) and, subject to applicable Laws, 
provide the other party (or its external counsel in respect of competitively-sensitive, privileged or confidential matters) with reasonable 
opportunity to review and comment on any proposed written material communication to any such Regulatory Authority. Each party shall consult 
with the other party (or its external counsel in respect of competitively-sensitive, privileged or confidential matters) prior to participating in any 
substantive meeting or discussion with any Regulatory Authority in respect of the transactions contemplated herein and give the other party (or 
its external counsel in respect of competitively-sensitive, privileged or confidential matters) the opportunity to attend and participate thereat.  
   

ARTICLE 8  
OTHER COVENANTS  

   

   
8.1   Transaction Structuring 

(a) The Company agrees that, upon request by the Offeror, the Company shall (a) effect such reorganizations of its business, operations 
and assets or such other transactions as the Offeror may request, acting reasonably (each, a “Pre-Acquisition Reorganization”) and 
(b) cooperate with the Offeror and its advisors in order to determine the nature of the Pre-Acquisition Reorganizations that might be undertaken 
and the manner in  
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which they might most effectively be undertaken; provided that any Pre-Acquisition Reorganization (i) is not prejudicial to the Company in any 
material respect, (ii) does not result in any material breach by the Company of its constating documents, any existing contract or commitment of 
the Company or any Law, or (iii) would not reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the Offeror’s ability to take up and pay for the 
Company Shares tendered to the Offer. The Offeror shall provide written notice to the Company of any proposed Pre-Acquisition 
Reorganization at least ten Business Days prior to the Expiry Time. Upon receipt of such notice, the Offeror and the Company shall work co-
operatively and use commercially reasonable efforts to prepare prior to the Expiry Time all documentation necessary and do all such other acts 
and things as are necessary to give effect to such Pre-Acquisition Reorganization. The Offeror agrees to waive any breach of a representation, 
warranty or covenant by the Company where such breach is a result of an action taken by the Company in good faith pursuant to a request by the 
Offeror in accordance with this Section 8.1. The completion of any such Pre-Acquisition Reorganization shall be subject to the satisfaction or 
waiver by the Offeror of the conditions set forth in Schedule A and shall be effected prior to any take-up by the Offeror of Company Shares 
tendered to the Offer. The Offeror shall forthwith upon request, from time to time, reimburse the Company for all direct fees and expenses of the 
Company incurred in connection with the proposed Pre-Acquisition Reorganization, if any. In the event the Offeror does not take up and pay for 
the Shares tendered to the Offer, the Offeror shall pay all fees and expenses of the Company required to unwind any Pre-Acquisition 
Reorganization.  
   

(b) If (i) the Offeror concludes that it is necessary or desirable to proceed with another form of transaction (such as a plan of arrangement 
or amalgamation) whereby the Offeror or an Affiliate of the Offeror would effectively acquire all of the Company Shares or all or substantially 
all of the assets of the Company within approximately the same time periods and on economic terms and other terms and conditions (including 
tax treatment) and having consequences to the Company and its Shareholders that are equivalent to or better than those contemplated by this 
Agreement (an “Alternative Transaction”), and (ii) the Company concludes, acting reasonably, that no action required to be taken in 
connection with such Alternative Transaction (and not required to be taken in connection with the Offer) prior to the consummation thereof 
would constitute a Material Adverse Effect in respect of the Company, the Company agrees to support the completion of such Alternative 
Transaction in the same manner as the Offer and shall otherwise fulfill its covenants contained in this Agreement in respect of such Alternative 
Transaction.  
   

(c) In the event of any proposed Alternative Transaction, any reference in this Agreement to the Offer shall refer to the Alternative 
Transaction to the extent applicable, all terms, covenants, representations and warranties of this Agreement shall be and shall be deemed to have 
been made in the context of the Alternative Transaction, and all references to the expiry time of the Offer, including the Expiry Time, herein 
shall refer to the date of closing of the transactions contemplated by the Alternative Transaction (as such date may be extended from time to 
time).  
   

   
8.2   Further Assurances 

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each party agrees to use all commercially reasonable efforts to take, or to the extent 
within its control cause to be taken, all action and to do, or to the extent within its control cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or 
advisable (a) to satisfy (or cause the satisfaction of) the conditions set out in Schedule A and to consummate and make effective as promptly as is 
practicable the transactions contemplated herein and (b) for the discharge by each party of its respective obligations under this Agreement and 
the Offer, including its obligations under applicable Laws, in each case including the execution and delivery of such documents as the other 
party hereto may reasonably require. Each of the parties hereto, where appropriate, shall reasonably cooperate with the other party in taking such 
actions.  
   

   
8.3   Notification of Certain Matters 

Each party shall give prompt notice to the other of: (a) the occurrence or failure to occur of any event, which occurrence or failure would 
cause or may cause any representation or warranty on its part contained in this  
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Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect at any time from the date hereof to the Effective Time; and (b) any failure of such 
party or any of its Representatives, to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it 
hereunder.  
   

   
8.4   Access 

Upon reasonable notice and subject to the Confidentiality Agreement and to the termination of this Agreement, the Company agrees to 
continue to provide the Offeror and its Representatives with reasonable access (without disruption to the conduct of the Company’s business) 
during normal business hours to all books, records, information and files in its possession and control and access to its personnel on an as 
reasonably requested basis as well as reasonable access to the properties of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries in order to allow the 
Offeror to continue to conduct such investigations as the Offeror may consider necessary or advisable, and further agrees to assist the Offeror in 
all reasonable ways in any due diligence investigations which the Offeror may wish to conduct. Nothing in the foregoing shall require the 
Company to disclose information which it is prohibited from disclosing pursuant to a written confidentiality agreement or confidentiality 
provision of an agreement with third parties, or information which, in the opinion of the Company, acting reasonably, is competitively sensitive, 
provided that the Company accepts that counsel to the Offeror may have access to such sensitive information in connection with obtaining 
certain regulatory approvals. Any investigation by a party or its Representatives shall not mitigate, diminish or affect the representations and 
warranties of the other party contained in this Agreement or any document or certificate given pursuant hereto.  
   

   
8.5   Shareholder Claims 

The Company shall notify the Offeror of any claim brought by any present, former or purported holder of any securities of the Company in 
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement prior to the Effective Time and shall consult with the Offeror prior to settling 
any such claim prior to the Effective Time.  
   

   
8.6   Public Statements 

The parties shall issue a joint press release with respect to this Agreement and the Offer as soon as practicable, in a form acceptable to each 
party. Each party shall consult with the other party prior to issuing any other press releases or otherwise making public statements with respect to 
the Offer or this Agreement and shall provide the other party with a reasonable period of time to review and comment on all such press releases 
or statements prior to the release thereof.  
   

   
8.7   Insurance and Indemnification 

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall obtain and pay for a directors’  and officers’  liability insurance “ tail”  policy for the 
Company (the “D&O Policy” ) with a term of six years following the date of the Effective Time and providing for coverage and amounts, and 
containing terms and conditions, which are no less favourable to the directors and officers of the Company than the current policies of directors’ 
and officers’ and liability insurance maintained by the Company; provided, however, that in no event will the Company pay in excess of 250% 
of the annual premium currently paid by the Company for such coverage for the purchase of such D&O Policy, and if the cost for such coverage 
is in excess of such amount, the Company shall only maintain such coverage as is available for such amount. The Offeror shall cause the 
Company to maintain such D&O Policy in accordance with the provisions of this Section 8.7.  
   

(b) The Offeror agrees that all rights to indemnification or exculpation existing in favour of the directors or officers of the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company as provided in the Company’s articles or by-laws as at the date of the Confidentiality Agreement shall survive the 
transactions contemplated hereby and shall continue in full force and effect for a period of not less than six years from the Effective Time.  
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(c) In the event the Company or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other person and shall not be the 
continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to 
any person, then, and in such case, proper provision shall be made so that such successors and assigns of the Company or, at the Offeror’s 
option, the Offeror, shall assume the obligations set forth in this Section 8.7.  
   

(d) The Company shall not amend the constating documents of the Company after the Effective Time if such action would adversely affect 
the rights of individuals who, on or prior to the Effective Time, were entitled to advances, indemnification or exculpation thereunder for actions 
or omissions by such individuals at any time at or prior to the Effective Time. The individuals referred to in the preceding sentence shall include 
any individuals who served at any time prior to the date hereof as directors or officers of any subsidiary at the Company’s request, it being 
acknowledged by the parties hereto that each director or officer of a subsidiary is or was doing so at such request of the Company.  
   

(e) The Offeror agrees that all rights to indemnification or exculpation now existing in favour of present and former officers and directors 
of the Company and its subsidiaries, including, without limitation, all provisions relating to advances for the funding of costs and expenses in 
connection with indemnification arrangements, shall survive the completion of the transactions contemplated hereunder and shall continue in full 
force and effect for a period of six years from the Effective Time. The Offeror agrees that all determinations made with respect to such rights to 
indemnification or exculpation shall be determined upon advice from independent counsel, which advice will be reasonably considered and acted 
upon.  
   

   
8.8   Third Party Consents; Termination of Credit Facilit y 

The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts to obtain all consents from the parties to any Material Contract which such party would 
otherwise have a right to terminate or declare in default as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The 
Company shall, at or prior to the Effective Time, terminate its credit agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada and discharge the security 
interest granted to Royal Bank of Canada.  
   

ARTICLE 9  
TERMINATION  

   

   
9.1   Termination 

This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time:  
   

   
  (a)   by mutual written agreement of the Offeror and the Company; 

   

  
(b)   by the Company, if the Offeror does not mail the Offer by the Latest Mailing Time provided that the Company may not terminate if 

the failure to mail results from a material breach by the Company of this Agreement; 

   

  

(c)   by the Offeror on or after the Latest Mailing Time, if any condition to making the Offer for the Offeror’s benefit is not satisfied or 
waived by such date, other than where such non-satisfaction occurs as a result of the material breach by the Offeror of any covenant 
or obligation under this Agreement or as a result of any representation or warranty of the Offeror in this Agreement being untrue or 
incorrect; 

   

  

(d)   by the Offeror if the Minimum Tender Condition or any other condition of the Offer shall not be satisfied or waived at the Expiry 
Time of the Offer, and the Offeror shall not elect to waive such condition, other than as a result of the material breach by the Offeror 
of any covenant or obligation under this Agreement or as a result of any representation or warranty of the Offeror in this Agreement 
being untrue or incorrect; 
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(e)   by the Offeror or the Company, if the Offeror has not taken up and paid for the Company Shares deposited under the Offer by a date 

that is 90 days following the date of mailing of the Offer (the  



   

  

“ Outside Date” ), otherwise than as a result of the material breach by such party of any covenant or obligation under this Agreement 
or as a result of any representation or warranty of such party in this Agreement being untrue or incorrect; provided, however, that if 
the Offeror’s take-up and payment for Company Shares deposited under the Offer is delayed by (i) an injunction or order made by a 
Regulatory Authority of competent jurisdiction, or (ii) the Offeror not having obtained any regulatory waiver, consent or approval 
which is necessary to permit the Offeror to take up and pay for Company Shares deposited under the Offer, then, provided that such 
injunction or order is being contested or appealed in good faith or such regulatory waiver, consent or approval is being actively 
sought in good faith, as applicable, this Agreement shall not be terminated by the Company pursuant to this Section 9.1(e) until the 
earlier of the 120 day after the date of mailing of the Offer and the fifth Business Day following the date on which such injunction 
or order ceases to be in effect or such waiver, consent or approval is obtained, as applicable;  

   

  
(f)   by either the Company or the Offeror, if any Regulatory Authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling permanently 

restraining or enjoining or otherwise prohibiting any of the transactions contemplated herein (unless such order, decree or ruling has 
been withdrawn, reversed or otherwise made inapplicable) which order, decree or ruling is final and non-appealable; 

   
  (g)   by the Offeror if the Company is in material default of any covenant or obligation under Article 6; 

   
  (h)   by either the Company or the Offeror, if 

   

  
(i)   the other party is in material default of any covenant or obligation under this Agreement other than a covenant or obligation 

under Article 6; or 

   

  

(ii)   any representation or warranty of the other party under this Agreement shall have been at the date hereof untrue or incorrect in 
any material respect or shall have become untrue or incorrect in any material respect at any time prior to the Expiry Time, 
except for such inaccuracies in the representations and warranties, which individually or in the aggregate, would not 
reasonably be expected to, in the case of the Offeror, have a Material Adverse Effect in respect of the Company or prevent or 
materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, or, in the case of the Company, prevent or 
materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein; 

and in either case such default or inaccuracy is not curable or, if curable, is not cured by the earlier of (x) the date that is 15 days from 
the date of notice of such default or inaccuracy and (y) the Expiry Time;  

   

   
  (i)   by the Offeror, if: 

   

  
(i)   the Board withdraws, modifies, changes or qualifies its approval or recommendation of this Agreement or the Offer in any 

manner adverse to the Offeror; or 

   
  (ii)   the Board recommends or approves an Acquisition Proposal; and 

   

   

  

(j)   by the Company, if the Company proposes to enter into a written agreement (other than a confidentiality agreement permitted by 
Section 6.3(a)(ii)) with respect to a Superior Proposal in compliance with the provisions of Section 6.3 and the Company is not in 
any material default of any covenant or obligation under this Agreement, provided that the Company has previously or concurrently 
will have paid to the Offeror the applicable Termination Payment. 

9.2   Termination Payment 

(a) The Offeror shall be entitled to a payment of $1,500,000 (the “ Termination Payment” ) upon the occurrence of any of the following 
events (each a “Termination Payment Event”) which shall be paid by the Company within the time specified in respect of each such 
Termination Payment Event:  
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(i)   the Agreement is terminated by the Offeror pursuant to Section 9.1(g), 9.1(h)(i), 9.1(h)(ii) (where such representation or warranty is 

or has become untrue due to an intentional or wilful misrepresentation or  

th 



   

  
act on the part of the Company) or 9.1(i), in which case the Termination Payment shall be paid to the Offeror by 11:00 p.m. (Toronto 
time) on the first Business Day following termination;  

   

  
(ii)   this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 9.1(j), in which case the Termination Payment shall be paid prior 

to or concurrently with such termination; and 

   
(b) The Termination Payment shall be paid by the Company to the Offeror by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an account 

specified by the Offeror. The Company shall not be obligated to make more than one Termination Payment pursuant to this Section 9.2.  
   

(c) If this Agreement is terminated by the Offeror pursuant to Section 9.1 (h)(ii) (other than where such representation or warranty is or has 
become untrue due to an intentional or wilful misrepresentation or act on the part of the Company), the Company shall reimburse the Offeror 
$750,000 for the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the entering of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein (the 
“Reimbursement Payment” ). The Reimbursement Payment shall be paid on the first Business Day following such termination by the Offeror.  
   

(d) The Reimbursement Payment shall be paid by the Company to the Offeror by wire transfer in immediately available funds to an 
account specified by the Offeror.  
   

   

  

(iii)    this Agreement is terminated by the Offeror pursuant to Section 9.1 (d) as a result of the Minimum Tender Condition not being 
satisfied or Section 9.1(e), in each case if on or after the date hereof and prior to the Expiry Time, an Acquisition Proposal is publicly 
announced prior to the Expiry Time, and within 365 days following the termination of this Agreement any Acquisition Proposal is 
consummated or the Board approves or recommends any Acquisition Proposal in which case the Termination Payment shall be paid 
on the earliest date such Acquisition Proposal is consummated or such approval or recommendation is granted. 

9.3   Effect of Termination 

Where a Termination Payment Event occurs, the Termination Payment to be received pursuant to Section 9.2 is the sole remedy in 
compensation for damages of the Offeror and its Affiliates with respect to the event or events giving rise to the termination of this Agreement 
and the resulting Termination Payment Event; provided, however, that nothing contained in this Section 9.3, and no payment of any Termination 
Payment, shall relieve or have the effect of relieving any party in any way from liability for damages incurred or suffered by a party as a result of 
an intentional or wilful breach of this Agreement. In the event of termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1, this Agreement shall be 
of no further force and effect, except that Section 9.2, this Section 9.3 and Article 10 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  
   

   
9.4   Remedies 

Subject to Section 9.3, the parties acknowledge and agree that an award of money damages would be inadequate for any breach of this 
Agreement by any party or its Representatives and any such breach would cause the non-breaching party irreparable harm. Accordingly, the 
parties agree that, in the event of any breach or threatened breach of this Agreement by one of the parties, the non-breaching party will also be 
entitled, without the requirement of posting a bond or other security, to equitable relief, including injunctive relief and specific performance. 
Such remedies will not be the exclusive remedies for any breach of this Agreement but will be in addition to all other remedies available at law 
or equity to each of the parties.  
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ARTICLE 10  
GENERAL PROVISIONS  

   

   
10.1   Amendment 

This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument signed by each of the parties.  
   

   
10.2   Waiver 

(a) At any time prior to the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1, either party may:  
   

   
  (i)   extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party; or 

   
(b) No waiver by any party shall be effective unless in writing and any waiver shall affect only the matter, and the occurrence thereof, 

specifically identified and shall not extend to any other matter or occurrence. No failure or delay in exercising any right, power or privilege 
under this Agreement will operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise 
thereof or the exercise of any right, power or privilege under this Agreement.  
   

   

  
(ii)   waive compliance with any of the agreements of the other party or with any conditions to its own obligations, in each case only to the 

extent such obligations, agreements and conditions are intended for its benefit. 

10.3   Expenses; Advisors 

(a) Subject to Section 9.2(c) and 9.2(d), the parties agree that except as otherwise provided herein, all costs and expenses of the parties 
relating to the transactions contemplated herein, including legal fees, accounting fees, financial advisory fees, regulatory filing fees, stock 
exchange fees, all disbursements of advisors and printing and mailing costs, shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses.  
   

(b) The Company represents and warrants to the Offeror that, with the exception of Pagemill Partners, LLC and its Affiliates and Fraser 
Mackenzie Limited and its Affiliates, for whose fees and expenses the Company shall be solely liable, no securityholder, director, officer, 
employee, consultant, broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission, or to the 
reimbursement of any of its expenses, in connection with the transactions contemplated herein based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of 
the Company.  
   

   
10.4   Notices 

Any notice, consent, waiver, direction or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement by a party shall be 
in writing and may be given by delivering same or sending same by facsimile transmission or by delivery addressed to the party to which the 
notice is to be given at its address for service herein. Any notice, consent, waiver, direction or other communication aforesaid shall, if delivered, 
be deemed to have been given and received on the date on which it was delivered to the address provided herein (if a Business Day, if not, the 
next succeeding Business Day) and if sent by facsimile transmission be deemed to have been given and received at the time of receipt (if a 
Business Day, if not the next succeeding Business Day) unless actually received after 4:30 p.m. (Toronto time) at the point of delivery in which 
case it shall be deemed to have been given and received on the next Business Day.  
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The address for service for each of the parties hereto shall be as follows:  
   

   
  (a)   if to the Offeror: 

2207 Bridgepointe Parkway  
Suite 500  
San Mateo, CA 94404  
United States of America  

   
Attention: Thomas McKeever  
Fax: 650.645.3700  

   
with a copy to:  

   
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, a Professional Corporation  
One Market Street  
Spear Tower, Suite 3300  
San Francisco, California 94105-1126  

   
Attention: Robert Ishii  
Fax: 415.947.2099  

   
and to:  

   
Davies Ward Phillips & Vineberg LLP  
1 First Canadian Place  
100 King Street West  
Suite 4400, P.O. Box 63  
Toronto, Ontario M5X 1B1  

   
Attention: Patricia Olasker  
Fax: 416.863.0871  

   

   
  (b)   if to the Company: 

95 Mural Street  
Suite 201  
Richmond Hill, Ontario L4B 3G2  

   
Attention: George Kypreos  
Fax: 905.709.1023  

   
with a copy to:  

   
Borden Ladner Gervais LLP  
Suite 4100, Scotia Plaza  
40 King Street West  
Toronto, Ontario M5H 3Y4  

   
Attention: E.F. Merringer / P.A.D. Mingay  
Fax: 416-361-7098  

   

   
10.5   Severability 

If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or 
unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall 
in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated and the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify the agreement to preserve each party’s 
anticipated benefits under this Agreement.  
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10.6   Entire Agreement 

This Agreement and the Confidentiality Agreement (together with all other documents and instruments referred to herein) constitute the 
entire agreement and supersede all other prior agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof.  
   

   
10.7   Assignment 

This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Except 
as provided in Section 2.6, this Agreement may not be assigned by any party without the prior written consent of the other party.  
   

   
10.8   Governing Law 

This Agreement shall be governed in all respects, including validity, interpretation and effect, by the Laws of the Province of Ontario and 
the federal Laws of Canada applicable therein, without giving effect to any principles of conflict of Laws thereof which would result in the 
application of the Laws of any other jurisdiction, and all actions and proceedings arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be heard and 
determined exclusively in the courts of the Province of Ontario.  
   

   
10.9   Contra Proferentum 

The parties waive the application of any rule of Law which otherwise would be applicable in connection with the construction of this 
Agreement that ambiguous or conflicting terms or provisions should be construed against the party who (or whose counsel) prepared the 
executed agreement or any earlier draft of the same.  
   

   
10.10   No Third Party Beneficiaries 

This Agreement is not intended to confer on any person other than the parties any rights or remedies.  
   

   
10.11   Time of Essence 

Time shall be of the essence in this Agreement.  
   

   
10.12   Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be original and all of which taken 
together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement to produce 
more than one counterpart.  
   

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE HAS BEEN LEFT BLANK INT ENTIONALLY]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been executed and delivered as of the date first above written, by the duly authorized 
representatives of the parties hereto.  
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ACTUATE CORPORATION 

By   /s/ Peter I. Cittadini  
Name:    Peter I. Cittadini 
Title:   President and CEO 

XENOS GROUP INC. 

By   /s/ Stuart Butts  
Name:   Stuart Butts 
Title:   Chairman and CEO 

     
  Name: 
  Title: 



SCHEDULE A  
   

CONDITIONS OF THE OFFER  
   

Subject to the provisions of the Agreement and applicable Laws, the Offeror shall have the right to withdraw or terminate the Offer (or 
extend the Offer or postpone taking up and paying for any Company Shares deposited under the Offer), and shall not be required to take up and 
pay for any Company Shares deposited under the Offer unless all of the following conditions are satisfied or waived by the Offeror at or prior to 
the Expiry Time:  
   

   

  
(a)   there shall have been validly deposited under the Offer and not withdrawn at the Expiry Time such number of Company Shares that, 

together with any Company Shares held by the Offeror and its Affiliates, constitutes at least 66 2/3% of the Company Shares 
outstanding at the Expiry Time on a fully-diluted basis (the “Minimum Tender Condition”); 

   
  (b)   the Agreement shall not have been terminated in accordance with its terms; 

   
  (c)   the Offeror shall have determined, acting reasonably, that: 

   

  
(i)   no act, action, suit or proceeding shall have been threatened in writing or taken before or by any Regulatory Authority or by 

any elected or appointed public official or private person (including, without limitation, any individual, corporation, firm, 
group or other entity) in Canada or elsewhere, whether or not having the force of law; and 

   
  (ii)   no Law, shall have been proposed, enacted, promulgated or applied, in either case: 

   

  
(A) to cease trade, enjoin, prohibit or impose material limitations or conditions on the purchase by or the sale to the Offeror 

of the Company Shares, the right of the Offeror to own or exercise full rights of ownership of the Company Shares or 
the consummation of a Compulsory Acquisition or a Subsequent Acquisition Transaction; 

   

  
(B) which, if the Offer, any Compulsory Acquisition or any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction were consummated, would 

have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company; or 

   

  
(C) which would materially and adversely affect the ability of the Offeror to proceed with the Offer any Compulsory 

Acquisition or any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction and/or taking up and paying for any shares deposited under the 
Offer; 

   

  
(d)   there shall not exist any prohibition at Law against the Offeror making or maintaining the Offer or taking up and paying for any 

Company Shares deposited under the Offer or completing any Compulsory Acquisition or any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction; 

   

  

(e)   all government and regulatory approvals, waiting or suspensory periods, waivers, permits, consents, reviews, investigations, orders, 
rulings, decisions, statements of no objection and exemptions, which Offeror shall have determined, acting reasonably, are necessary 
or desirable to complete the Offer or any Compulsory Acquisition or Subsequent Acquisition Transaction, shall have been obtained 
or concluded or, in the case of waiting or suspensory periods, expired or been terminated, each on terms and conditions satisfactory 
to the Offeror acting reasonably; 
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(f)   the Offeror shall have determined, acting reasonably, that there shall not exist or have occurred (or, if there does exist or shall have 
occurred prior to the commencement of the Offer, there shall not have been disclosed generally or to the Offeror in writing on or 
before the execution and delivery of this Agreement) any change (or any condition, event or development involving a prospective 
change) in the business, condition (financial or otherwise), properties, assets (tangible or intangible), operations, results of 
operations, prospects, capitalization, properties, financial condition, or liabilities of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries 
that, when considered either individually or in the aggregate, constitutes or may reasonably be expected to constitute a Material 
Adverse Effect with respect to the Company; 



   

  
(g)   the Company shall have complied in all material respects with its covenants and obligations under the Agreement to be complied 

with at or prior to the Expiry Time and all representations and warranties made by the Company in this Agreement shall be true and 
correct at and as of the Expiry Time in all material respects; and 

   
The foregoing conditions are for the exclusive benefit of the Offeror and may be asserted by the Offeror regardless of the circumstances 

giving rise to any such assertion, including any action or inaction by the Offeror. Subject to the provisions of the Agreement, the Offeror in its 
sole discretion may waive any of the foregoing conditions in whole or in part at any time and from time to time without prejudice to any other 
rights which the Offeror may have. The failure by the Offeror at any time to exercise any of the foregoing rights will not be deemed to be a 
waiver of any such right and each such right shall be deemed to be an ongoing right which may be asserted at any time and from time to time.  
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(h)   the Offeror shall not have become aware of any untrue statement of a material fact, or an omission to state a material fact that is 
required to be stated or that is necessary to make a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made and at 
the date it was made (after giving effect to all subsequent filings in relation to all matters covered in earlier filings) in any document 
filed by or on behalf of the Company with any securities regulatory authority in Canada or elsewhere which the Offeror shall have 
determined in its reasonable judgment constitutes a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company. 



SCHEDULE B  
   

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE OFFEROR  
   

   
1.   Organization 

Offeror is a corporation duly registered under the Laws of Delaware, is validly existing and has all necessary corporate power, authority 
and capacity to own its property and assets and to carry on its business as currently owned and conducted.  
   

   
2.   Authority and No Violation 

(a) Offeror has the necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. 
The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the making of the Offer by Offeror have been duly authorized by the board of directors of 
Offeror and no other corporate proceedings on its part are necessary to authorize this Agreement or to make the Offer. This Agreement has been 
duly executed and delivered by Offeror and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Offeror, enforceable against it in accordance with 
its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other applicable Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, and to general principles of equity.  
   

(b) The authorization of this Agreement, the execution and delivery by Offeror of this Agreement and the performance by Offeror of its 
obligations under this Agreement, and the consummation of the Offer, any Compulsory Acquisition and any Subsequent Acquisition 
Transaction, will not result (with or without notice or the passage of time) in a violation or breach of or constitute a default under any provision 
of:  
   

   
  (i)   the constating documents of Offeror; 

   

  
(ii)   any applicable Laws, except to the extent that such violation, breach or default would not, individually or in the aggregate, 

reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Offer; 

   

  
(iii)    any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, licence, permit or government grant to which Offeror is party or by which it is bound, 

except to the extent that such violation, breach or default would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to 
prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Offer; or 

   
(c) No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any Regulatory Authority (other than 

pursuant to applicable securities Laws) is required to be obtained or made by the Offeror (i) in connection with its execution of this Agreement 
or the consummation of any transaction contemplated by the Offer and this Agreement.  
   

   

  (iv)   any judgment, degree, order or award of any Regulatory Authority or arbitrator. 

3.   Ownership of Shares 

Neither the Offeror nor any of its Affiliates nor, to the knowledge of the Offeror, any director or senior officer of the Offeror, or any 
associate of any director or senior officer of the Offeror, beneficially owns any Company Shares.  
   

   
4.   Financing 

The Offeror has and, at the Expiry Time will have, sufficient funds or will have made adequate arrangements (as such term is understood 
for purposes of section 97.3 of the Securities Act) to ensure that the required funds are available to effect payment in full for all of the Company 
Shares acquired pursuant to the Offer (assuming 100% of the Company Shares are tendered under the Offer) and any Compulsory Acquisition 
and Subsequent Acquisition Transaction.  
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5.   Agreements with Respect to the Offer 

The Offeror has entered into the Lock-Up Agreements and has not entered into any other agreements with such parties thereto in respect of 
the Offer.  
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SCHEDULE C  
   

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY  
   

   
1.   Organization 

(a) The Company and each Company Subsidiary has been duly incorporated or formed under all applicable Laws of its jurisdiction of 
incorporation or formation, is validly existing and has all necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to own its property and assets and to 
carry on its business as currently owned and conducted. All of the Company Subsidiaries and the Company’s percentage of ownership of such 
Company Subsidiaries are as set out in the Disclosure Letter. All of the outstanding shares of the Company Subsidiaries which are held directly 
or indirectly by the Company are validly issued, fully paid and non assessable and are owned directly or indirectly by the Company free and 
clear of any Encumbrances. There are no outstanding options, rights, entitlements, understandings or commitments (contingent or otherwise) 
providing to any person the right to acquire any such shares or other ownership interests in any of the Company Subsidiaries. The Company does 
not hold any equity interest, or right to acquire an equity interest, in any person, other than its interests in the Company Subsidiaries. True and 
complete copies of the constating documents of the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries have been made available to the Offeror 
and none of the Company or any Company Subsidiary has taken any action to amend or supersede such documents.  
   

(b) The Company and each Company Subsidiary is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction 
where the character of the properties owned, leased or operated by it or the nature of its business makes such qualification or licensing necessary, 
except where the failure to be so qualified, licensed or in good standing has not had or would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or 
in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect in respect of the Company.  
   

   
2.   Capitalization 

(a) The authorized capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of Company Shares and an unlimited number of special shares 
issuable in series. As at the date of this Agreement, 10,005,444 Company Shares are issued and outstanding and zero special shares are issued 
and outstanding. As at the date of this Agreement, there are outstanding Options to acquire an aggregate of up to 756,500 Company Shares. 
Except for the Options referred to in the preceding sentence, there are no options, warrants, conversion privileges, shareholder rights plans or 
other rights, agreements, arrangements or commitments (pre-emptive, contingent or otherwise) obligating the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary to issue or sell any shares of the Company or any Company Subsidiary or securities or obligations of any kind convertible into or 
exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of the Company or any Company Subsidiary.  
   

(b) The Company has provided to the Offeror, for all of the outstanding Options, a true and complete list setting out the name of each 
holder of an Option, the number of Options held by such person and the exercise price, date of grant, vesting schedule and expiry date of each 
such Option, as well as a true and complete copy of the Option Plan. The terms of all outstanding Options are identical to the terms provided by 
the Company to the Offeror. The Option Plan is the only plan, agreement or arrangement which provides for the issuance of options to acquire 
Shares.  
   

(c) All outstanding Company Shares and the Company Shares to be issued on the exercise of Options have been duly authorized. The 
outstanding Company Shares are, and the Company Shares to be issued on the exercise of Options will be when issued, validly issued and 
outstanding as fully paid and non-assessable shares, free of pre-emptive rights.  
   

(d) There are no outstanding bonds, debentures or other evidences of indebtedness of the Company or any Company Subsidiary having the 
right to vote (or that are convertible for or exercisable into securities having the right to vote) with the holders of the Company Shares on any 
matter. There are no outstanding obligations of the  
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Company or any Company Subsidiary to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding Company Shares or with respect to the voting 
or disposition of any outstanding securities of the Company or any Company Subsidiary. No holder of securities issued by the Company or any 
Company Subsidiary has any right to compel the Company to register or otherwise qualify securities for public sale in Canada, the United States 
or elsewhere.  
   

   
3.   Authority and No Violation 

(a) The Company has the necessary corporate power, authority and capacity to enter into this Agreement and to perform its obligations 
hereunder. The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the Offer have been duly 
authorized by the Board of Directors and no other corporate proceedings on its part are necessary to authorize this Agreement or the Offer, other 
than with respect to the Directors’ Circular and other matters relating solely thereto. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by 
the Company and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to 
bankruptcy, insolvency and other applicable Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally, and to general principles of equity.  
   

(b) Except as set out on the Disclosure Letter, the authorization of this Agreement, the execution and delivery by the Company of this 
Agreement and the performance by it of its obligations under this Agreement and the consummation of the Offer, any Compulsory Acquisition 
and any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction will not:  
   

   

  
(i)   result (with or without notice or the passage of time) in a material violation or breach of or constitute a material default under, require 

an Authorization to be obtained under or give rise to any third party right of termination, amendment, cancellation, acceleration, 
penalty or payment obligation or right of purchase or sale or pre-emptive or participation right under, any provision of: 

   

  
(A)   its or any Company Subsidiary’s articles, by-laws or other charter documents, the agreements among the shareholders of any 

Company Subsidiary or the agreements covering any of the Company’s material joint ventures; 

   
  (B)   any applicable Laws; 

   

  
(C)   any material note, bond, mortgage, indenture, instrument, contract, agreement, lease, Authorization or government grant to 

which the Company or any Company Subsidiary is party or by which it is bound; or 

   
  (D)   any judgment, decree, order or award of any Regulatory Authority or arbitrator; 

   

  

(ii)   give rise to any right of termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of indebtedness of the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary, or cause any such indebtedness to come due before its stated maturity, or cause any available credit of the Company or 
any Company Subsidiary to cease to be available, or cause any security interest in any assets of the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary to become enforceable or realizable; 

   

  
(iii)    give rise to any rights of first refusal or trigger any change in control provisions or any restriction or limitation under any material 

note, bond, mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement, Authorization or government grant; or 

   
(c) No consent, approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, any Regulatory Authority (other than 

pursuant to applicable securities Laws) is required to be obtained or made by the Company (i) in connection with the consummation of any 
transaction contemplated by the Offer and this Agreement or (ii) for the consummation of the Offer and any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction 
not to cause or result in any  
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  (iv)   result in the imposition of any material Encumbrance upon any assets of the Company or any Company Subsidiary. 



loss of rights or assets or any interest therein held by the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries, in each case other than those which are 
expressly contemplated by the Offer and this Agreement.  
   

   
4.   Public Filings 

(a) The Company has filed all documents or information required to be filed by it under Applicable Securities Laws or with the TSX since 
September 30, 2008. All of the Company Public Documents, as of their respective dates, did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact 
or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which 
they were made, not misleading as at the time at which they were filed with applicable securities regulatory authorities other than any such 
statements which have been subsequently corrected or appropriately modified in a subsequent filing. All of the Company Public Documents as 
of their respective dates (and as of the dates of any amendments thereto), complied as to both form and content in all material respects with the 
requirements of Applicable Securities Laws or were amended on a timely basis to correct deficiencies identified by securities commissions or 
similar securities regulatory authorities. All of the Company Public Documents are publicly available on SEDAR. The Company has not filed 
any confidential material change report with any securities regulatory authority that at the date hereof remains confidential. There is no material 
fact concerning the Company which has not been disclosed in the Company Public Documents filed (and available on SEDAR) on or before the 
date hereof other than in respect of the Offer and this Agreement.  
   

   
5.   Financial Statements 

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company (including any related notes thereto) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2008 and the interim consolidated financial statements of the Company (including any related notes thereto) for the period ended June 30, 2009 
have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and all applicable Laws and present fairly, in all material respects, the assets, liabilities 
(whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise), financial position and results of operations of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries 
on a consolidated basis as at September 30, 2008 and June 30, 2009, as applicable, and for the periods covered thereby applied on a basis 
consistent with the immediately prior period and throughout the periods indicated (except as may be indicated expressly in the notes thereto) 
and, in the case of unaudited statements, subject to normal, year-end adjustments that are not material. Such financial statements reflect 
appropriate and adequate reserves in accordance with Canadian GAAP in respect of contingent liabilities, if any, of the Company and the 
Company Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. There has been no material change in the Company’s accounting policies, except as described in 
the notes to the Company’s financial statements, since September 30, 2008.  
   

   
6.   Financial Information 

(a) The preliminary budget supplied by the Company to the Offeror in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement 
was prepared in good faith by management of the Company and has not been reviewed or approved by the Board. The Company’s management 
believes that although the Company’s revenue and earnings fluctuate materially on a quarterly basis, the forecast for overall annual revenues and 
result of operations for fiscal 2010 are reasonable and attainable subject to overall economic and market conditions.  
   

(b) The Disclosure Letter sets forth each of the following as of November 30, 2009, in each case on a consolidated basis and in accordance 
with Canadian GAAP, consistently applied: (i) the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, (ii) trade receivables and other receivables (without 
allowance for doubtful accounts), and (iii) the fair value of the Company’s forward currency exchange contracts.  
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7.   Liabilities and Indebtedness 

Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries has any liabilities or obligations of any nature, whether or not accrued, 
contingent or otherwise, material to the Company on a consolidated basis, except for: (a) liabilities and obligations that are specifically disclosed 
on the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of June 30, 2009 or in the notes thereto; or (b) liabilities and obligations incurred 
in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since June 30, 2009.  
   

   
8.   Books and Records 

(a) The financial books, records and accounts of the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries, in all material respects:  
   

   

  
(i)   have been maintained in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the country of domicile of each such entity on a 

basis consistent with prior years; 

   

  
(ii)   are stated in reasonable detail and accurately and fairly reflect the material transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company 

and the Company Subsidiaries; and 

   
(b) The corporate minute books of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries have been maintained in all material respects in accordance 

with applicable Laws and are complete and accurate in all material respects. The Company’s and the Company Subsidiaries’ corporate minute 
books contain minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the directors and securityholders held.  
   

   

  (iii)    accurately and fairly reflect the basis for the Company financial statements. 

9.   Non-Competition Agreements 

Except as set out in the Disclosure Letter, there is no agreement, judgment, injunction, order or decree binding upon the Company or any 
Company Subsidiary that has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of prohibiting, restricting or materially impairing any business 
practice of the Company or any Company Subsidiary, any acquisition of property by the Company or any Company Subsidiary or the conduct of 
business by the Company or any Company Subsidiary as currently conducted (including following the transaction contemplated by this 
Agreement).  
   

   
10.   Absence of Certain Changes or Events 

Since September 30, 2008, except as disclosed in the Company Public Documents filed (and available on SEDAR) on or before the date 
hereof, and other than for the purposes of the transactions contemplated in the Offer and this Agreement:  
   

   

  
(a)   the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries has conducted its business only in the ordinary course of business consistent 

with past practice; 

   

  
(b)   there has not occurred one or more changes, events or occurrences which would, individually or in the aggregate, be reasonably 

likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect in respect of the Company; 

   

  
(c)   neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has incurred any liabilities or obligations of any nature (whether accrued, 

absolute, contingent or otherwise) which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material 
Adverse Effect in respect of the Company; 

   

  

(d)   other than as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, there has not been any incurrence, assumption or guarantee by the Company or any 
Company Subsidiary of any debt for borrowed money, any creation or assumption by the Company or any Company Subsidiary of 
any Encumbrance, or any making by the Company or any Company Subsidiary of any loan, advance or capital contribution to or 
investment in any other person; 
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  (e)   the Company has not effected any change in its accounting methods, principles or practices; 



   

  
(f)   except for ordinary course adjustments, there has not been any material increase in the salary, bonus, or other remuneration payable 

to any employees of any of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries (including officers and senior executives); 

   

  
(g)   there has not been any redemption, repurchase or other acquisition of Company Shares by the Company, or any declaration, setting 

aside or payment of any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, shares or property) with respect to the Company Shares; 

   

  
(h)   there has not been a material change in the level of accounts receivable or payable, inventories or employees, other than those 

changes in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practices or experience; 

   

  
(i)   other than as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, there has not been any entering into, or an amendment of, any Material Contract 

other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice; and 

   

   

  
(j)   there has not been any satisfaction or settlement or any claims or liabilities that were not reflected in the Company’s audited financial 

statements, other than the settlement of liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business with Affiliates consistent with past 
practice. 

11.   No Default 

Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries, nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any other party thereto, is in default 
under, and there exists no event, condition or occurrence which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute such a default or would 
trigger a right of termination under: (A) any note, bond, mortgage, indenture or other instrument evidencing any material indebtedness to which 
the Company or any Company Subsidiary is a party; or (B) any other Material Contract, agreement, lease, letter of intent, offer, Authorization or 
government grant or other instrument or obligation.  
   

   
12.   Litigation 

(a) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, there is no claim, action, proceeding or investigation that has been commenced or is 
pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any Company Subsidiary or affecting any of its property or 
assets before any Regulatory Authority which, if determined adversely to the Company or the Company Subsidiary, as the case may be, would, 
individually or in the aggregate:  
   

   

  
(i)   reasonably be expected to result in liability to the Company or any Company Subsidiary in excess of $50,000 nor to the Company’s 

knowledge is there any existing ground on which any such claim, action, proceeding or investigation might be commenced with any 
reasonable likelihood of success; or 

   
(b) Except as disclosed in the Company Public Documents filed (and available on SEDAR) on or before the date hereof, neither the 

Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries, nor any of their respective assets and properties, is subject to any outstanding judgment, order, 
writ, injunction or decree which would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or to prevent or materially 
delay the consummation of the Offer, a Compulsory Acquisition or a Subsequent Acquisition Transaction.  
   

   

  
(ii)   reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Offer, a Compulsory Acquisition or a Subsequent 

Acquisition Transaction or to have a Material Adverse Effect on the Offeror if the Offer, any Compulsory Acquisition or any 
Subsequent Acquisition is consummated. 

13.   Compliance with Laws 

The Company and the Company Subsidiaries have complied with and are not in violation of any applicable Laws, other than non-
compliance or violations which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be  
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expected to have a Material Adverse Effect with respect to the Company, or which would not materially impair the ability of the Company to 
perform its obligations hereunder or reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Offer, any Compulsory 
Acquisition or any Subsequent Acquisition Transaction.  
   

   
14.   Employment Matters 

(a) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter or in the Company Public Documents filed (and available on SEDAR) on or before the date 
hereof, no person is a party to or a participant in any agreement, arrangement, plan, obligation or understanding providing for severance or 
termination or other payments in connection with the termination of the employment or engagement of, or resignation of, any director, officer or 
employee of, or independent contractor to, the Company or any Company Subsidiary following a change of control of the Company and there 
are no written or oral agreements, arrangements, plans, obligations or understandings providing for severance or termination or other payments 
in connection with the termination of the employment or engagement of, or resignation of, any director, officer or employee of, or independent 
contractor to, the Company or any Company Subsidiary following a change of control of the Company.  
   

(b) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter or in the Company Public Documents filed on or before the date hereof, neither the 
Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to any employment, engagement or similar agreement with any director or officer of the 
Company or any Company Subsidiary.  
   

(c) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the Company has not declared or paid, or committed to declare or pay, any amount to any 
person in respect of a performance or incentive or other bonus in respect of all or any part of its fiscal year ended on September 30, 2009 or in 
connection with the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Offer and this Agreement.  
   

(d) Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary is, to the Company’s knowledge, subject to any material claim for wrongful 
dismissal, constructive dismissal or any other claim, actual or threatened, or any litigation, actual or threatened, relating to its employees or 
independent contractors (including any termination of such persons).  
   

(e) Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary is a party to any collective bargaining agreement or subject to any application for 
certification or threatened or apparent union-organizing campaign and there are no current, pending or threatened strikes, lockouts or other 
labour disputes or disruptions at the Company or any Company Subsidiary.  
   

(f) The Company and the Company Subsidiaries have operated in accordance with all applicable Laws in all material respects with respect 
to employment and labour, including employment and labour standards, occupational health and safety, employment equity, pay equity, 
workers’ compensation, human rights, labour relations and privacy, except where the failure to so operate would not have a Material Adverse 
Effect in respect of the Company.  
   

(g) There are no current, or to the knowledge of the Company, pending or threatened proceedings before any board or tribunal with respect 
to any of the areas listed in paragraph (f) above.  
   

(h) Neither the Company nor any Company Subsidiary has any Pension Plan,  
   

(i) The Disclosure Letter discloses all current Company Benefit Plans.  
   

(j) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, Company and the Company Subsidiaries have no liability for life, health, medical or other 
welfare benefits to former employees or beneficiaries or dependents thereof, and there has been no communication to employees by the 
Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries which could reasonably be interpreted to promise or guarantee such employees retiree health or 
life insurance or other retiree death benefits on a permanent basis.  
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15.   Tax Matters 

(a) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries has duly and in a timely manner filed 
all Tax Returns required to be filed by it and all such returns are correct and complete in all material respects and fully disclose the income and 
expenses as required or permitted by applicable Law. The Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries has paid on a timely basis all Taxes, 
including instalments, which are due and payable, and has paid all assessments and reassessments, and all other taxes, governmental charges, 
penalties, interest and fines due and payable by it on or before the date hereof, other than those which are being contested in good faith and in 
respect of which reserves have been provided in the most recently published financial statements of the Company. Adequate provision has been 
made on the consolidated financial statements of the Company for amounts at least equal to the amount of all Taxes assessed and all Taxes 
owing by any of the Company or any Company Subsidiary that are not yet due and payable and that relate to periods ending on or prior to the 
date of this Agreement, including income taxes and related deferred taxes, in conformity with Canadian GAAP and all other applicable 
accounting rules and principles. Except as disclosed in the Company Public Documents filed (and available on SEDAR) on or before the date 
hereof, to the knowledge of the Company, no deficiencies exist or have been asserted with respect to Taxes of the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary and there are no material actions, suits, proceedings, investigations or claims outstanding, pending or, to the knowledge of the 
Company, threatened against the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries in respect of Taxes or assessments or any matters under 
discussion with any Regulatory Authority relating to Taxes or assessments asserted by any such authority.  
   

(b) The Company and each Company Subsidiary has withheld from each payment made to all of its current and former officers, directors 
and employees, from each payment to all persons not resident in Canada or in the jurisdiction where the payer of the payment is resident and 
from each other payment of any nature made to any person, the amount of all Taxes including, but not limited to, income tax, withholding tax 
and other deductions required to be withheld therefrom and has paid the same to the applicable Regulatory Authority within the time required 
under applicable Law.  
   

(c) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, none of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries has requested, offered to enter 
into or entered into any agreement or other arrangement, or executed any waiver, providing for any extension of time, which remains currently in 
effect, within which (i) to file any Tax Return covering any Taxes for which the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is or may be 
liable, (ii) to file any elections, designations or similar filings relating to Taxes for which the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is or 
may be liable, (iii) the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is required to pay or remit any Taxes or amounts on account of Taxes, or 
(iv) any Regulatory Authority may assess or collect Taxes for which the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries is or may be liable.  
   

(d) There are no Encumbrances for Taxes upon any properties or assets of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries (other than 
Encumbrances relating to Taxes not yet due and payable and for which adequate reserves have been recorded on the most recent consolidated 
balance sheet included in the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements).  
   

(e) Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries has acquired property or services from, or disposed of property or provided 
services to, any Person with whom it does not deal at arm’s length for an amount that is other than the fair market value of such property or 
services.  
   

(f) For all transactions between the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries resident in Canada and any Person who is not resident in 
Canada for purposes of the Tax Act with whom the Company or any such Company Subsidiary was not dealing at arm’s length for purposes of 
the Tax Act, the Company or such Company Subsidiary has made or obtained records or documents that meet the requirements of paragraphs 
247(4)(a) to (c) of the Tax Act.  
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(g) No circumstances exist or could reasonably be expected to arise as a result of matters existing before the date of take-up that may result 
in Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries being subject to the application of section 159 or 160 of the Tax Act or comparable provisions 
of any other legislation or otherwise cause Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries to be liable for Taxes of any other Person.  
   

(h) The balance in the “low rate income pool” (as defined in subsection 89(1) of the Tax Act) of the Company and each Company 
Subsidiary resident in Canada for the purposes of the Tax Act is, and will be as of the date of take-up, nil.  
   

(i) There is no currently outstanding claim made by any Regulatory Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company or any of the Company 
Subsidiaries do not file Tax Returns that the Company or the Company Subsidiaries is or may be subject to Taxes or is required to file Tax 
Returns in that jurisdiction.  
   

(j) None of sections 80 to 80.04 of the Tax Act have applied to any of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries, and there are no 
circumstances existing which could reasonably be expected to result in the application of sections 78 to 80.04 or any equivalent provincial 
provision to any of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries.  
   

   
16.   Insurance 

The Company and each of the Company Subsidiaries maintains or causes to be maintained insurance, naming the Company as an insured, 
of the types and in amounts customary and usual for persons engaged in a business similar to that carried out by the Company and the Company 
Subsidiaries. All premiums payable prior to the date hereof under such policies of insurance have been paid and neither the Company nor any of 
the Company Subsidiaries has failed to make a claim thereunder on a timely basis. Each of such policies and other forms of insurance is in full 
force and effect on the date hereof and shall (or comparable replacement or substitutions therefore shall) be kept in full force and effect by the 
Company through the Effective Date. No written (or to the knowledge of the Company other) notice of cancellation or termination has been 
received by the Company or any Company Subsidiary with respect to any such policy.  
   

   
17.   Material Contracts and Relationships 

(a) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, there is no contract, agreement, license, franchise, lease, arrangement, commitment, 
understanding or other right or obligation (or amendment thereto) to which the Company or a Company Subsidiary is a party or by which any of 
them or their respective properties or assets are bound that (i) if terminated, would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect in 
respect of the Company, (ii) involves payment to or by the Company or a Company Subsidiary of more than $250,000 in the 12 month period 
ended September 30, 2009 or is expected to involve payment to or by the Company or a Company Subsidiary of more than $250,000 during the 
12 month period ending September 30, 2010, (iii) has a term in excess of 24 months and which is not terminable by the Company or a Company 
Subsidiary upon notice of six months or less; (iv) contains a most favoured nations clause in favour of the third party; (v) contains any non-
competition obligations or otherwise prohibits, restricts or impairs in any material way the business or conduct of, or any acquisition of property 
by, the Company or any Company Subsidiary, (vi) other than in the ordinary course of business pursuant to which the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary provides any indemnification to any other person (other than the Company or any Company Subsidiary), (vii) relates to material 
indebtedness or relates to the direct or indirect guarantee or assumption by the Company or a Company Subsidiary (contingent or otherwise) of 
any payment or performance obligations of any other person; (viii) is a financial risk management contract; (ix) is a shareholder agreement, 
unanimous shareholder declaration or voting trust, pooling or transfer agreement; (x) relates to the disposition or acquisition by the Company of 
a material amount of assets or pursuant to which the Company has any material ownership interest; (xi) relates to the acquisition or sale by the 
Company of any operating business or the capital stock or other ownership interest of any other person and under which the Company has any 
material continuing liability or obligation; (xii) the  
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Company has received a license to any third party intellectual property rights that are material to the Company’s business; (xiii) relates to the 
lease, ownership or use of land by the Company; (xiv) has a change of control provision, (xv) is with a Regulatory Authority (other than 
pursuant to which such Regulatory Authority is a customer in the ordinary course of business), or (xvi) provides for the management of any 
Company Subsidiary or governs the relationship between any direct or indirect shareholders of any Company Subsidiary with respect to such 
Company Subsidiary, (the contracts described in items (i) to (xvi) being collectively referred to as the “Material Contracts”). Each Material 
Contract with a change of control provision is identified in the Disclosure Letter. Except as set forth in the Disclosure Letter, to the Company’s 
knowledge all Material Contracts are legal, valid, binding and in full force and effect and are enforceable by the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary in accordance with their respective terms (subject to bankruptcy, insolvency and other applicable Laws affecting creditors’ rights 
generally, and to general principles of equity) and are the product of fair and arm’s length negotiations between the parties thereto. The 
Company and each Company Subsidiary have performed in all material respects all respective obligations required to be performed by them to 
date under the Material Contracts and are not, and are not to the knowledge of the Company alleged to be (with or without the lapse of time or 
the giving of notice, or both), in breach or default in any material respect thereunder. A true and complete copy of each Material Contract has 
been provided by the Company to the Offeror on or before the date hereof.  
   

(b) The Disclosure Letter lists the five largest customers of the Company for the 12 month period ending September 30, 2009 and the 
aggregate amount each customer was invoiced during such period. To the Company’s knowledge, none of such customers is intending to cease, 
materially reduce or in any way adversely modify or change its business relationship with the Company and/or Company Subsidiaries relative to 
the disclosure in the Disclosure Letter.  
   

   
18.   Related Party Transactions 

Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries is indebted to any director, officer, employee or agent of, or independent 
contractor to, the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates or associates (except for amounts due as 
normal salaries and bonuses and in reimbursement of ordinary expenses). Except as disclosed in the Company Public Documents filed (and 
available on SEDAR) or as set forth in the Disclosure Letter, on or before the date hereof, no director, officer, employee or agent of the 
Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates or associates is a party to any loan, contract, arrangement or 
understanding or other transactions with the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries required to be disclosed pursuant to Applicable 
Securities Laws.  
   

   
19.   Intellectual Property 

(a) The Disclosure Letter contains a complete and accurate list of all trade marks, trade names, business names, patents, inventions, know-
how, copyrights, service marks, brand names, industrial designs and all other industrial or intellectual property owned or used by the Company 
in carrying on the Company’s business and all applications therefor (the “Intellectual Property”) and sets out true, accurate and complete 
particulars of all registrations or applications for registration of the Intellectual Property.  
   

(b) The Intellectual Property comprises all trade marks, trade names, business names, patents, inventions, know-how, copyrights, service 
marks, brand names, industrial designs and all other industrial or intellectual property necessary to conduct the Company’s business in all 
material respects in the manner currently conducted by the Company. Except as set out in the Disclosure Letter, the Company is the beneficial 
owner of the Intellectual Property, free and clear of all encumbrances, and is not a party to or bound by any contract or other obligation that 
limits or impairs its ability to sell, transfer, assign or convey, or that otherwise affects, the Intellectual Property. No person has been granted any 
interest in or right to use all or any portion of the Intellectual Property.  
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(c) Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the Company has taken reasonable measures to protect the proprietary nature of each item 
of Intellectual Property owned or licensed by the Company (“Company Intellectual Property”), and to maintain in confidence all trade secrets 
and confidential information comprising a part thereof. The Company has complied with all applicable contractual and legal requirements 
pertaining to information privacy and security. No complaint relating to an improper use or disclosure of, or a breach in the security of, any such 
information has been made or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company. To the knowledge of the Company, there has 
been no: (i) unauthorized disclosure of any third-party proprietary or confidential information in the possession, custody or control of the 
Company or (ii) breach of the Company’s security procedures wherein confidential information has been disclosed to a third person.  
   

(d) To the knowledge of the Company, (i) no product of the Company infringes or violates, or constitutes a misappropriation of, any 
intellectual property rights of any third party and (ii) none of the Company’s activities undertaken in connection with the Company’s business, 
infringes or violates, or constitutes a misappropriation of, any intellectual property rights of any third party. The Company has not received any 
complaints, claims or notices, or threats of any of the foregoing (including any notification that a license under any patent is or may be required), 
alleging any such infringement, violation or misappropriation.  
   

(e) To the knowledge of the Company, no person (including, without limitation, any current or former employee or consultant of 
Company) is infringing, violating or misappropriating any of the Company Intellectual Property. The Company has provided to the Offeror 
copies of all correspondence, analyses, legal opinions, complaints, claims, notices or threats concerning the infringement, violation or 
misappropriation of any Company Owned IP.  
   

(f) The Disclosure Letter identifies each license, covenant or other agreement pursuant to which the Company has assigned, transferred, 
licensed, distributed or otherwise granted any right or access to any person, or covenanted not to assert any right, with respect to any past, 
existing or future Company Intellectual Property. The Company has not agreed to indemnify any person against any infringement, violation or 
misappropriation of any intellectual property rights. The Company is not a member of or party to any patent pool, industry standards body, trade 
association or other organization pursuant to the rules of which it is obligated to license any existing or future intellectual property to any person. 
   

(g) The Disclosure Letter identifies (i) each item of intellectual property licensed to the Company ( “Company Licensed Intellectual 
Property” ) and the license or agreement pursuant to which the Company uses such intellectual property (excluding currently-available, off the 
shelf software programs that are licensed by the Company pursuant to “shrink wrap” licenses, the total fees associated with which are less than 
$2,500) and (ii) each agreement, contract, assignment or other instrument pursuant to which the Company has obtained any joint or sole 
ownership interest in or to each item of Company Owned IP. No third-party inventions, methods, services, materials, processes or software are 
included in or required in connection with the Company’s business. None of the products of the Company includes “shareware,” “freeware” or 
other software or other material that was obtained by the Company from third parties other than pursuant to the license agreements listed in the 
Disclosure Letter.  
   

(h) The Company has not licensed, distributed or disclosed, and knows of no distribution or disclosure by others (including its employees 
and contractors) of, the source code of any software included in the Company’s products ( “Company Source Code” ) to any person, except 
pursuant to the agreements listed in the Disclosure Letter, and the Company has taken all reasonable physical and electronic security measures to 
prevent disclosure of such Company Source Code. No event has occurred, and no circumstance or condition exists, that (with or without notice 
or lapse of time, or both) will, or would reasonably be expected to, nor will the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, result in 
the disclosure or release of such Company Source Code by the Company or any other person to any third party.  
   

(i) The Disclosure Letter lists all material that is distributed as “free software”, “open source software” or under a similar licensing or 
distribution model or any other license described by the Open Source Initiative as set  
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forth on www.opensource.org (“Open Source Materials”) that the Company has utilized in its business and describes the manner in which such 
Open Source Materials have been utilized, including, without limitation, whether and how the Open Source Materials have been modified and/or 
distributed by the Company. Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the Company has not (i) incorporated Open Source Materials into, or 
combined Open Source Materials with any of its products; (ii) distributed Open Source Materials in conjunction with any other software 
developed or distributed by the Company; or (iii) used Open Source Materials that create, or purport to create, obligations for the Company with 
respect to the Company’s products or services or grant, or purport to grant, to any third party, any rights or immunities under Intellectual 
Property rights.  
   

(j) The Company has devised and maintained a system of controls and procedures designed to ensure that any use of Open Source 
Materials in the Company’s products has been approved by a senior officer of the Company and that such usage complies with all applicable 
intellectual property Laws.  
   

(k) Each current and former employee of the Company and each current and former independent contractor of the Company has executed a 
valid and binding written agreement expressly assigning to the Company all right, title and interest in any inventions and works of authorship, 
whether or not patentable, invented, created, developed, conceived and/or reduced to practice during the term of such employee’s employment or 
such independent contractor’s work for the Company, and all intellectual property rights therein, and has waived all moral rights therein to the 
extent legally permissible.  
   

(l) To the knowledge of the Company, the Company’s products are free from significant defects in design, workmanship and materials and 
conform in all material respects to the written documentation and specifications therefor. To the knowledge of the Company, the Company’s 
products do not contain any disabling device, virus, worm, back door, Trojan horse or other disruptive or malicious code that may or are 
intended to impair their intended performance or otherwise permit unauthorized access to, hamper, delete or damage any computer system, 
software, network or data. The Company has not received any warranty claims, contractual terminations or requests for settlement or refund due 
to the failure of the Company’s products to meet their specifications or otherwise to satisfy end user needs or for harm or damage to any third 
party.  
   

(m) The Company has not sought, applied for or received any support, funding, resources or assistance from any state, local or foreign 
governmental or quasi-governmental agency or funding source in connection with the Company’s products or any facilities or equipment used in 
connection therewith other than scientific development and research tax credits granted by provincial and federal taxing authorities.  
   

(n) To the knowledge of the Company, the Company has complied with applicable export or import controls under the laws and 
regulations of the United States and Canada relating to its products and has not exported, re exported, imported or re imported, or transferred 
products without first obtaining all required authorizations or licenses from appropriate Regulatory Authorities.  
   

   
20.   Authorizations 

(a) The Company and each Company Subsidiary possess all Authorizations necessary for the ownership, operation, development, 
maintenance or use of any of the assets of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries or otherwise in connection with the current status of the 
business or operations of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries.  
   

(b) Each Authorization obtained by the Company or any Company Subsidiary is in full force and effect and to the knowledge of the 
Company, not subject to any suspension, dispute, action, investigation or proceeding nor, to the knowledge of the Company, is any such 
proceeding, action or investigation threatened. The Company and the Company Subsidiaries have been and are in compliance with each such 
Authorization, except for such non-compliance as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse 
Effect with respect to the Company, or would not reasonably be expected to materially impair the ability of the Company to perform its 
obligations hereunder or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the Offer, any Compulsory Acquisition or any Subsequent Acquisition 
Transaction.  
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(c) No event has occurred which, with the giving of notice, lapse of time or both, could constitute a default under, or in respect of, any 
Authorization obtained by the Company or any Company Subsidiary. Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, neither the Company nor any 
of the Company Subsidiaries has received any notice, whether written or oral, of revocation, suspension or non-renewal of any such 
Authorization, or of any intention of any person to revoke, suspend or refuse to renew any such Authorization, and to the knowledge of the 
Company, all such Authorizations shall continue to be effective in order for the Company and the Company Subsidiaries to continue to conduct 
their respective businesses as they are currently being conducted.  
   

   
21.   Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

(a) The Company has devised and maintained a system of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required 
to be disclosed by the Company under Applicable Securities Laws is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the Applicable Securities Laws. Such disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures 
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the Company under Applicable Securities Laws is accumulated and 
communicated to the management of the Company, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing 
similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. To the knowledge of the Company, such disclosure 
controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the Company to material 
information required to be disclosed by the Company under Applicable Securities Laws.  
   

(b) To the Company’s knowledge, there is currently no effect, event, occurrence or state of facts that would, or would reasonably be 
expected to prevent the chief executive officer and/or the chief financial officer from properly providing the certifications required under 
Multilateral Instrument 52-109 “Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings” under Form 52-109F1 “Certification of 
Annual Filings” with respect to the Company’s annual filings for its fiscal year ended September 30, 2009, without taking into account any of 
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  
   

(c) Neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to, any joint 
venture, off balance sheet partnership or any similar contract, where the result, purpose or intended effect of such contract is to avoid disclosure 
of any material transaction involving, or material liabilities of, the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries in the Company’s or such 
Company Subsidiary’s published financial statements.  
   

   
22.   Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

(a) The Company maintains internal control over financial reporting. Such internal control over financial reporting is effective in providing 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with Canadian GAAP and includes policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries; (ii) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management 
and directors of the Company and the Company Subsidiaries; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the assets of the Company or the Company Subsidiaries that could have a material effect on its 
financial statements.  
   

(b) To the knowledge of the Company, prior to the date of this Agreement: (A) there are no significant deficiencies in the design or 
operation of, or material weaknesses in, the internal controls over financial reporting of the Company that are reasonably likely to adversely 
affect the ability of the Offeror to record, process, summarize and report financial information, and (B) there is no fraud, whether or not material, 
that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the internal control over financial reporting of the Company.  
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(c) Since September 30, 2008, neither the Company nor any of the Company Subsidiaries nor, to the knowledge of the Company, any 
director, officer, employee, auditor, accountant or representative of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries has received or otherwise 
had or obtained knowledge of any complaint, allegation, assertion, or claim, whether written or oral, regarding the accounting or auditing 
practices, procedures, methodologies or methods of the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries or their respective internal accounting 
controls, including any complaint, allegation, assertion or claim that the Company or any of the Company Subsidiaries has engaged in 
questionable accounting or auditing practices, which has not been resolved to the satisfaction of the audit committee of the Board of Directors.  
   

   
23.   Up-the-Ladder Reporting 

No attorney representing the Company or any Company Subsidiary, whether or not employed by the Company or any Company 
Subsidiary, has reported evidence of a violation of any Applicable Securities Laws, breach of fiduciary duty or similar violation by the Company 
or any Company Subsidiary or their respective officers, directors, employees, agents or independent contractors to the Company’s chief 
executive officer, chief financial officer, audit committee (or other committee designated for the purpose) of the Board of Directors or the Board 
of Directors.  
   

   
24.   Stock Exchange Listings and Compliance 

The Shares are listed on the TSX and on no other market or exchange. The Company is in compliance in all material respects with the 
applicable listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of the TSX.  
   

   
25.   Canadian Securities Laws 

As at the date hereof, the Company is a reporting issuer not in default under the securities laws of all the provinces of Canada.  
   

   
26.   Full Disclosure 

All information provided to the Offeror and its advisors in relation to its and their due diligence requests was accurate in all material 
respects as at its respective date as stated therein or, if any such information is undated, the date it was delivered to the Offeror or its advisors in 
another manner, and no material facts have been omitted from such information which would make such information misleading, except to the 
extent, in each such case, subsequent information has been provided to the Offeror prior to the date of this Agreement, which has corrected any 
inaccuracy contained in the original information.  
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Exhibit 21.1 
   

ACTUATE CORPORATION SUBSIDIARIES  
as of December 31, 2009  

   
Subsidiary Name    Jurisdiction of Incorporation 

Actuate Asia Pacific Pty. Ltd.  
Actuate Canada International Corporation  
Actuate Cayman Limited  
Actuate Pte. Limited  
Actuate Software GmbH  
Actuate International Sarl  
Actuate International Corporation  
Actuate Japan Co., Ltd.  
Actuate Limited  
Actuate Software (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.  
Actuate UK Ltd.  
Nimble Technology, Inc.  
Tidestone Technologies, Inc.     

Australia  
Canada  
Cayman Islands  
Singapore  
Germany  
Switzerland  
State of Delaware, United States of America  
Japan  
Hong Kong  
Peoples Republic of China  
United Kingdom  
State of Delaware, United States of America  
State of Kansas, United States of America  



Exhibit 23.1 
   

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  
   
The Board of Directors  
Actuate Corporation:  
   

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-164702, 333-159904, 333-151004, 333-143235, 333-
134140, 333-124546, 333-113545, 333-104101, 333-84582, 333-62600, 333-56906, 333-33720, 333-73015, and 333-59959) on Form S-8 and in 
the registration statements (Nos. 333-67220 and 333-34410) on Form S-3 of Actuate Corporation of our report dated March 10, 2010, with 
respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Actuate Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period 
ended December 31, 2009, and the related financial statement schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2009, which report appears in the December 31, 2009 annual report on Form 10-K of Actuate Corporation.  
   

/s/ KPMG LLP  
   
Mountain View, California  
March 10, 2010  



Exhibit 31.1 
   

CERTIFICATION  
   
I, Peter I. Cittadini, certify that:  
   

   
1.   I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Actuate Corporation (the “ registrant” ); 

   

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

   

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operation and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

   

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

   

  
a.   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

   

  
b.   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

   

  
c.   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

   

  
d.   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal year (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

   

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
function): 

   

  
a.   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

   

  
b.   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: March 10, 2010  

/s/    Peter I. Cittadini  
Peter I. Cittadini  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  



Exhibit 31.2 
   

CERTIFICATION  
   
I, Daniel A. Gaudreau, certify that:  
   

   
1.   I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Actuate Corporation (the “ registrant” ); 

   

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

   

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operation and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

   

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

   

  
a.   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us 
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

   

  
b.   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 

our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; and 

   

  
c.   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 

the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

   

  
d.   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 

most recent fiscal year (the registrant’s fourth quarter in the case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

   

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
function): 

   

  
a.   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

   

  
b.   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal control over financial reporting. 

Dated: March 10, 2010  

/s/    Daniel A. Gaudreau  
Daniel A. Gaudreau 
Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial 
Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 



EXHIBIT 32.1 
   

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS  
   

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Actuate Corporation (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2009 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge on the date hereof, the Report fully complies with the requirements of 
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material 
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  
   
Dated March 10, 2010  

/s/    P ETER I. C ITTADINI  
Peter I. Cittadini 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

/s/    D ANIEL A. G AUDREAU  
Daniel A. Gaudreau  
Senior Vice President, Operations and Chief Financial 
Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 


